
Board of Supervisors AGENDA                                                                                                       1                                                                                                              June 28, 2022 

           

County of Inyo 
Board of Supervisors 

Board of Supervisors Room - County Administrative Center 
224 North Edwards 

Independence, California 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Public Notices: (1) In Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting please contact the Clerk of the Board at 
(760) 878-0373.  (28 CFR 35.102-35.104 ADA Title II). Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting will enable the County to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility 
to this meeting. Should you because of a disability require appropriate alternative formatting of this agenda, please notify the Clerk of the Board 72 hours prior to the meeting to 
enable the County to make the agenda available in a reasonable alternative format. (Government Code Section 54954.2).  (2) If a writing, that is a public record relating to an 
agenda item for an open session of a regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors, is distributed less than 72 hours prior to the meeting, the writing shall be available for public 
inspection at the Office of the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, 224 N. Edwards, Independence, California and is available per Government Code § 54957.5(b)(1).               

Note: Historically the Board does break for lunch; the timing of a lunch break is made at the discretion of the Chairperson and at the Board’s convenience. 

 

June 28, 2022 - 10:00 A.M. 

  
  

1. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
  

 

  2. PUBLIC COMMENT (Comments may be time-limited) 
  

 

  3. COUNTY DEPARTMENT REPORTS 
  

 

CONSENT AGENDA (Items that are considered routine and are approved in a single motion; approval 
recommended by the County Administrator) 

  
  

4. County Administrator - Library - Request Board authorize payment of Inyo County 
Free Library's portion of the Inland Library System pension liability in an amount not 
to exceed $17,500. 

  
  

5. Health & Human Services - Request Board ratify and approve Amended Grant 
Agreement Number 17-10320 A03 between the County of Inyo and the California 
Department of Public Health, increasing the grant by $1,143,226.00 to an amount not 
to exceed $1,377,124 for the period July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022, and authorize the 
Assistant HHS Director to sign. 

  
 
  

 

 

 

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC:  This meeting is accessible to the public both in person and via Zoom webinar. 
Individual Board members may participate remotely in accordance with applicable open meeting law 
requirements. In-person meetings will be conducted in accordance with local and State Department of Public 
Health orders and guidance and requirements of the California Division of Occupational Safety and Health 
(CalOSHA).  

The Zoom webinar is accessible to the public at https://zoom.us/j/868254781. The meeting may also be 
accessed by telephone at the following numbers: (669) 900-6833; (346) 248-7799; (253) 215-8782; (929) 
205-6099; (301) 715-8592; (312) 626-6799. Webinar ID: 868 254 781. 

Anyone unable to attend the Board meeting in person who wishes to make either a general public comment or 
a comment on a specific agenda item prior to the meeting, or as the item is being heard, may do so either in 
writing or by utilizing the Zoom "hand-raising” feature when appropriate during the meeting (the Chair will call 
on those who wish to speak). Generally, speakers are limited to three minutes. Written public comment, 
limited to 250 words or less, may be emailed to the Assistant Clerk of the Board at 
boardclerk@inyocounty.us. Your comments may or may not be read aloud, but all comments will be made a 
part of the record. Please make sure to submit a separate email for each item that you wish to comment upon. 

 

https://zoom.us/j/868254781
mailto:boardclerk@inyocounty.us


Board of Supervisors AGENDA                                                                                                       2                                                                                                              June 28, 2022 

 
6. Health & Human Services - Behavioral Health - Request Board approve the 

contract between the County of Inyo and Anne Sippi Clinic Treatment Group of 
Bakersfield, CA for the provision of residential placement for adults conserved under 
the Lanterman Petris Short Act, in an amount not to exceed $81,000 for the period of 
July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023, contingent upon the Board’s approval the Fiscal 
Year 2022-2023 Budget, and authorize the Chairperson to sign the contract and 
HIPAA Business Associate Agreement, contingent upon all appropriate signatures 
being obtained. 

  
  

7. Health & Human Services - Behavioral Health - Request Board approve the 
agreement between the County of Inyo and Bakersfield Behavioral Healthcare 
Hospital, LLC of Bakersfield, California for the provision of psychiatric inpatient 
services in an amount not to exceed $50,000 for the period of July 1, 2022 through 
June 30, 2023, contingent upon the Board’s approval of the Fiscal Year 2022-2023 
Budget, and authorize the Chairperson to sign, contingent upon all appropriate 
signatures being obtained. 

  
  

8. Health & Human Services - Behavioral Health - Request Board: A) declare The 
SmithWaters Group of Sacramento, CA a sole-source provider of Mental Health 
Patients' Rights Advocacy; B) approve the agreement between the County of Inyo 
and The SmithWaters Group for the provision of Mental Health Patients' Rights 
Advocacy in an amount not to exceed $21,600 for the period of July 1, 2022 through 
June 30, 2023, contingent upon the Board’s approval of the Fiscal Year 2022-2023 
Budget; and C) authorize the Chairperson to sign the contract and HIPAA Business 
Agreement, contingent upon all appropriate signatures being obtained. 

  
  

9. Health & Human Services - Behavioral Health - Request Board: A) declare 
I.D.E.A. Consulting of Davis, CA a sole-source provider of consulting services; B) 
approve the contract between the County of Inyo and I.D.E.A. Consulting for the 
provision of consulting services, in an amount not to exceed $15,000 for the period of 
July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023, contingent upon the Board’s approval of the 
Fiscal Year 2022-2023 Budget; and C) authorize the Chairperson to sign the contract 
and HIPAA Business Associate Agreement, contingent upon all appropriate 
signatures being obtained. 

  
  

10. Probation - Request Board approve Amendment No. 4 to the Agreement between 
the County of Inyo and the County of Tuolumne to extend the Agreement from July 1, 
2022 to June 30, 2023 with the daily rate per youth placed at the Mother Lode 
Regional Juvenile Detention Facility at $175.00 per day with a guarantee of one (1) 
bed at the Tuolumne Juvenile Hall and $210.00 per day for every subsequent bed 
used by Inyo County, contingent upon the Board's approval of the Fiscal Year 2022-
2023 Budget, and authorize the Chairperson and Chief Probation Officer to sign. 

  
  

11. Public Works - Request Board: 
A) Declare Flight Tech, Inc. of Englewood, CO a sole-source provider of flight 

procedure design services; 
B) Approve the Master Service Agreement between the County of Inyo and 

Flight Tech, Inc. of Englewood, CO for the provision of flight procedure design 
services for the period beginning June 30, 2022 and ending when terminated 
as defined in Article 8, contingent upon the Board’s approval of future 
budgets, and authorize the Chairperson to sign, contingent upon all 
appropriate signatures being obtained; and 

C) Approve the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with Mammoth Lakes 
Tourism and authorize the Chairperson to sign. 

  

  
 



Board of Supervisors AGENDA                                                                                                       3                                                                                                              June 28, 2022 

 
12. Veterans Service Office - Request Board authorize the Chairperson to sign the 

California Department of Veterans Affairs Annual Medi-Cal Cost Avoidance Program 
Certificate of Compliance for Fiscal Year 2022-2023 and the California Department of 
Veterans Affairs Annual Subvention Certificate of Compliance for Fiscal Year 2022-
2023. 

  
 

DEPARTMENTAL (To be considered at the Board's convenience) 
  

  
13. County Administrator - Advertising County Resources - Request Board receive 

Inyo County Film Commissioner Chris Langley's annual written report on local filming 
activity. 

  
  

14. Board of Supervisors - Request Board approve and authorize the Chairperson to 
sign a letter supporting Mammoth Lakes Trails and Public Access Foundation's grant 
application for funding to support the Eastern Sierra Sustainable Recreation 
Partnership. 

  
  

15. Water Department - Request Board adopt the 2022-2023 Fiscal Year Lower Owens 
River Project Annual Work Plan, implementation of which is contingent on approval 
by the Los Angeles Board of Water and Power Commissioners. 

  
  

16. Clerk of the Board - Request Board approve the minutes of the regular Board of 
Supervisors meetings of June 7, June 14, and June 21, 2022. 

  
 

TIMED ITEMS (Items will not be considered before scheduled time but may be considered any time after 
the scheduled time.) 

  
 

10:15 A.M. 17. Clerk of the Board - Request Board: A) hold public hearing regarding proposed 
resolution titled, “Resolution of the Inyo County Board of Supervisors, in its role as 
the local Board of Equalization, Approving Assessment Appeals Local Rules," and B) 
approve the resolution and authorize the Chairperson to sign. 

  
 

10:20 A.M. 18. Board of Supervisors - Supervisor Griffiths - Request Board receive a 
presentation from Doug McAllister, Vice President of External Affairs for Frontier 
Communications, on the company's infrastructure upgrade project in the Bishop area. 

  
 

COMMENT (Portion of the Agenda when the Board takes comment from the public and County staff) 
  

 

  19. PUBLIC COMMENT (Comments may be time-limited) 
  

 

BOARD MEMBERS AND STAFF REPORTS  
  

 

 



County of Inyo

County Administrator - Library
 

CONSENT - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  June 28, 2022
 
FROM:  Nancy Masters
 
SUBJECT:  Approval of Payment of Inland Library System Pension Obligation
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board authorize payment of Inyo County Free Library's portion of the Inland Library System pension 
liability in an amount not to exceed $17,500.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
Inyo County Free Library has been a member of Inland Library System (ILS), a cooperative system of libraries in 
Southern California, since before 1974.  Inland Library System members receive the benefit of California Library 
Services Act funds that provide services such as subscriptions to e-materials and resource sharing. Through the 
many years of membership, Inyo County Free Library has received extensive benefits. There are currently 19 
libraries that are ILS members.  

In 1977, the eleven member libraries, including Inyo, entered into a joint powers agreement that enabled ILS to 
conduct its own affairs. In 1978, ILS requested that its employees be included in the San Bernardino County 
retirement system, now known as SBCERA. During those years, nine ILS employees were part of SBCERA. With 
the retirement of the last employee in 2019, SBCERA informed ILS in 2020 that a pension obligation of 
$2,506,253.03 was due. After seeking legal advice and much discussion, ILS agreed to pay the pension 
obligation, which is allocated proportionally according to population and year of membership. Inyo County Free 
Library’s obligation is now $17,007.93. The request is to approve up to $17,500.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
It is recommended that your Board approve the payment of the Inland Library System pension obligation. If Inyo 
County Free Library does not pay its share of the cost, Inland Library System will likely be subject to litigation. 
This would involve each library that is a member of Inland Library System.
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
Auditor-Controller, County Counsel, Senior Budget Analyst
 
FINANCING:



Agenda Request 
Page 2

Funds have been identified as a result of salary and other savings in the Library's Fiscal Year 2021-2022 budget. 
There are sufficient funds in the Library Budget 066700, in Other Agency Contribution (5539) to cover this 
expense.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. San Bernardino County Employees' Retirement Association letter
2. Inyo Board of Supervisors Resolution No. 1977-63 
3. Inland Library System Joint Powers Agreement - 1977
4. Inland Library System Retirement Resolution - 1978
5. San Bernardino County Employees' Retirement Association Resolution No. 2021-3
 
APPROVALS:
Nancy Masters Created/Initiated - 6/22/2022
Darcy Ellis Approved - 6/23/2022
Leslie Chapman Approved - 6/23/2022
John Vallejo Approved - 6/23/2022
Amy Shepherd Final Approval - 6/23/2022













































County of Inyo

Health & Human Services
 

CONSENT - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  June 28, 2022
 
FROM:  Melissa Best-Baker
 
SUBJECT:  Immunization Local Assistance Federal Grant Agreement between County of Inyo and the California 
Department of Public Health 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board ratify and approve Amended Grant Agreement Number 17-10320 A03 between the County of 
Inyo and the California Department of Public Health, increasing the grant by $1,143,226.00 to an amount not to 
exceed $1,377,124 for the period July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022, and authorize the Assistant HHS Director to 
sign.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
This item is coming before your Board late due to administrative challenges faced by the Public Health and 
Prevention Division during COVID-19 surges and staff vacancies during FY 21-22. This grant amendment 
increases the immunization grant amount by $1,143,266.00 to support the division in procuring supplies, 
personnel, and/or services in order to support COVID-19 response. The Department intends to use this funding 
primarily to purchase updated vaccine storage equipment and back-up power supply to ensure vaccine viability.

Amendment No. 3 to the original Immunization contract states that funding will be available for the fiscal year 
beginning July 1, 2021 and ending June 30, 2022. However, the division has received confirmation that the 
funding amount will be rolled over to the next fiscal year, and an additional amendment will be brought before 
your Board when it becomes available. Therefore, the Department is requesting that your Board approve 
Amendment Number 3 despite the identified end date of June 30, 2022. 
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
N/A
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
You can choose not to authorize Health and Human Services to sign the agreement which would mean that HHS 
would not be able to invoice CDPH for immunization funding pursuant to the grant.
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
Community Healthcare Providers, Schools and Pharmacies
 



Agenda Request 
Page 2

FINANCING:
Funding for this grant is recognized as revenue in the Health budget (045100) in State Grants (4498).
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Amended Local Assistance Grant
2. Local Assistance Grant
3. Scope of Work
 
APPROVALS:
Melissa Best-Baker Created/Initiated - 5/18/2022
Darcy Ellis Approved - 5/19/2022
Anna Scott Approved - 6/16/2022
Genoa Meneses Approved - 6/16/2022
Melissa Best-Baker Approved - 6/16/2022
John Vallejo Approved - 6/16/2022
Amy Shepherd Approved - 6/16/2022
Anna Scott Final Approval - 6/16/2022



State of California – Health and Human Services Agency – California Department of Public Health 
CDPH 1229A (Rev. 09/2019) 

 

1 
 

 
CALIFORNIA IMMUNIZATION PROGRAM  

 
Awarded By 

 

THE CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH, hereinafter “Department” 

TO 

Inyo County Health and Human Services, hereinafter “Grantee” 

Implementing the project, “To assist local health departments (LHDs) in preventing and 
controlling vaccine-preventable diseases (VPDs) in the local health jurisdiction (LHJ),” 

hereinafter “Project” 

 

AMENDED GRANT AGREEMENT NUMBER 17-10320, A03 
 
The Department amends this Grant and the Grantee accepts and agrees to use the Grant funds as 
follows: 
 
AUTHORITY:  The Department has authority to grant funds for the Project under Health and Safety 
Code, Section 120325-120380, which requires immunizations against childhood diseases prior to 
school admittance and Federal Grant numbers 6 NH23IP922612-02-02, 6 NH23IP922612-02-03, and  
6 NH23IP922612-02-04. 
 
PURPOSE FOR AMENDMENT: The purpose of the Grant amendment is to increase funding in the 
amount of $1,143,226 for FY2021-22 to allow the Grantee to continue performing the same services 
identified in Exhibit A, Grant Application, and provide more of the same Coronavirus Disease 2019 
services in response to the CARES ACT. 

Amendments are shown as:  Text additions are displayed in bold and underline.  Text deletions are 
displayed as strike through text (i.e., Strike).   
 
AMENDED GRANT AMOUNT: this amendment is to increase the grant by $1,143,226 and is 
amended to read: $1,377,124 (One Million Three Hundred Seventy-Seven Thousand One 
Hundred Twenty-Four Dollars) $233,898 (Two Hundred Thirty-Three Thousand Eight Hundred 
Ninety-Eight). 
 
Exhibit B – Budget Detail and Payment Provisions, paragraph 4.A. is hereby replaced as shown below. 
 
4. Amounts Payable  
 

A. The amounts payable under this Grant shall not exceed $233,898 $1,377,124.  
 



State of California – Health and Human Services Agency – California Department of Public Health 
CDPH 1229A (Rev. 09/2019) 

 

2 
 

 
PROJECT REPRESENTATIVES. The Project Representatives during the term of this Grant will be:   
California Department of Public Health, 
Immunization Branch 

Grantee: Inyo County Health and Human 
Services  

Name: Noemi Marin  Name: Ann Scott, HHS Deputy Director 

Address: 850 Marina Bay Pkwy., Bldg. P, 2nd Fl. Address: P.O. Drawer H 

City, ZIP: Richmond, CA 94804  City, ZIP: Independence, CA  93526  

Phone: (510) 620-3737 Phone: (760) 873-7868 

Fax: (510) 620-3774 Fax: (760) 873-7800 

E-mail: noemi.marin@cdph.ca.gov E-mail: ascott@inyocounty.us    
 
Direct all inquiries to: 
  
California Department of Public Health, 
Immunization Branch 

Grantee: Inyo County Health and Human 
Services 

Attention: Roland Rafol Attention: Ann Scott, HHS Deputy Director 

Address: 850 Marina Bay Pkwy., Bldg. P, 2nd Fl. Address: P.O. Drawer H 

City, Zip: Richmond, CA 94804 City, Zip: Independence, CA  93526 

Phone: (510) 412-6053 Phone: (760) 873-7868 

Fax: (510) 620-3774 Fax: (760) 873-7868 

E-mail: roland.rafol@cdph.ca.gov E-mail: ascott@inyocounty.us 
  
All payments from CDPH to the Grantee; shall be sent to the following address:  
 

Remittance Address 
 

Grantee: County of Inyo 

Attention “Cashier”: Melissa Best-Baker 

Address: P.O. Drawer H 

City, Zip: Independence, CA  93526 

Phone: (760) 878-0232 

Fax: (760) 878-0266 

E-mail: mbestbaker@inyocounty.us 
 



State of California – Health and Human Services Agency – California Department of Public Health 
CDPH 1229A (Rev. 09/2019) 

 

3 
 

 
 
Either party may make changes to the Project Representatives, or remittance address, by giving a 
written notice to the other party.  Said changes shall not require an amendment to the agreement. Note: 
Remittance address changes will require the Grantee to submit a completed CDPH 9083 Governmental 
Entity Taxpayer ID Form or STD 204 Payee Data Record Form which can be requested through the 
CDPH Project Representatives for processing.  
 
All other terms and conditions of this Grant shall remain the same. 
 
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties have executed this Grant on the dates set forth below. 
 
 
Executed By: 
 

 
 

Date:    

   Marilyn Mann, Director 
Inyo County Health and Human Services 
163 May Street 
Bishop, CA  93514 
 

    

Date:    

   Javier Sandoval, Chief 
Contracts Management Unit 
California Department of Public Health 
1616 Capitol Avenue, Suite 74.262, MS 1802 
P.O. Box 997377 
Sacramento, CA 95899-7377 













































CDPH Immunization Branch 
Scope of Work for Local Health Departments FY 2020-22 

 

Page | 1  

Purpose 
The purpose of this grant is to assist local health departments (LHDs) in preventing and controlling 
vaccine-preventable diseases in the local health jurisdiction (LHJ). 
 
Related Statutes 
California Health & Safety Code sections: 

• 120130 requires the Local Health Officer to properly report to CDPH those diseases listed 
as reportable, which include vaccine-preventable diseases. 

• 120175 requires the Local Health Officer to take measures as may be necessary to 
prevent the spread or occurrence of additional cases of reportable diseases (which 
includes reportable vaccine-preventable diseases). 

• 120350 requires Local Health Officers to organize and maintain a program to make 
available the immunizations required for admittance to child care facilities and schools. 

 
Services to be Performed by the Grantee 
The Grantee is to implement activities to: 

• Assess and improve coverage levels in the jurisdiction of all vaccines recommended by 
the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) to protect the population. 

• Detect, report, and control vaccine-preventable diseases in the jurisdiction. 
 
The LHD must agree to the following inclusive objectives and conduct the following activities. Many of 
the services to be performed are also conditions for federal funding of the CDPH Immunization 
Branch (IZB) and/or statutory requirements of State and LHDs. The level of local assistance grant 
funding to be awarded is not represented as sufficient for support of all the required activities; a 
significant amount of local support and funding is expected. Local assistance grant funds must not be 
used to supplant (i.e., replace) local funds currently being expended for immunization services and 
activities. 
 
Grantee agrees to assign the responsibility of monitoring each program component: 
1) Vaccine Accountability and Management; 2) Access to and Utilization of Quality Immunization 
Services; 3) California Immunization Registry (CAIR)3; 4) Perinatal Hepatitis B Prevention; 5) 
Education, Information, Training, and Partnerships; 6) Prevention, Surveillance and Control of 
Vaccine Preventable Disease (VPD); 7) Childcare and School Immunization Entry Requirements; 8) 
Influenza; and 9) COVID-19 Vaccination. 
 
Grantee will monitor grant fund expenditures to maximize the utilization of the funding for achieving 
the goals and objectives. Grant invoices shall be reviewed and submitted quarterly to the CDPH 
Immunization Branch. 
 
The Immunization Coordinator is required to participate in meetings, webinars, and conference calls 
as requested by the CDPH Immunization Branch including, but not limited to, the CDPH Immunization 
Branch’s Immunization Coordinators’ Meeting, New Immunization Coordinator Orientation (offered 
annually and required for all new Immunization Coordinators), regional coordinators’ meetings, and 
conference calls related to influenza, outbreak control, perinatal hepatitis B, changes in policies and 
procedures, and other important issues. 
 



CDPH Immunization Branch 
Scope of Work for Local Health Departments FY 2020-22 

 

Page | 2  

1. Vaccine Accountability and Management 
Goal 1.1 Maintain viability of IZB supplied vaccine to ensure vaccine effectiveness and reduce vaccine 
waste. 
Required Activities Performance Measures 
a. Annually, make sure all relevant staff within LHD-

operated clinics (routine, mass vaccination, or special 
immunization outreach) are properly trained on current 
policies and procedures for proper vaccine storage and 
handling outlined in each participation 
agreement/addendum for the receipt of IZB supplied 
vaccines (317, Vaccines for Children [VFC], state general 
fund). 

1. Updated Vaccine Management 
Plans for each LHD facility. 

2. Completed EZIZ Lessons for Key 
Practice Staff. 

3. Documentation of completed 
trainings. 

b. Develop and implement a training plan for provider 
facilities outside LHDs receiving IZB supplied doses (state 
or 317 Outbreak). Focus the plan on proper vaccine 
management, vaccine storage and handling 
requirements, and administration prior to the distribution 
of IZB-supplied vaccines. 

1. Training plan developed and 
implemented. 

2. Completed 
trainings/Documentation of 
completed trainings. 

3. Completed and signed Vaccine 
Management Plans. 

c. Develop and implement a plan to verify that 317 Outbreak 
and state general fund immunizations administered by 
providers outside the LHDs adhere to policies for vaccine 
management. Conduct Quality Assurance verifications 
(such as random temperature log review, on site 
vaccination clinic assessments, review of vaccine losses, 
etc.) at least every other year, in a sample of sites 
receiving vaccines. 

1. Developed and implemented 
Quality Assurance Plan. 

2. Completion of Mass Vaccination 
Hourly Temperature 
Logs/Electronic Data Files. 

3. Temperature Documentation on 
CDPH provided Logs for all IZB-
supplied vaccines/Electronic 
Temperature Files. 

4. Completed Quality Assurance 
verifications in a minimum 
sample of 10% of sites receiving 
vaccines. 

d. Promote and encourage adoption of CDPH and CDC 
storage and handling guidelines among all healthcare 
providers providing immunization services in the 
community. 

Documentation of storage and 
handling best practices promotion 
efforts. 

 
Goal 1.2 Facilitate compliance with current protocols, policies, and procedures for vaccine 
accountability for LHD facilities and partners that receive IZB-supplied vaccine. 
Required Activities Performance Measures 
a. Make sure all relevant staff involved in vaccine ordering, 

management, and accountability activities within local 
health department-operated clinics adhere to all program 
requirements as outlined in the VFC/317 Provider 
Participation Agreements and Addendums. Complete 
annual VFC/317 program recertification. 

Completed annual program 
recertification and corresponding 
educational lessons for all key 
practice staff. 



CDPH Immunization Branch 
Scope of Work for Local Health Departments FY 2020-22 

 

Page | 3  

b. Promote adherence to eligibility guidelines corresponding 
to VFC, Section 317, and state general fund vaccines. 
Upon release of the Immunization Branch’s Vaccine 
Eligibility Guidelines, IMM-1142, disseminate guidance to 
all relevant staff involved in vaccine ordering, 
management, and accountability activities within local 
health department operated pediatric and adult 
immunization clinics. 

Documentation of provided 
guidance. 

c. Verify that processes are in place such that IZB-supplied 
(317, VFC, state) vaccines are administered to eligible 
individuals following outlined eligibility guidelines for each 
vaccine funding source. 

LHD developed protocols, inclusive 
of eligibility guidelines, for each 
vaccine funding source. 

d. Comply with federal policies regarding vaccine re-
distribution. Publicly funded VFC and 317 vaccines must 
be distributed directly to the location at which the provider 
will administer the vaccines.  

Documentation of procedures. 

 
2. Access to and Utilization of Quality Immunization Services 
Goal 2.1 Improve access to and receipt of all ACIP-recommended immunizations, especially for low 
income and underserved community members. 
Required Activities Performance Measures 
a. Use a current, local jurisdiction-specific referral list to support an 

immunization safety net. This may include referral to other 
programs that connect patients to services. 

Referral list completed and 
updated on an annual basis. 

b. Be responsive to problems Medi-Cal members report related to 
access to immunization services.1 Work with the corresponding 
Medi-Cal Managed Care Plan (MCP) to resolve problems. After 
attempts to work with MCP, if still unable to resolve, collect details 
and escalate to Senior Field Representative or other designated 
Immunization Branch staff person. 

Maintain log of access 
problems resolved at local 
level or reported to CDPH. 

c. For all LHD facilities that are VFC providers, participate in and 
support provider compliance and quality improvement2 visits in 
conjunction with the CDPH Immunization Branch. Assist with the 
implementation of corrective action plans, strategies to reduce 
missed opportunities for vaccination, and linkage/referral to medical 
homes. 

# of clinics with corrective 
actions that were all 
completed within the 
specified time frame. 

 

 
1 Requirements for Medi-Cal immunization services are summarized here: http://izcoordinators.org/vaccine-programs/medi-cal-and-
pharmacy-resources/. 
2 Immunization Quality Improvement for Providers (IQIP), formerly known as AFIX 

http://izcoordinators.org/vaccine-programs/medi-cal-and-pharmacy-resources/
http://izcoordinators.org/vaccine-programs/medi-cal-and-pharmacy-resources/


CDPH Immunization Branch 
Scope of Work for Local Health Departments FY 2020-22 

 

Page | 4  

3. California Immunization Registry (CAIR)3 
Goal 3.1 Promote and optimize4 the use of CAIR in the jurisdiction. 
Required Activities  Performance Measures 
a. Enter all IZB-supplied vaccine doses administered by LHD 

or partners, including influenza doses, into CAIR. 
# LHD clinics participating in CAIR/# 
all LHD clinics. 
% of LHD clinic doses entered into 
the registry within 14 days. 
# state flu doses entered by end of 
flu season/ # state flu doses 
administered. 

b. For LHDs with primary care clinics, use manage patient 
status functionality to remove inactive patients at least 
once a year. 

Inactive patients marked as inactive 
in CAIR. 

c. In LHD primary care clinics, utilize CAIR data to identify 
and improve low or lagging infant or adolescent 
vaccination coverage levels. 

Low infant or adolescent CAIR 
coverage rate identified and 
improved. 

d. Review monthly CAIR usage reports5 to identify priority 
non-participating VFC sites that need to be 
recruited/retained. Communicate priority sites to Local 
CAIR Rep (LCR). 

# of VFC Sites identified for priority 
recruitment /retention contact. 

e. Invite CAIR staff to participate in local provider trainings in 
order to promote CAIR. 

Number of trainings with CAIR 
participation/Number of trainings 
held. 

 
Goal 3.2 Connect local Immunization Information Systems (IIS) so CAIR becomes a statewide system. 
For San Diego and San Joaquin Counties only 
Required Activities  Performance Measures 
a. Implement data sharing with CAIR2, including: 

a. Attend scheduled planning meetings with CAIR2 staff 
b. Comply with agreed upon timelines 
c. Complete data transfer testing, including both 

inbound to CAIR2 and outbound back to local IIS. 
d. Share bulk historical loads of existing patients and 

immunizations to CAIR2 to initiate data sharing 

Full historical data load completed. 

b. Initiate and maintain ongoing electronic data sharing with 
CAIR2 (HL7). 

Ongoing data sharing continues. 

 

 
3 CAIR refers to the statewide system connecting CAIR2 with the San Diego Immunization Registry and Healthy Futures. 
4 If have EHR, move from manual data entry to data exchange (upload from EHR) to bidirectional data exchange, to optimize CAIR use. 
See http://cairweb.org/docs/CAIR2-Communications/IMM-1266 and http://cairweb.org/docs/CAIR2-Communications/IMM-1260. 
5 Monthly CAIR usage reports for VFC providers are posted here: http://izcoordinators.org/cair-reports/. 

http://cairweb.org/docs/CAIR2-Communications/IMM-1266
http://cairweb.org/docs/CAIR2-Communications/IMM-1260
http://izcoordinators.org/cair-reports/


CDPH Immunization Branch 
Scope of Work for Local Health Departments FY 2020-22 

 

Page | 5  

4. Perinatal Hepatitis B Prevention 
Goal 4.1 Reduce the incidence of perinatal hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection in the jurisdiction. 
Required Activities Performance Measures 
Note: Coordinate perinatal HBV prevention efforts with your 
LHD’s Maternal Child and Adolescent Health (MCAH) 
program, as activities 4.1a-4.1c may also help fulfill title V 
requirements and MCAH Scope of Work Activities. 
 
a. Educate medical providers and hospital staff about the 

screening, care, and reporting of pregnant women who 
test positive for hepatitis B and their infants according to 
the guidance outlined below: 
Guidance for Prenatal Providers 
Guidance for Labor and Delivery Hospitals 
Guidance for Pediatric Providers 

1. Number and percentage of 
HBsAg-positive pregnant women 
identified in the reporting period 
who were enrolled prior to 
delivery. 

2. Number and percentage of 
HBsAg-positive pregnant women 
identified in the reporting period 
with an HBV DNA test result 
during pregnancy. 

3. Number and percent of PEP 
errors in the reporting period with 
completed LHJ follow-up. 

b. Educate identified HBsAg-positive pregnant women 
about their HBV status and provide the appropriate 
information on prevention of perinatal hepatitis B 
transmission, based on current ACIP recommendations 
and the guidance outlined below: 
Perinatal Hepatitis B Prevention Program Coordinator 

Handbook 

HBsAg positive pregnant women 
identified. 

c. Collect and submit requested data to CDPH on HBsAg-
positive pregnant women and their infants according to 
the guidance outlined below: 
Perinatal Hepatitis B Prevention Program Coordinator 

Handbook 
 

1. Number and percentage of 
infants born to HBsAg-positive 
mothers in the reporting period 
who received PEP according to 
ACIP recommendations. 

2. Number and percentage of 
infants born to HBsAg-positive 
mothers who completed the HBV 
vaccine series by 12 months of 
age. 

3. Number and percentage of 
infants born to HBsAg-positive 
mothers who have completed 
PVS testing by 24 months of age. 

4. Number and percentage of 
infants closed to case 
management with complete 
information within 24 months. 

 

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/Immunization/PerinatalHepB-OBQuicksheet.pdf
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/Immunization/PerinatalHepB-LaborDeliveryQuicksheet.pdf
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/Immunization/PerinatalHepB-PediatricProviderQuicksheet.pdf
http://eziz.org/assets/docs/VPD/PHPPCOORDINATORHANDBOOK.pdf
http://eziz.org/assets/docs/VPD/PHPPCOORDINATORHANDBOOK.pdf
http://eziz.org/assets/docs/VPD/PHPPCOORDINATORHANDBOOK.pdf
http://eziz.org/assets/docs/VPD/PHPPCOORDINATORHANDBOOK.pdf


CDPH Immunization Branch 
Scope of Work for Local Health Departments FY 2020-22 

 

Page | 6  

5. Education, Information, Training, and Partnerships 
Goal 5.1 Provide and/or promote educational activities and information to health care providers, 
schools and childcare centers, and other immunization stakeholders to promote best practices for 
immunizations and the importance of timely vaccinations. 
Required Activities Performance Measures 
a. Based on local priorities and resources, disseminate 

print and/or electronic communications among 
providers, school, general public and other immunization 
stakeholders in their jurisdiction. 

Summary of efforts conducted to 
distribute materials in print or 
electronically to immunization 
stakeholders. 

 
Note: Depending on funding, CDPH may offer select hard-copy materials to all VFC Providers 
through the Online VFC store. If the VFC store is available, LHDs may choose to not provide the 
select materials to VFC providers in their jurisdiction (refer these providers to the VFC store instead). 
 
CDPH will inform LHDs on centralized communication activities from the Immunization Branch (select 
print materials to VFC providers, electronic communications to VFC providers, electronic 
communications and resources to schools, electronic communications resources to pharmacies, 
electronic communications and resources to community-based organizations/other stakeholders, 
traditional media and social media to reach general public). LHDs may supplement any gaps in 
communication with local efforts. 
 
Goal 5.2 Develop partnerships and collaborative activities in order to expand immunization services, 
promote best practices and improve coverage rates among children, adolescent and adults. 
Required Activities Performance Measures 
a. Engage* with at least 3 types of partners** in conducting 

educational activities or trainings. (See definitions below) 
 

1. Number of partner types 
(provider, school, social 
service/other partners) engaged 
with. 

2. Summary of activities conducted 
with each partner type. 

*Partnership engagement should be based on commitment to perform agreed-upon activities (e.g. 
joint training, mass vaccination clinic, collaboration to include immunization messaging in 
communications or event, promotional efforts). 
 
**LHJ will engage with at least one “provider” partner, one “school” partner and one “social service or 
other” partner: 

• ”Provider partner” may include hospitals, federally qualified health centers (FQHCs), long term 
care facilities, birth facilities, professional associations (local ACOG or WIC chapters), 
pharmacies, health plans and community clinics. 

• ”School partner” may include child care providers, school or school district, County Department 
of Education, college, school nurses association or other school-related organizations. 

• ”Social service and other partners” may include WIC, MCAH, social service agencies, migrant 
health, homeless shelters, drug-treatment centers, jails, faith-based organizations, local 
business or community-based organizations. 

 



CDPH Immunization Branch 
Scope of Work for Local Health Departments FY 2020-22 

 

Page | 7  

6. Prevention, Surveillance and Control of Vaccine Preventable Disease (VPD) 
Goal 6.1 Conduct surveillance to identify VPD cases and/or outbreaks, and implement recommended 
prevention and control activities. 
Required Activities Performance Measures 
a. Ensure that appropriate clinical specimens are 

tested and relevant epidemiologic information is 
collected for VPDs requiring immediate public health 
action. 

1. Percentage of measles specimens 
submitted for molecular 
characterization. 

2. Percentage of Neisseria meningitidis 
specimens/isolates submitted for 
molecular characterization. 

3. Percentage of pertussis cases <4 
months of age with complete maternal 
prenatal provider information. 

b. Implement appropriate public health activities for the 
control and prevention of cases and/or outbreaks of 
VPDs that are reportable to CDPH in accordance 
with CDPH recommendations. (Coordinate with your 
local Maternal, Child and Adolescent Health 
program.) 

Percentage of infant pertussis cases 
where mother was unimmunized during 
the appropriate window during pregnancy 
for which a communication regarding 
prenatal Tdap immunization was made to 
the prenatal care provider.6 

c. Obtain vaccine and assist with the organization and 
implementation of efforts to vaccinate susceptible 
individuals, if appropriate. 

Completed outbreak response request7 
with plan for doses and target population 
(as appropriate). 

 
Goal 6.2 Collect and submit requested data to CDPH on VPD cases and outbreaks. 
Required Activities Performance Measures 
a. Report VPDs and other conditions reportable to 

CDPH Immunization Branch per CDPH instructions 
listed here:  
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/CID/DCDC/ 
CDPH%20Document%20Library/Immunization/ 
ReportingGuidanceforLHJs.pdf 

1. Percentage of measles cases 
reported immediately to CDPH. 

2. Percent of meningococcal disease 
cases in high school and college 
students reported immediately to 
CDPH. 

3. Percentage of case reports submitted 
to CDPH via an electronic 
communicable disease reporting 
system (CalREDIE or other) in the 
recommended timeframe. 

b. Collect and submit CDPH-requested VPD case and 
outbreak data. 

1. Percentage of infant pertussis cases 
<4 months of age for whom maternal 
Tdap status is known. 

2. Percentage of confirmed hepatitis A 
cases for whom hepatitis A risk factors 
are known. 

 
6 Sending a letter re: standard of care is the minimum acceptable communication, with copy to LHD Maternal Child and Adolescent 
Health (MCAH) program. See Template Letter for Prenatal Care Providers with Pregnant Patients that did not Receive Prenatal Tdap 
Appropriately and Infants Developed Pertussis. 
7 The Immunization Branch provides a form for requesting vaccine from CDPH. 

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/Immunization/ReportingGuidanceforLHJs.pdf
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/Immunization/ReportingGuidanceforLHJs.pdf
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/Immunization/ReportingGuidanceforLHJs.pdf
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCLHO/CDPH%20Document%20Library/TemplateLettertoPrenatalCareProviders_11_15-17.docx
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCLHO/CDPH%20Document%20Library/TemplateLettertoPrenatalCareProviders_11_15-17.docx


CDPH Immunization Branch 
Scope of Work for Local Health Departments FY 2020-22 

 

Page | 8  

3. Percentage of meningococcal disease 
cases for whom high school or college 
attendance status is known. 

 
7. Childcare and School Immunization Entry Requirements 
Goal 7.1 Decrease the proportion of pupils who are overdue for required immunizations or admitted 
conditionally. 
Required Activities Performance Measures 
a. Provide guidance, training, and support for 

compliance with entry immunization requirements by 
all childcare centers and schools within the 
jurisdiction. 

Percentage of schools with 
kindergarteners in the jurisdiction that 
have completed the annual immunization 
assessment. 

b. At least annually, visit schools with 10 or more 
kindergarteners that reported > 10% were either 
conditionally admitted or overdue for required 
immunization; provide guidance and support follow-
up until these students are up to date. 

Percentage of schools with 10 or more 
kindergarteners where the proportion of 
students are either conditionally admitted 
or overdue for required immunization is 
greater than 10%. 
Target %: By next school year, less than 
3% of schools have >10% of 
kindergarteners either conditional or 
overdue. 

 
8. Influenza 
Goal 8.1 Strengthen capacity to protect against seasonal influenza and to prepare for a pandemic. 
Required Activities Performance Measures 
a. To assist your LHD emergency preparedness lead 

in fulfilling its emergency preparedness grant 
requirements, utilize IZB-supplied influenza vaccine 
or other 317-funded vaccines to support at least one 
mass immunization exercise/year. Confirm your 
LHD emergency preparedness program has entered 
all doses into CAIR within 14 days of administration, 
as per the emergency preparedness grant 
requirement. 

Mass vaccination exercise completed by 
local health department, including 
immunization and preparedness program 
staff. 

b. Utilize IZB-supplied influenza vaccine to immunize 
jurisdiction against influenza; doses may be shared 
with local partners. 

Number of doses of influenza vaccine 
administered. 
Target #: Administration of at least 9f% of 
previous season’s doses total. 

c. Enhance influenza vaccination coverage as a critical 
part of COVID-19 response work, in order to 
mitigate the impact of influenza on the health care 
system, avoid diagnostic confusion with COVID, and 
build local vaccination capacity. Enhancing 
coverage includes: supporting/promoting partner 
efforts to vaccinate vulnerable populations against 

Summary report of activities completed. 



CDPH Immunization Branch 
Scope of Work for Local Health Departments FY 2020-22 

 

Page | 9  

influenza; augmenting direct influenza vaccination 
services (e.g., additional mass vaccination clinics); 
expanding use of CAIR for tracking influenza doses; 
and/or, developing enhanced messaging and 
education to promote influenza vaccination among 
high-risk populations 

 
9. COVID-19 Vaccination 
Goal 9.1 Organize an effective COVID-19 vaccination response at the local level. 
Required Activities Performance Measures 
a. Develop and implement a COVID-19 vaccination plan 

that incorporates the three phases of vaccine availability, 
ensures equitable vaccination access at each phase, and 
encourages widespread vaccine acceptance and uptake. 

LHD COVID-19 Vaccination 
Planning Template completed and 
submitted to IZB-CDPH. 

 
  



CDPH Immunization Branch 
Scope of Work for Local Health Departments FY 2020-22 

 

Page | 10  

Glossary of Acronyms and Terms 
 

Abbreviation or term Definition 

317 vaccine Vaccine provided to LHD clinics and partners for uninsured 
adults and for outbreak purposes. 

ACIP Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

ACOG American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists 

AFIX Assessment, Feedback, Incentive, eXchange 

CAIR California Immunization Registry 

CalREDIE California Reportable Disease Information Exchange 

CDC Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 

CDPH California Department of Public Health 

COVID-19 Coronavirus Disease 2019 

DNA Deoxyribonucleic Acid 

EHR Electronic Health Record 

EZIZ An Immunization Branch-operated website (eziz.org) with 
immunization training and resource materials. 

FQHC Federally Qualified Health Center 

HBsAg Hepatitis B Surface Antigen 

HBV Hepatitis B Vaccine 

HL7 Health Level 7 (standards for data exchange) 

IIS Immunization Information System 

IQIP Immunization Quality Improvement for Providers 

IZB Immunization Branch (of CDPH) 

IZB-supplied vaccine 
Vaccine ordered through the CDPH Immunization Branch and 
supplied to LHD clinics or partners using state or federal (VFC 

and 317) funding sources. 
LCR Local CAIR representative (on CDPH IZB staff) 

LHD Local Health Department 



CDPH Immunization Branch 
Scope of Work for Local Health Departments FY 2020-22 

 

Page | 11  

Abbreviation or term Definition 

LHD Primary Care Clinic 
Clinic run or housed in LHD that serves as a medical home for 
its patients. Includes federally qualified health centers or look-

alikes that are operated or housed in LHDs 
LHJ Local Health Jurisdiction 

MCAH Maternal Child and Adolescent Health 

MCP Medi-Cal Managed Care Plan 

PEP Post Exposure Prophylaxis 

PVS Post-Vaccination Serology 

Tdap Tetanus, Diphtheria, and Pertussis 

TK/K Transitional Kindergarten/Kindergarten 

VFC Vaccines for Children Program 

VPDs Vaccine-Preventable Disease(s) 

WIC Women, Infants, and Children 
 



County of Inyo

Health & Human Services - Behavioral Health
 

CONSENT - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  June 28, 2022
 
FROM:  Lucy Vincent
 
SUBJECT:  Approval of Contract between County of Inyo and Anne Sippi Clinic Treatment Group
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board approve the contract between the County of Inyo and Anne Sippi Clinic Treatment Group of 
Bakersfield, CA for the provision of residential placement for adults conserved under the Lanterman Petris Short 
Act, in an amount not to exceed $81,000 for the period of July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023, contingent upon 
the Board’s approval the Fiscal Year 2022-2023 Budget, and authorize the Chairperson to sign the contract and 
HIPAA Business Associate Agreement, contingent upon all appropriate signatures being obtained.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
Anne Sippi Clinic Treatment Group provides specialized services that meet the recovery needs of persons with 
severe mental illness who are ready to step down from a locked facility to a less restrictive environment.  These 
persons are often conserved under the Lanterman Petris Short (LPS) Act.  The Anne Sippi transitional social 
rehabilitation program offers an array of services to support and encourage recovery, including a work 
experience program (in a ranch or urban setting).  We are currently using this contract.  The Anne Sippi program 
also meets the specific needs of persons with hearing impairments as well as severe mental illness.  In the past, 
we have successfully placed several adults in this facility who then stepped down to living independently or with 
family members.  The Department respectfully requests your Board's approval of the contract.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
N/A
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
Your Board could choose not to approve this contract.  Appropriate placements are difficult to obtain and there is 
no guarantee that another facility that offers proper care will be found.  The (conserved) adults would then remain 
in a locked psychiatric setting or may have repeated incarcerations.
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
Inyo County Courts
 
FINANCING:
100% Mental Health Realignment Funds (clients may be able to partially reimburse with SSI payments).  This 



Agenda Request 
Page 2

expense will be budgeted in Mental Health (045200) in Support & Care (5508).  No County General Funds.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Anne Sippi Clinic Contract 
2. HIPAA Business Associate Agreement 
 
APPROVALS:
Lucy Vincent Created/Initiated - 6/15/2022
Darcy Ellis Approved - 6/15/2022
Lucy Vincent Approved - 6/15/2022
Anna Scott Approved - 6/15/2022
Melissa Best-Baker Approved - 6/15/2022
John Vallejo Approved - 6/15/2022
Amy Shepherd Approved - 6/16/2022
Anna Scott Final Approval - 6/16/2022



 
 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 157 
 (Independent Contractor  Residential Treatment Services) 
 Page 1 of 10     

07/26/2019 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 
 AND ________________________________________________  

FOR THE PROVISION OF RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT SERVICES 
 
 INTRODUCTION 
 
 WHEREAS, the County of Inyo (hereinafter referred to as "County") may have the need for the 
Residential treatment services of ___________________________________________________________   
of ______________________________________________ (hereinafter referred to as "Contractor"), and in 
consideration of the mutual promises, covenants, terms, and conditions hereinafter contained, the parties 
hereby agree as follows: 
 
 TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
1. SCOPE OF WORK. 
 
 The Contractor shall furnish to the County, upon its request, those services and work set forth in 
Attachment A, attached hereto and by reference incorporated herein.  Requests by the County to the 
Contractor to perform under this Agreement will be made by _____________________________________, 
whose title is: __________________________________________.   Requests to the Contractor for work or 
services to be performed under this Agreement will be based upon the County's need for such services.  The 
County makes no guarantee or warranty, of any nature, that any minimum level or amount of services or 
work will be requested of the Contractor by the County under this Agreement.  County by this Agreement 
incurs no obligation or requirement to request from Contractor the performance of any services or work at all, 
even if County should have some need for such services or work during the term of this Agreement. 
 
 Services and work provided by the Contractor at the County's request under this Agreement will be 
performed in a manner consistent with the requirements and standards established by applicable federal, 
state, and County laws, ordinances, regulations, and resolutions.  Such laws, ordinances, regulations, and 
resolutions include, but are not limited to those which are referred to in this Agreement. 
 
2. TERM. 
 
 The term of this Agreement shall be from                           to ______________________  
unless sooner terminated as provided below.  
 
3. CONSIDERATION. 
 
 A. Compensation.  County shall pay to Contractor in accordance with the Schedule of Fees 
(set forth as Attachment B) for the services and work described in Attachment A which are performed by 
Contractor at the County's request.  
 B. Travel and per diem.  Contractor will not be paid or reimbursed for travel expenses or per 
diem which Contractor incurs in providing services and work requested by County under this Agreement.  
 C. No additional consideration.  Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, Contractor 
shall not be entitled to, nor receive from County, any additional consideration, compensation, salary, wages, 
or other type of remuneration for services rendered under this Agreement.  Specifically, Contractor shall not 
be entitled, by virtue of this Agreement, to consideration in the form of overtime, health insurance benefits, 
retirement benefits, disability retirement benefits, sick leave, vacation time, paid holidays, or other paid leaves 
of absence of any type or kind whatsoever. 
 D. Limit upon amount payable under Agreement.  The total sum of all payments made by the 
County to Contractor for services and work performed under this Agreement shall not exceed   
__________________________________________Dollars  and _____________________________ cents 
($_________________________________________) (hereinafter referred to as "contract limit").  County 
expressly reserves the right to deny any payment or reimbursement requested by Contractor for services or 
work performed which is in excess of the contract limit. 
 E. Billing and payment.  Contractor shall submit to the County, once a month, an itemized 
statement of all services and work described in Attachment A, which were done at the County's request.  
This statement will be submitted to the County not later than the fifth (5th) day of the month.  The statement 



 
 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 157 
 (Independent Contractor  Residential Treatment Services) 
 Page 2 of 10     

07/26/2019 

to be submitted will cover the period from the first (1st) day of the preceding month through and including the 
last day of the preceding month.  This statement will identify the date on which the services and work were 
performed and describe the nature of the services and work which were performed on each day.  Upon 
timely receipt of the statement by the fifth (5th) day of the month, County shall make payment to Contractor 
on the last day of the month.  
 F. Federal and State taxes.   
 
 (1) Except as provided in subparagraph (2) below, County will not withhold any federal or state 
income taxes or social security from any payments made by County to Contractor under the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement. 
 (2) County will withhold California State income taxes from payments made under this 
Agreement to non-California resident independent contractors when it is anticipated that total annual 
payments to Contractor under this Agreement will exceed one thousand four hundred ninety-nine dollars 
($1,499.00). 
 (3) Except as set forth above, County has no obligation to withhold any taxes or payments from 
sums paid by County to Contractor under this Agreement.  Payment of all taxes and other assessments on 
such sums is the sole responsibility of Contractor.  County has no responsibility or liability for payment of 
Contractor's taxes or assessments. 
 (4) The total amounts paid by County to Contractor, and taxes withheld from payments to non-
California residents, if any, will be reported annually to the Internal Revenue Service and the California State 
Franchise Tax Board.  To facilitate this reporting, Contractor shall complete and submit to the County an 
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Form W-9 upon executing this Agreement. 
 
4. WORK SCHEDULE. 
 
 Contractor's obligation is to perform, in a timely manner, those services and work identified in 
Attachment A which are requested by the County.  It is understood by Contractor that the performance of 
these services and work will require a varied schedule.  Contractor will arrange his/her own schedule, but will 
coordinate with County to ensure that all services and work requested by County under this Agreement will 
be performed within the time frame set forth by County. 
 
5. REQUIRED LICENSES, CERTIFICATES, AND PERMITS. 
 
 A. Any licenses, certificates, or permits required by the federal, state, county, and municipal 
governments, for contractor to provide the services and work described in Attachment A must be procured by 
Contractor and be valid at the time Contractor enters into this Agreement or as otherwise may be required.  
Further, during the term of this Agreement, Contractor must maintain such licenses, certificates, and permits 
in full force and effect.  Licenses, certificates, and permits may include, but are not limited to, driver's 
licenses, professional licenses or certificates, and business licenses.  Such licenses, certificates, and permits 
will be procured and maintained in force by Contractor at no expense to the County.  Contractor will provide 
County, upon execution of this Agreement, with evidence of current and valid licenses, certificates, and 
permits which are required to perform the services identified in Attachment A.  Where there is a dispute 
between Contractor and County as to what licenses, certificates, and permits are required to perform the 
services identified in Attachment A, County reserves the right to make such determinations for purposes of 
this Agreement. 
 B. Contractor warrants that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, 
declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in covered transactions by any federal 
department or agency.  Contractor also warrants that it is not suspended or debarred from receiving 
federal funds as listed in the List of Parties Excluded from Federal Procurement or Non-procurement 
Programs issued by the General Services Administration available at: http://www.sam.gov.  
 
6. OFFICE SPACE, SUPPLIES, EQUIPMENT, ETC. 
 
 Contractor shall provide such office space, supplies, equipment, vehicles, reference materials, and 
telephone service as is necessary for Contractor to provide the services identified in Attachment A to this 
Agreement.  County is not obligated to reimburse or pay Contractor, for any expense or cost incurred by 



 
 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 157 
 (Independent Contractor  Residential Treatment Services) 
 Page 3 of 10     

07/26/2019 

Contractor in procuring or maintaining such items.  Responsibility for the costs and expenses incurred by 
Contractor in providing and maintaining such items is the sole responsibility and obligation of Contractor.
 
7. COUNTY PROPERTY. 
 
 A. Personal Property of County.  Any personal property such as, but not limited to, protective or 
safety devices, badges, identification cards, keys, etc. provided to Contractor by County pursuant to this 
Agreement are, and at the termination of this Agreement remain, the sole and exclusive property of County.  
Contractor will use reasonable care to protect, safeguard, and maintain such items while they are in 
Contractor's possession.  Contractor will be financially responsible for any loss or damage to such items, 
partial or total, which is the result of Contractor's negligence. 
 B. Products of Contractor's Work and Services.  Any and all compositions, publications, plans, 
designs, specifications, blueprints, maps, formulas, processes, photographs, slides, video tapes, computer 
programs, computer disks, computer tapes, memory chips, soundtracks, audio recordings, films, audio-visual 
presentations, exhibits, reports, studies, works of art, inventions, patents, trademarks, copyrights, or 
intellectual properties of any kind which are created, produced, assembled, compiled by, or are the result, 
product, or manifestation of, Contractor's services or work under this Agreement are, and at the termination 
of this Agreement remain, the sole and exclusive property of the County.  At the termination of the 
Agreement, Contractor will convey possession and title to all such properties to County. 
 
8. INSURANCE. 
 

For the duration of this Agreement Contractor shall procure and maintain insurance of the scope 
and amount specified in Attachment D and with the provisions specified in that attachment. 

 
9. STATUS OF CONTRACTOR. 
 
 All acts of Contractor, its agents, officers, and employees, relating to the performance of this 
Agreement, shall be performed as independent contractors, and not as agents, officers, or employees of 
County.  Contractor, by virtue of this Agreement, has no authority to bind or incur any obligation on behalf of 
County.  Except as expressly provided in Attachment A, Contractor has no authority or responsibility to 
exercise any rights or power vested in the County.  No agent, officer, or employee of the Contractor is to be 
considered an employee of County.  It is understood by both Contractor and County that this Agreement shall 
not under any circumstances be construed or considered to create an employer-employee relationship or a 
joint venture.  As an independent contractor: 
 
 A. Contractor shall determine the method, details, and means of performing the work and 
services to be provided by Contractor under this Agreement. 
 B. Contractor shall be responsible to County only for the requirements and results specified in 
this Agreement, and except as expressly provided in this Agreement, shall not be subjected to County's 
control with respect to the physical action or activities of Contractor in fulfillment of this Agreement. 
 C. Contractor, its agents, officers, and employees are, and at all times during the term of this 
Agreement shall, represent and conduct themselves as independent contractors, and not as employees of 
County. 
 
10. DEFENSE AND INDEMNIFICATION. 
 
 Contractor shall hold harmless, defend and indemnify County and its officers, officials, employees 
and volunteers from and against any and all liability, loss, damage, expense, costs (including without 

performance of work hereunder or its failure to comply with any of its obligations contained in the 
agreement, except such loss or damages which was caused by the sole negligence or willful misconduct 
of the County. 
 



 
 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 157 
 (Independent Contractor  Residential Treatment Services) 
 Page 4 of 10     

07/26/2019 

11. RECORDS AND AUDIT. 
 
 A. Records.  Contractor shall prepare and maintain all records required by the various 
provisions of this Agreement, federal, state, county, municipal, ordinances, certification and licensing 
regulations, and directions.  Records shall be permanent, either typewritten or legibly written in ink and shall 
be kept on all patients accepted for treatment.  All health records of discharged patients shall be completed 
and filed within thirty (30) days after termination of each episode of treatment and such records shall be kept 
for a minimum of seven (7) years, except for minors whose records shall be kept at least until one (1) year 
after the minor has reached the age of 18, but in no case less than seven (7) years consistent with California 
Code of Regulations, Title 22 Section 75054, and 75343.   All psychologist records shall also be maintained 

he case of a minor, seven years after 
the minor reaches 18 years of age consistent with California Business and Professions Code Section 2919. 
 B. Inspections and Audits.  Any authorized representative of County shall have access to any 
books, documents, papers, records, including, but not limited to, financial records of Contractor, which 
County determines to be pertinent to this Agreement, for the purposes of making audit, evaluation, 
examination, excerpts, and transcripts during the period such records are to be maintained by Contractor. 
Further, County has the right, at all reasonable times, to audit, inspect, or otherwise evaluate the work 
performed or being performed under this Agreement. 
 
12. NONDISCRIMINATION. 
 
 During the performance of this Agreement, Contractor, its agents, officers and employees shall not 
unlawfully discriminate in violation of any federal, state, or local law, against any employee, or applicant for 
employment, or person receiving services under this Agreement, because of race, religion, color, ancestry, 
gender, sexual orientation, age, national origin, or mental or physical handicap.  Contractor and its agents, 
officers, and employees shall comply with the provisions of the Fair Employment and Housing Act 
(Government Code section 12900, et seq.), and the applicable regulations promulgated thereunder in the 
California Code of Regulations.  Contractor shall also abide by the Federal Civil Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-
352) and all amendments thereto, and all administrative rules and regulations issued pursuant to said act. 
 
13. PATIENTS RIGHTS. 
 
 
California Code of Regulations, Subchapter 4; and other applicable law in the provision of services to 
patients hereunder.  Contractor shall adopt and post in a conspicuous place a written policy on patient rights 
in accordance with Section 70707 of Title 22 of the California Code of Regulations and Section 5325.1 of the 
Welfare and Institutions Code.  Complaints by patients or beneficiaries with regard to substandard conditions 

Health, or by the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organization, or such other agency, as 
required by law or regulation. Contractor is responsible for posting information on grievance and appeal 
processes accessible to individuals and their beneficiaries receiving services at the facility.  Contractor 
shall make available for use by patients or beneficiaries at Contractor sites, without requiring either written 
or verbal request, grievance and appeal forms and Inyo County Mental Health self-addressed envelopes. 
 
14. CANCELLATION. 
 
 This Agreement may be canceled by County without cause, and at will, for any reason by giving to 

without cause, and at will, for any reason whatsoever by giving thirty (30) da
cancel to County. 
 
15. ASSIGNMENT. 
 
 This is an agreement for the services of Contractor.  County has relied upon the skills, knowledge, 
experience, and training of Contractor as an inducement to enter into this Agreement.  Contractor shall not 
assign or subcontract this Agreement, or any part of it, without the express written consent of County.  



 
 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 157 
 (Independent Contractor  Residential Treatment Services) 
 Page 5 of 10     

07/26/2019 

Further, Contractor shall not assign any monies due or to become due under this Agreement without the prior 
written consent of County.
 
16. DEFAULT. 
 
 If the Contractor abandons the work, or fails to proceed with the work and services requested by 
County in a timely manner, or fails in any way as required to conduct the work and services as required by 
County, County may declar
written notice to Contractor.  Upon such termination by default, County will pay to Contractor all amounts 
owing to Contractor for services and work satisfactorily performed to the date of termination.   
 
17. WAIVER OF DEFAULT. 
 
 Waiver of any default by either party to this Agreement shall not be deemed to be waiver of any 
subsequent default.  Waiver of any breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not be deemed to be a 
waiver of any other or subsequent breach, and shall not be construed to be a modification of the terms of this 
Agreement unless this Agreement is modified as provided in paragraph twenty-three (23 below. 
 
18. CONFIDENTIALITY. 
 
 Contractor further agrees to comply with the various provisions of the federal, state, and county laws, 
regulations, and ordinances providing that information and records kept, maintained, or accessible by 
Contractor in the course of providing services and work under this Agreement, shall be privileged, restricted, 
or confidential.  Contractor agrees to keep confidential all such information and records.  Disclosure of such 
confidential, privileged, or protected information shall be made by Contractor only with the express written 
consent 
consent is solely and exclusively the legal responsibility of Contractor in all respects.  
 
 Notwithstanding anything in the Agreement to the contrary, names of persons receiving public social 
services are confidential and are to be protected from unauthorized disclosure in accordance with Title 45, 
Code of Federal Regulations Section 205.50, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, 
and Sections 10850 and 14100.2 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and regulations adopted pursuant 
thereto.  For the purpose of this Agreement, all information, records, and data elements pertaining to 
beneficiaries shall be protected by the provider from unauthorized disclosure.  
 
19. CONFLICTS. 
 
 Contractor agrees that it has no interest, and shall not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, which 
would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of the work and services under this Agreement. 
 
20.   POST AGREEMENT COVENANT. 
 
 Contractor agrees not to use any confidential, protected, or privileged information which is gained 
from the County in the course of providing services and work under this Agreement, for any personal benefit, 
gain, or enhancement.  Further, Contractor agrees for a period of two years after the termination of this 
Agreement, not to seek or accept any employment with any entity, association, corporation, or person who, 
during the term of this Agreement, has had an adverse or conflicting interest with the County, or who has 
been an adverse party in litigation with the County, and concerning such, Contractor by virtue of this 
Agreement has gained access to the County's confidential, privileged, protected, or proprietary information. 
 
21. SEVERABILITY. 
 
 If any portion of this Agreement or application thereof to any person or circumstance shall be 
declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, or if it is found in contravention of any federal, state, or 
county statute, ordinance, or regulation, the remaining provisions of this Agreement, or the application 
thereof, shall not be invalidated thereby, and shall remain in full force and effect to the extent that the 
provisions of this Agreement are severable. 



 
 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 157 
 (Independent Contractor  Residential Treatment Services) 
 Page 6 of 10     

07/26/2019 

 
22. FUNDING  LIMITATION. 
 
 The ability of County to enter this Agreement is based upon available funding from various sources.  
In the event that such funding fails, is reduced, or is modified, from one or more sources, County has the 
option to cancel, reduce, or modify this Agreement, or any of its terms within ten (10) days of its notifying 
Contractor of the cancellation, reduction, or modification of available funding.  Any reduction or modification 
of this Agreement made pursuant to this provision must comply with the requirements of paragraph twenty-
three (23) (Amendment). 
 
23. AMENDMENT. 
 
 This Agreement may be modified, amended, changed, added to, or subtracted from, by the mutual 
consent of the parties hereto, if such amendment or change is in written form and executed with the same 
formalities as this Agreement, and attached to the original Agreement to maintain continuity. 
 
24. NOTICE. 
 
 Any notice, communication, amendments, additions, or deletions to this Agreement, including 
change of address of either party during the terms of this Agreement, which Contractor or County shall be 
required or may desire, to make, shall be in writing and may be personally served or sent by prepaid first 
class mail to the respective parties as follows: 
 
   County of Inyo 
                                                                          Department 
                                                                          Address 
                                                                          City and State 
 
   Contractor: 
                                                                          Name 
                                                                          Address  
                                                                          City and State 
 
25. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. 
 
 This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties, and no representations, inducements, 
promises, or agreements otherwise between the parties not embodied herein or incorporated herein by 
reference, shall be of any force or effect.  Further, no term or provision hereof may be changed, waived, 
discharged, or terminated, unless the same be in writing executed by the parties hereto.  

 
////       //// 





 
 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 157 
 (Independent Contractor  Residential Treatment Services) 
 Page 8 of 10     

07/26/2019 

 

ATTACHMENT A 
 
 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 
 AND ________________________________________________  

FOR THE PROVISION OF RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT SERVICES 
 
 
 TERM: 
 
 
     FROM:______________________________ TO:______________________________ 
 
 SCOPE OF WORK: 
 
 

























 
 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 157 
 (Independent Contractor  Residential Treatment Services) 
 Page 9 of 10     

07/26/2019 

 ATTACHMENT B 
 
 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 
 AND ________________________________________________  

FOR THE PROVISION OF RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT SERVICES 
 
 
                                       
 
 TERM: 
 
 
 FROM:______________________________ TO:______________________________ 
 
  

SCHEDULE  OF  FEES: 



Approved by Board Directors 1 January, 2022 

 

Usual & Customary Daily Rate Sheet 
 

   ASC Clinic                                 Riverside Ranch 
   2457 Endicott Street                     18200 Highway 178 
   Los Angeles, CA 90032                              Bakersfield, CA 93306 

             

                        Two Hundred Twenty Dollars ($220.00) per day 

 

              Services include but are not limited to: 

 Screening/ Admission Assessments 
 Individualized Treatment and Care Plans 
 Medication review by Medical Director & multi-disciplinary 

Treatment Team 
 Group Therapy Services/ Individual Therapy 
 Community Outings & Re-Integration 
 Educational Groups 
 Contracted Day Services Programs 
 Court & Conservatorship Evaluations/ Testimonies 
 Referral Services 
 Quarterly IPP reviews 
 Summary Behavioral Reports 
 Local Transportation to Appointments 

 



 
 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 157 
 (Independent Contractor  Residential Treatment Services) 
 Page 10 of 10     

07/26/2019 

ATTACHMENT  C 
 

 
 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 
 AND ________________________________________________  

FOR THE PROVISION OF RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT SERVICES 
 

 
TERM: 

 
 
 FROM:______________________________ TO:______________________________  
 
 

SEE ATTACHED INSURANCE PROVISIONS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Attachment C: 2022 Insurance Requirements for Professional Services 
Services related to transitional social rehabilitation 

 

2022 County of Inyo Insurance Standards for Specialized Professional Services 20220615 

Contractor shall procure and maintain for the duration of the contract insurance against claims for injuries 
to persons or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the 
work hereunder by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, or employees.  

MINIMUM SCOPE AND LIMIT OF INSURANCE  

Coverage shall be at least as broad as: 

1. Commercial General Liability (CGL): Insurance Services Office Form CG 00 01 covering CGL on an 
“occurrence” basis, including products and completed operations, property damage, bodily injury 
and personal & advertising injury with limits no less than $1,000,000 per occurrence, $3,000,000 
general aggregate limit. For contracts involving work with or service to minors (i.e., people under 
the age of 18 in California), sexual assault and misconduct (“SAM”) coverage is required with limits 
no less than those listed in this paragraph for other types of loss. The general liability policy shall 
contain, or be endorsed to contain, additional insured status. Proof of additional insured status 
must be submitted along with a certificate of insurance showing general liability coverage limits. 
See “Other Insurance Provisions” below. 

2. Automobile Liability: Insurance Services Office Form Number CA 0001 covering, Code 1 (any 
auto), or if Contractor has no owned autos, Code 8 (hired) and 9 (non-owned), with limit no less 
than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and property damage. Provision may be waived 
with signed letter on contractor’s letterhead certifying that no auto or mobile equipment will be 
used for/during the execution of the contract. See “Other Insurance Provisions” below. 

3. Workers’ Compensation insurance as required by the State of California, with Statutory Limits, 
and Employer’s Liability Insurance with limit of no less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily 
injury or disease. Provision may be waived with signed letter on contractor’s letterhead certifying 
that contractor has no employees. See “Other Insurance Provisions” below. 

4. Professional Liability (Errors and Omissions) Insurance appropriate to the Contractor’s 
profession, with limit no less than $1,000,000 per occurrence or claim, $3,000,000 aggregate. 
Check with Risk Management if Professional Liability is required for the contract to which these 
requirements are attached. 

5. Cyber (sometimes known as “security and privacy”) Liability Insurance, with limits not less than 
$1,000,000 per occurrence or claim, $2,000,000 policy aggregate. Coverage shall be sufficiently 
broad to respond to the duties and obligations as is undertaken by contractor in this agreement 
and shall include, but not be limited to, claims involving infringement of intellectual property, 
including but not limited to infringement of copyright, trademark, trade dress, invasion of privacy 
violations, information theft, damage to or destruction of electronic information, release of 
private information, alteration of electronic information, extortion and network security. The 
policy shall provide coverage for breach response costs as well as regulatory fines and penalties 
as well as credit monitoring expenses with limits sufficient to respond to these obligations. 
Professional liability or general liability may be endorsed to include cyber coverage. 

If the Contractor maintains broader coverage and/or higher limits than the minimums shown above, Inyo 
County requires and shall be entitled to the broader coverage and/or the higher limits maintained by the 
contractor. Any available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits of insurance and 
coverage shall be available to Inyo County.  
  



Attachment C: 2022 Insurance Requirements for Professional Services 
Services related to transitional social rehabilitation 

 

2022 County of Inyo Insurance Standards for Specialized Professional Services 20220615 

OTHER INSURANCE PROVISIONS  

The insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions: 
 
Additional Insured Status: Inyo County, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers are to be covered 
as additional insureds on the CGL policy with respect to liability arising out of work or operations 
performed by or on behalf of the Contractor including materials, parts, or equipment furnished in 
connection with such work or operations. General liability coverage can be provided in the form of an 
endorsement to the Contractor’s insurance (at least as broad as ISO Form CG 20 10 11 85 or if not 
available, through the addition of both CG 20 10, CG 20 26, CG 20 33, or CG 20 38; and CG 20 37 if a later 
edition is used).  

Primary Coverage: For any claims related to this contract, the Contractor’s insurance coverage shall be 
primary and non-contributory and at least as broad as ISO CG 20 01 04 13 as respects Inyo County, its 
officers, officials, employees, and volunteers. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by Inyo County, 
its officers, officials, employees, or volunteers shall be excess of the Contractor’s insurance and shall not 
contribute with it. This requirement shall also apply to any Excess or Umbrella liability policies.  

Umbrella or Excess Policy: The Contractor may use Umbrella or Excess Policies to provide the liability 
limits as required in this agreement. This form of insurance will be acceptable provided that all of the 
Primary and Umbrella or Excess Policies shall provide all of the insurance coverages herein required, 
including, but not limited to, primary and non-contributory, additional insured, Self-Insured Retentions 
(SIRs), indemnity, and defense requirements. The Umbrella or Excess policies shall be provided on a true 
“following form” or broader coverage basis, with coverage at least as broad as provided on the underlying 
Commercial General Liability insurance. No insurance policies maintained by the Additional Insureds, 
whether primary or excess, and which also apply to a loss covered hereunder, shall be called upon to 
contribute to a loss until the Contractor’s primary and excess liability policies are exhausted. 
 
Notice of Cancellation: Each insurance policy required above shall state that coverage shall not be 
canceled, except with notice to Inyo County.  
 
Waiver of Subrogation: Contractor hereby grants to Inyo County a waiver of any right to subrogation 
which any insurer of said Contractor may acquire against Inyo County by virtue of the payment of any loss 
under such insurance. Contractor agrees to obtain any endorsement that may be necessary to affect this 
waiver of subrogation, but this provision applies regardless of whether or not Inyo County has received a 
waiver of subrogation endorsement from the insurer.  
 
Self-Insured Retentions: Self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by Inyo County. Inyo 
County may require the Contractor to purchase coverage with a lower retention or provide proof of ability 
to pay losses and related investigations, claim administration, and defense expenses within the retention. 
The policy language shall provide, or be endorsed to provide, that the self-insured retention may be 
satisfied by either the named insured or Inyo County. The CGL and any policies, including Excess liability 
policies, may not be subject to a self-insured retention (SIR) or deductible that exceeds $25,000 unless 
approved in writing by Inyo County. Any and all deductibles and SIRs shall be the sole responsibility of 
Contractor or subcontractor who procured such insurance and shall not apply to the Indemnified 
Additional Insured Parties. Inyo County may deduct from any amounts otherwise due Contractor to fund 
the SIR/deductible. Policies shall NOT contain any self-insured retention (SIR) provision that limits the 
satisfaction of the SIR to the Named. The policy must also provide that Defense costs, including the 



Attachment C: 2022 Insurance Requirements for Professional Services 
Services related to transitional social rehabilitation 

 

2022 County of Inyo Insurance Standards for Specialized Professional Services 20220615 

Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, will satisfy the SIR or deductible. Inyo County reserves the right to 
obtain a copy of any policies and endorsements for verification. 
 
Acceptability of Insurers: Insurance is to be placed with insurers authorized to conduct business in the 
state with a current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A:VII, unless otherwise acceptable to Inyo County.  
 
Claims Made Policies: If any of the required policies provide coverage on a claims-made basis:  
1. The Retroactive Date must be shown and must be before the date of the contract or the beginning of 

contract work.  

2. Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance must be provided for at least five (5) years 
after completion of the contract of work.  

3. If coverage is canceled or non-renewed, and not replaced with another claims-made policy form with 
a Retroactive Date prior to the contract effective date, the Contractor must purchase “extended 
reporting” coverage for a minimum of five (5) years after completion of contract work.  

 
Verification of Coverage: Contractor shall furnish Inyo County with original certificates and amendatory 
endorsements or copies of the applicable policy language effecting coverage required by this clause and 
a copy of the Declarations and Endorsement Page of the CGL policy and any Excess policies listing all 
policy endorsements. All certificates and endorsements and copies of the Declarations and Endorsements 
pages are to be received ad approved by Inyo County before work commences. However, failure to obtain 
the required documents prior to the work beginning shall not waive the Contractor’s obligation to provide 
them. Inyo County reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all required insurance 
policies, including endorsements required by these specifications, at any time. Inyo County reserves the 
right to modify these requirements, including limits, based on the nature of the risk, prior experience, 
insurer, coverage, or other special circumstances.  
 
Subcontractors: Contractor shall require and verify that all subcontractors maintain insurance meeting all 
the requirements stated herein, and Contractor shall ensure that Inyo County is an additional insured on 
insurance required from subcontractors.  
 
Duration of Coverage: CGL & Excess liability policies for any construction related work, including, but not 
limited to, maintenance, service, or repair work, shall continue coverage for a minimum of 5 years for 
Completed Operations liability coverage. Such Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance 
must be provided for at least five (5) years after completion of the contract of work. 
 
Special Risks or Circumstances: Inyo County reserves the right to modify these requirements, including 
limits, based on the nature of the risk, prior experience, insurer, coverage, or other special circumstances. 
-end- 



 1 

 

COUNTY OF INYO  

HIPAA BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT 
 

This Business Associate Agreement (“Agreement”) is made by and between the Inyo County Health and 

Human Services Behavioral Health Division, referred to herein as Covered Entity (“CE”), and Anne Sippi 

Clinic Treatment Group , referred to herein as Business Associate (“BA”). This Agreement is effective as 

of  ______________ , (the “Agreement Effective Date”). 

 

RECITALS 

 

CE wishes to disclose certain information to BA pursuant to the terms of the contract between BA and the 

California Institute of Mental Health (“CIMH”), herein referred to as (“Contract”), some of which may 

constitute Protected Health Information (“PHI”) defined below.  

 

CE and BA intend to protect the privacy and provide for the security of PHI disclosed to BA pursuant to 

the Contract in compliance with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, Public 

Law 104-191 (“HIPAA”), the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, 

Public Law 111-005 (“the HITECH Act”), and regulations promulgated thereunder by the U.S. 

Department of Health and Human Services (the “HIPAA Regulations”) and other applicable laws. 

 

As part of the HIPAA Regulations, the Privacy Rule and the Security Rule (defined below) require CE to 

enter into a contract containing specific requirements with BA prior to the disclosure of PHI, as set forth 

in, but not limited to, Title 45, Sections 164.314(a), 164.502(e) and 164.504(e) of the Code of Federal 

Regulations (“C.F.R.”) and contained in this Agreement. 

 

In consideration of the mutual promises below and the exchange of information pursuant to this 

Agreement, the parties agree as follows: 

 

1. Definitions 

 

a. Breach shall have the meaning given to such term under the HITECH Act [42 U.S.C. Section 

17921]. 

 

b. Business Associate shall have the meaning given to such term under the Privacy Rule, the 

Security Rule, and the HITECH Act, including but not limited to, 42 U.S.C. Section 17938 and 

45 C.F.R. Section 160.103. 

 

c. Covered Entity shall have the meaning given to such term under the Privacy Rule and the 

Security Rule, including, but not limited to, 45 C.F.R. Section 160.103. 

 

d. Data Aggregation shall have the meaning given to such term under the Privacy Rule, including, 

but not limited to, 45 C.F.R. Section 164.501. 

 

e. Designated Record Set shall have the meaning given to such term under the Privacy Rule, 

including, but not limited to, 45 C.F.R. Section 164.501.  

 

f. Electronic Protected Health Information means Protected Health Information that is 

maintained in or transmitted by electronic media. 



 2 

 

g. Electronic Health Record shall have the meaning given to such term in the HITECT Act, 

including, but not limited to, 42 U.S.C. Section 17921. 

 

h. Health Care Operations shall have the meaning given to such term under the Privacy Rule, 

including, but not limited to, 45 C.F.R. Section 164.501. 

 

i. Privacy Rule shall mean the HIPAA Regulation that is codified at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, 

Subparts A and E. 

 

j. Protected Health Information or PHI means any information, whether oral or recorded in any 

form or medium: (i) that relates to the past, present or future physical or mental condition of an 

individual; the provision of health care to an individual; or the past, present or future payment for 

the provision of health care to an individual; and (ii) that identifies the individual or with respect 

to which there is a reasonable basis to believe the information can be used to identify the 

individual, and shall have the meaning given to such term under the Privacy Rule, including, but 

not limited to, 45 C.F.R. Section 164.501. Protected Health Information includes Electronic 

Protected Health Information [45 C.F.R. Sections 160.103, 164.501]. 

 

k. Protected Information shall mean PHI provided by CE to BA or created or received by BA on 

CE’s behalf. 

 

l. Security Rule shall mean the HIPAA Regulation that is codified at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, 

Subparts A and C. 

 

m. Unsecured PHI shall have the meaning given to such term under the HITECH Act and any 

guidance issued pursuant to such Act including, but not limited to, 42 U.S.C. Section 17932(h). 

 

2. Obligations of Business Associate 

 

a. Permitted Uses. BA shall not use Protected Information except for the purpose of performing 

BA’s obligations under the Contract and as permitted under the Contract and Agreement. Further, 

BA shall not use Protected Information in any manner that would constitute a violation of the 

Privacy Rule or the HITECH Act if so used by CE. However, BA may use Protected Information 

(i) for the proper management and administration of BA, (ii) to carry out the legal responsibilities 

of BA, or (iii) for Data Aggregation purposes for the Health Care Operations of CE [45 C.F.R. 

Sections 164.504(e)(2)(ii)(A) and 164.504(e)(4)(i)]. 

 

b. Permitted Disclosures. BA shall not disclose Protected Information except for the purpose of 

performing BA’s obligations under the Contract and as permitted under the Contract and 

Agreement. BA shall not disclose Protected Information in any manner that would constitute a 

violation of the Privacy Rule or the HITECH Act if so disclosed by CE. However, BA may 

disclose Protected Information (i) for the proper management and administration of BA; (ii) to 

carry out the legal responsibilities of BA; (iii) as required by law; or (iv) for Data Aggregation 

purposes for the Health Care Operations of CE. If BA discloses Protected Information to a third 

party, BA must obtain, prior to making any such disclosure, (i) reasonable written assurances 

from such third party that such Protected Information will be held confidential as provided 

pursuant to this Agreement and only disclosed as required by law or for the purposes for which 

was disclosed to such third party, and (ii) a written agreement from such third party to 

immediately notify BA of any breaches of confidentiality of the Protected Information, to the 

extent it has obtained knowledge of such breach [42 U.S.C. Section 17932; 45 C.F.R. Sections 

164.504(e)(2)(i), 164.504(e)(2)(i)(B), 164.504(e)(2)(ii)(A) and 164.504(e)(4)(ii)]. 



 3 

c. Prohibited Uses and Disclosures. BA shall not use or disclose Protected Information for 

fundraising or marketing purposes. BA shall not disclose Protected Information to a health plan 

for payment or health care operations purposes if the patient has requested this special restriction, 

and has paid out of pocket in full for the health care item or service to which the PHI solely 

relates [42 U.S.C. Section 17935(a)]. BA shall not directly or indirectly receive remuneration in 

exchange for Protected Information, except with the prior written consent of CE and as permitted 

by the HITECH Act, 42 U.S.C. section 17935(d)(2); however, this prohibition shall not affect 

payment by CIMH to BA for services provided pursuant to the Contract. 

 

 

d. Appropriate Safeguards. BA shall implement appropriate safeguards as are necessary to prevent 

the use or disclosure of Protected Information otherwise than as permitted by the Contract that 

reasonably and appropriately protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of the Protected 

Information, in accordance with 45 C.F.R. Sections 164.308, 164.310, and 164.312. [45 C.F.R. 

Section 164.504(e)(2)(ii)(B); 45 C.F.R. Section 164.308(b)]. BA shall comply with the policies 

and procedures and documentation requirements of the HIPAA Security Rule, including, but not 

limited to, 45 C.F.R. Section 164.316. [42 U.S.C. Section 17931]. 

 

e. Reporting of Improper Access, Use or Disclosure.  BA shall report to CE in writing of any 

access, use or disclosure of Protected Information not permitted by the Contract and Agreement, 

and any Breach of Unsecured PHI of which it becomes aware without unreasonable delay and in 

no case later than ten (10) calendar days after discovery [42 U.S.C. Section 17921; 45 C.F.R. 

Section 164.504(e)(2)(ii)(C); 45 C.F.R. Section 164.308(b)]. 

 

f. Business Associate’s Agents. BA shall ensure that any agents, including subcontractors, to 

whom it provides Protected Information, agree in writing to the same restrictions and conditions 

that apply to BA with respect to such PHI and implement the safeguards required by paragraph c 

above with respect to Electronic PHI [45 C.F.R. Section 164.504(e)(2)(ii)(D); 45 C.F.R. Section 

164.308(b)]. BA shall implement and maintain sanctions against agents and subcontractors that 

violate such restrictions and conditions and shall mitigate the effects of any such violation (see 45 

C.F.R. Sections 164.530(f) and 164.530(e)(1)). 

 

g. Access to Protected Information. BA shall make Protected Information maintained by BA or its 

agents or subcontractors in Designated Record Sets available to CE for inspection and copying 

within ten (10) days of a request by CE to enable CE to fulfill its obligations under the Privacy 

Rule, including, but not limited to, 45 C.F.R. Section 164.524 [45 CF.R. Section 

164.504(e)(2)(ii)(E)]. If BA maintains an Electronic Health Record, BA shall provide such 

information in electronic format to enable CE to fulfill its obligations under the HITECH Act, 

including, but not limited to, 42 U.S.C. Section 17935(e). 

 

h. Amendment of PHI. Within ten (10) days of receipt of a request from CE for an amendment of 

Protected Information or a record about an individual contained in a Designated Record Set, BA 

or its agents or subcontractors shall make such Protected Information available to CE for 

amendment and incorporate any such amendment to enable CE to fulfill its obligations under the 

Privacy Rule, including, but not limited to, 45 C.F.R. Section 164.526. If any individual requests 

an amendment of Protected Information directly from BA or its agents or subcontractors, BA 

must notify CE in writing within five (5) days of the request. Any approval or denial of 

amendment of Protected Information maintained by BA or its agents or subcontractors shall be 

the responsibility of CE [45 C.F.R. Section 164.504(e)(2)(ii)(F)]. 

 

i. Accounting Rights. Within ten (10) days of notice by CE of a request for an accounting of 

disclosures of Protected Information, BA and its agents or subcontractors shall make available to 

CE the information required to provide an accounting of disclosures to enable CE to fulfill its 



 4 

obligations under the Privacy Rule, including, but not limited to, 45 C.F.R. Section 164.528, and 

the HITECH Act, including but not limited to 42 U.S.C. Section 17935(c), as determined by CE. 

BA agrees to implement a process that allows for an accounting to be collected and maintained by 

BA and its agents or subcontractors for at least six (6) years prior to the request. However, 

accounting of disclosures from an Electronic Health Record for treatment, payment or health care 

operations purposes are required to be collected and maintained for only three (3) years prior to 

the request, and only to the extent that BA maintains an electronic health record and is subject to 

this requirement. At a minimum, the information collected and maintained shall include: (i) the 

date of disclosure; (ii) the name of the entity or person who received Protected Information and, if 

known, the address of the entity or person; (iii) a brief description of Protected Information 

disclosed and (iv) a brief statement of purpose of the disclosure that reasonably informs the 

individual of the basis for the disclosure, or a copy of the individuals’ authorization, or a copy of 

the written request for disclosure. In the event that the request for an accounting is delivered 

directly to BA or its agents or subcontractors, BA shall within five (5) days of a request forward it 

to CE in writing. It shall be CE’s responsibility to prepare and deliver any such accounting 

requested. BA shall not disclose any Protected Information except as set forth in Sections 2.b. of 

this Agreement [45 C.F.R. Sections 164.504(e)(2)(ii)(G) and 165.528]. 

 

j. Governmental Access to Records. BA shall make its internal practices, books and records 

relating to the use and disclosure of Protected Information available to CE and to the Secretary of 

the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (the “Secretary”) for purposes of determining 

BA’s compliance with the Privacy Rule [45 C.F.R. Section 164.504(e)(2)(ii)(H)]. BA shall 

provide to CE a copy of any Protected Information that BA provides to the Secretary concurrently 

with providing such Protected Information to the Secretary. 

 

k. Minimum Necessary. BA (and its agents or subcontractors) shall request, use and disclose only 

the minimum amount of Protected Information necessary to accomplish the purpose of the 

request, use, or disclosure. [42 U.S.C. Section 17935(b); 45 C.F.R. Section 164.514(d)(3)] BA 

understands and agrees that the definition of “minimum necessary” is in flux and shall keep itself 

informed of guidance issued by the Secretary with respect to what constitutes “minimum 

necessary.” 

 

l. Data Ownership. BA acknowledges that BA has no ownership rights with respect to the 

Protected Information. 

 

m. Notification of Breach. During the term of the Contract, BA shall notify CE within twenty-four 

(24) hours of any suspected or actual breach of security, intrusion or unauthorized use or 

disclosure of PHI of which BA becomes aware and/or any actual or suspected use or disclosure of 

data in violation of any applicable federal or state laws or regulations. BA shall take (i) prompt 

corrective action to cure any such deficiencies and (ii) any action pertaining to such unauthorized 

disclosure required by applicable federal and state laws and regulations.  

 

n. Breach Pattern or Practice by Covered Entity. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Section 17934(b), if the 

BA knows of a pattern of activity or practice of the CE that constitutes a material breach or 

violation of the CE’s obligations under the Contract or Agreement or other arrangement, the BA 

must take reasonable steps to cure the breach or end the violation. If the steps are unsuccessful, 

the BA must terminate the Contract or other arrangement if feasible, or if termination is not 

feasible, report the problem to the Secretary of DHHS. BA shall provide written notice to CE of 

any pattern of activity or practice of the CE that BA believes constitutes a material breach or 

violation of the CE’s obligations under the Contract or Agreement or other arrangement within 

five (5) days of discovery and shall meet with CE to discuss and attempt to resolve the problem as 

one of the reasonable steps to cure the breach or end the violation. 

 



 5 

o. Audits, Inspection and Enforcement. Within ten (10) days of a written request by CE, BA and 

its agents or subcontractors shall allow CE to conduct a reasonable inspection of the facilities, 

systems, books, records, agreements, policies and procedures relating to the use or disclosure of 

Protected Information pursuant to this Agreement for the purpose of determining whether BA has 

complied with this Agreement; provided, however, that (i) BA and CE shall mutually agree in 

advance upon the scope, timing and location of such an inspection, and (ii) CE shall protect the 

confidentiality of all confidential and proprietary information of BA to which CE has access 

during the course of such inspection. The fact that CE inspects, or fails to inspect, or has the right 

to inspect, BA’s facilities, systems, books, records, agreements, policies and procedures does not 

relieve BA of its responsibility to comply with this Agreement, nor does CE’s (i) failure to detect 

or (ii) detection, but failure to notify BA or require BA’s remediation of any unsatisfactory 

practices, constitute acceptance of such practice or a waiver of CE’s enforcement rights under the 

Contract or Agreement. BA shall notify CE within ten (10) days of learning that BA has become 

the subject of an audit, compliance review, or complaint investigation by the Office for Civil 

Rights.  

 

3. Termination 
 

a. Material Breach. A breach by BA of any provision of this Agreement, as determined by CE, 

shall constitute a material breach of the Contract and shall provide grounds for immediate 

termination of the Contract, any provision in the Contract to the contrary notwithstanding. [45 

C.F.R. Section 164.504(e)(2)(iii)]. 

 

b. Judicial or Administrative Proceedings. CE may terminate the Contract, effective immediately, 

if (i) BA is named as a defendant in a criminal proceeding for a violation of HIPAA, the HITECH 

Act, the HIPAA Regulations or other security or privacy laws or (ii) a finding or stipulation that 

the BA has violated any standard or requirement of HIPAA, the HITECH Act, the HIPAA 

Regulations or other security or privacy laws is made in any administrative or civil proceeding in 

which the party has been joined.  

 

c. Effect of Termination. Upon termination of the Contract for any reason, BA shall, at the option 

of CE, return or destroy all Protected Information that BA or its agents or subcontractors still 

maintain in any form, and shall retain no copies of such Protected Information. If return or 

destruction is not feasible, as determined by CE, BA shall continue to extend the protections of 

Section 2 of this Agreement to such information, and limit further use of such PHI to those 

purposes that make the return or destruction of such PHI infeasible. [45 C.F.R. Section 

164.504(e)(ii)(2(I)]. If CE elects destruction of the PHI, BA shall certify in writing to CE that 

such PHI has been destroyed. 

 

4. Disclaimer 
 

CE makes no warranty or representation that compliance by BA with this Agreement, HIPAA, the 

HITECH Act, or the HIPAA Regulations will be adequate or satisfactory for BA’s own purposes. BA is 

solely responsible for all decisions made by BA regarding the safeguarding of PHI. 

 

5. Amendment 
 

The parties acknowledge that state and federal laws relating to data security and privacy are rapidly 

evolving and that amendment of the Contract of Agreement may be required to provide for procedures to 

ensure compliance with such developments. The parties specifically agree to take such action as is 

necessary to implement the standards and requirements of HIPAA, the HITECH Act, the Privacy Rule, 

the Security Rule, and other applicable laws relating to the security or confidentiality of PHI. The parties 

understand ad agree that CE must receive satisfactory written assurance from BA that BA will adequately 





County of Inyo

Health & Human Services - Behavioral Health
 

CONSENT - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  June 28, 2022
 
FROM:  Lucy Vincent
 
SUBJECT:  Request for Approval of Agreement between the County of Inyo and Bakersfield Behavioral 
Healthcare Hospital, LLC
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board approve the agreement between the County of Inyo and Bakersfield Behavioral Healthcare 
Hospital, LLC of Bakersfield, California for the provision of psychiatric inpatient services in an amount not to 
exceed $50,000 for the period of July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023, contingent upon the Board’s approval of 
the Fiscal Year 2022-2023 Budget, and authorize the Chairperson to sign, contingent upon all appropriate 
signatures being obtained.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
Bakersfield Behavioral Healthcare Hospital is an acute inpatient psychiatric facility that is willing to admit Inyo 
County residents in need of this level of care when beds are available.  These patients are often transferred from 
the Crisis Stabilization Unit (CSU) in Ridgecrest as the access point to care, often under Welfare and Institutions 
Code (WIC) 5150.  Access to inpatient psychiatric hospital beds is extremely challenging given the small number 
of beds available as well as the distance to the nearest hospital across county lines.  As Ridgecrest CSU is 
located in Kern County, there is greater access to this hospital located in Bakersfield.  Since the 2018-2019 fiscal 
year, we have accessed Bakersfield Behavioral Healthcare Hospital, LLC and paid for services as necessary 
through the invoice process.  Services without a contract are allowed due to the emergent nature of the services. 
However, Medi-Cal regulations require that if one hospital is used more frequently by a County, a contract must 
be pursued between the County and the facility (disproportionate use). A contract also allows for a negotiated 
rate and ease of payment processing.  We respectfully request approval of this contract.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
N/A
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
Inyo County HHS Behavioral Health as the Mental Health Plan is fiscally responsible for payment for these 
hospital costs.  A good faith effort to contract with this disproportionate use facility is required. The alternative is 
to process each invoice for payment, coming to the Board on multiple occasions.
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
DHCS, hospitals and agencies designated to place involuntary holds under WIC Section 5150.



Agenda Request 
Page 2

 
FINANCING:
100% Mental Health Realignment Funds for Adults, MediCal as allowed for beneficiaries under age 21. This 
contract is budgeted in Mental Health (045200) in Support & Care w/1099 (5508).  No County General Funds.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Bakersfield Behavioral Healthcare Hospital Contract
2. HIPAA Business Associate Agreement 
 
APPROVALS:
Lucy Vincent Created/Initiated - 6/10/2022
Darcy Ellis Approved - 6/10/2022
Lucy Vincent Approved - 6/10/2022
Anna Scott Approved - 6/13/2022
Melissa Best-Baker Approved - 6/15/2022
John Vallejo Approved - 6/15/2022
Amy Shepherd Approved - 6/16/2022
Anna Scott Final Approval - 6/16/2022















































































County of Inyo

Health & Human Services - Behavioral Health
 

CONSENT - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  June 28, 2022
 
FROM:  Lucy Vincent
 
SUBJECT:  Agreement between County of Inyo and The SmithWaters Group of Sacramento for provision of 
Patients' Rights Advocacy services
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board: A) declare The SmithWaters Group of Sacramento, CA a sole-source provider of Mental Health 
Patients' Rights Advocacy; B) approve the agreement between the County of Inyo and The SmithWaters Group 
for the provision of Mental Health Patients' Rights Advocacy in an amount not to exceed $21,600 for the period of 
July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023, contingent upon the Board’s approval of the Fiscal Year 2022-2023 Budget; 
and C) authorize the Chairperson to sign the contract and HIPAA Business Agreement, contingent upon all 
appropriate signatures being obtained.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
The SmithWaters Group has been providing Patients' Rights Advocacy services to County of Inyo Health and 
Human Services, Behavioral Health since October 1, 2021.  After several recruitment attempts over the span of 
two years failed to find a local person to serve as Patients' Rights Advocate, we secured the services of the The 
SmithWaters Group. In accordance with California Welfare and Institutions code 5520, “Each local mental health 
director shall appoint, or contract for the services of, one or more county patients’ rights advocates.” 

The SmithWaters Group provides Patients’ Rights Advocacy services in select counties throughout California. 
 The services they provide include, but are not limited to, the following: 5150 Certification training for staff, 
complaint investigation and follow-up; developing working relationships with Behavioral Health; Public Guardian 
and independent provider staff, including the Wellness Center and Progress House; providing training and 
education to providers and clients about mental health law and patients’ rights as needed; distributing materials, 
brochures, and state mandated patients’ rights handbooks and posters; providing written quarterly statics and 
annual report of activities; participating on Inyo County committees (QIC, BHAB, etc.) as needed; providing 24-
hour phone access for staff and clients; meeting in-person with clients or staff at least on a quarterly basis, 
serving as liaison with the state Office of Patients’ Rights (COPR), Title IX advocates and Conservators in other 
counties.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
N/A
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:



Agenda Request 
Page 2

Your Board could choose not to approve this contract.  This would severely impede our ability to meet the 
requirements under WIC 5520.
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
Courts, Acute Psychiatric Hospitals
 
FINANCING:
Mental Health funds, including Mental Health Realignment and MHSA. This expense is budgeted in Mental 
Health (045200), in Professional Services (5265). No County General Funds.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. SmithWaters Group Contract
2. HIPAA Business Associate Agreement
 
APPROVALS:
Lucy Vincent Created/Initiated - 6/2/2022
Darcy Ellis Approved - 6/3/2022
Lucy Vincent Approved - 6/9/2022
Marilyn Mann Approved - 6/13/2022
Melissa Best-Baker Approved - 6/16/2022
John Vallejo Approved - 6/17/2022
Amy Shepherd Approved - 6/17/2022
Anna Scott Final Approval - 6/17/2022



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 1     05/21/2019 

 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 

 
AND __________________________________________________________ 

FOR THE PROVISION OF _____________________________________________________ SERVICES 
  

INTRODUCTION 
 
 WHEREAS,  the  County  of  Inyo  (hereinafter  referred  to  as  "County")  may  have  the  need  for  
the ___________________________  services  of  _____________________________________________ 
of  ________________________________ (hereinafter referred to as "Contractor"), and in consideration of 
the mutual promises, covenants, terms, and conditions hereinafter contained, the parties hereby agree as 
follows: 
 TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF WORK. 

 The Contractor shall furnish to the County, upon its request, those services and work set forth in 
Attachment A, attached hereto and by reference incorporated herein.  Requests by the County to the 
Contractor to perform under this Agreement will be made by _________________________________, 
whose title is: __________________________________. Requests to the Contractor for work or services to 
be performed under this Agreement will be based upon the County's need for such services.  The County 
makes no guarantee or warranty, of any nature, that any minimum level or amount of services or work will be 
requested of the Contractor by the County under this Agreement.  County by this Agreement incurs no 
obligation or requirement to request from Contractor the performance of any services or work at all, even if 
County should have some need for such services or work during the term of this Agreement. 
 
 Services and work provided by the Contractor at the County's request under this Agreement will be 
performed in a manner consistent with the requirements and standards established by applicable federal, 
state, and County laws, ordinances, regulations, and resolutions.  Such laws, ordinances, regulations, and 
resolutions include, but are not limited to, those which are referred to in this Agreement. 

2. TERM. 

 The term of this Agreement shall be from                           to                                      
unless sooner terminated as provided below.  

3. CONSIDERATION. 

 A. Compensation.  County shall pay to Contractor in accordance with the Schedule of Fees 
(set forth as Attachment B) for the services and work described in Attachment A which are performed by 
Contractor at the County's request.  
 B. Travel and per diem. Contractor will not be paid or reimbursed for travel expenses or per 
diem which Contractor incurs in providing services and work requested by County under this Agreement.  
 C. No additional consideration. Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, Contractor 
shall not be entitled to, nor receive, from County, any additional consideration, compensation, salary, wages, 
or other type of remuneration for services rendered under this Agreement.  Specifically, Contractor shall not 
be entitled, by virtue of this Agreement, to consideration in the form of overtime, health insurance benefits,  
retirement benefits, disability retirement benefits, sick leave, vacation time, paid holidays, or other paid leaves 
of absence of any type or kind whatsoever. 
 D. Limit upon amount payable under Agreement. The total sum of all payments made by the 
County to Contractor for services and work performed under this Agreement shall not exceed 
________________________________________________________________________________ Dollars  



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 2     05/21/2019 

($______________________________) (hereinafter referred to as "contract limit").  County expressly 
reserves the right to deny any payment or reimbursement requested by Contractor for services or work 
performed which is in excess of the contract limit. 
 E. Billing and payment. Contractor shall submit to the County, once a month, an itemized 
statement of all services and work described in Attachment A, which were done at the County's request.  This 
statement will be submitted to the County not later than the fifth (5th) day of the month.  The statement to be 
submitted will cover the period from the first (1st) day of the preceding month through and including the last 
day of the preceding month.  This statement will identify the date on which the services and work were 
performed and describe the nature of the services and work which were performed on each day.  Upon timely 
receipt of the statement by the fifth (5th) day of the month, County shall make payment to Contractor on the 
last day of the month.  
 F. Federal and State taxes.   
 
  (1) Except as provided in subparagraph (2) below, County will not withhold any federal 
or state income taxes or social security from any payments made by County to Contractor under the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement. 
  (2) County will withhold California State income taxes from payments made under this 
Agreement to non-California resident independent contractors when it is anticipated that total annual 
payments to Contractor under this Agreement will exceed one thousand four hundred ninety nine dollars 
($1,499.00). 
  (3) Except as set forth above, County has no obligation to withhold any taxes or 
payments from sums paid by County to Contractor under this Agreement.  Payment of all taxes and other 
assessments on such sums is the sole responsibility of Contractor.  County has no responsibility or liability for 
payment of Contractor's taxes or assessments. 
  (4) The total amounts paid by County to Contractor, and taxes withheld from payments 
to non-California residents, if any, will be reported annually to the Internal Revenue Service and the California 
State Franchise Tax Board.  To facilitate this reporting, Contractor shall complete and submit to the County 
an  Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Form W-9 upon executing this Agreement. 
 
4. WORK SCHEDULE. 

 Contractor's obligation is to perform, in a timely manner, those services and work identified in 
Attachment A which are requested by the County.  It is understood by Contractor that the performance of 
these services and work will require a varied schedule.  Contractor will arrange his/her own schedule, but will 
coordinate with County to ensure that all services and work requested by County under this Agreement will 
be performed within the time frame set forth by County. 

5. REQUIRED LICENSES, CERTIFICATES, AND PERMITS. 

 A. Any licenses, certificates, or permits required by the federal, state, county, municipal 
governments, for contractor to provide the services and work described in Attachment A must be procured by 
Contractor and be valid at the time Contractor enters into this Agreement or as otherwise may be required.  
Further, during the term of this Agreement, Contractor must maintain such licenses, certificates, and permits  
in full force and effect.  Licenses, certificates, and permits may include, but are not limited to, driver's licenses, 
professional licenses or certificates, and business licenses.  Such licenses, certificates, and permits will be 
procured and maintained in force by Contractor at no expense to the County.  Contractor will provide County, 
upon execution of this Agreement, with evidence of current and valid licenses, certificates and permits which 
are required to perform the services identified in Attachment A.  Where there is a dispute between Contractor 
and County as to what licenses, certificates, and permits are required to perform the services identified in 
Attachment A, County reserves the right to make such determinations for purposes of this Agreement. 



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 3     05/21/2019 

 B. Contractor warrants that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for 
debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in covered transactions by any 
federal department or agency.  Contractor also warrants that it is not suspended or debarred from 
receiving federal funds as listed in the List of Parties Excluded from Federal Procurement or Non-
procurement Programs issued by the General Services Administration available at: http://www.sam.gov.  
 
6. OFFICE SPACE, SUPPLIES, EQUIPMENT, ET CETERA. 

 Contractor shall provide such office space, supplies, equipment, vehicles, reference materials, and 
telephone service as is necessary for Contractor to provide the services identified in Attachment A to this 
Agreement.  County is not obligated to reimburse or pay Contractor, for any expense or cost incurred by 
Contractor in procuring or maintaining such items.  Responsibility for the costs and expenses incurred by 
Contractor in providing and maintaining such items is the sole responsibility and obligation of Contractor. 

7. COUNTY PROPERTY. 

 A. Personal Property of County. Any personal property such as, but not limited to, protective or 
safety devices, badges, identification cards, keys, etc. provided to Contractor by County pursuant to this 
Agreement are, and at the termination of this Agreement remain, the sole and exclusive property of County.  
Contractor will use reasonable care to protect, safeguard and maintain such items while they are in 
Contractor's possession.  Contractor will be financially responsible for any loss or damage to such items, 
partial or total, which is the result of Contractor's negligence. 
 B. Products of Contractor's Work and Services.  Any and all compositions, publications, plans, 
designs, specifications, blueprints, maps, formulas, processes, photographs, slides, video tapes, computer 
programs, computer disks, computer tapes, memory chips, soundtracks, audio recordings, films, audio-visual 
presentations, exhibits, reports, studies, works of art, inventions, patents, trademarks, copyrights, or 
intellectual properties of any kind which are created, produced, assembled, compiled by, or are the result, 
product, or manifestation of, Contractor's services or work under this Agreement are, and at the termination of 
this Agreement remain, the sole and exclusive property of the County.  At the termination of the Agreement, 
Contractor will convey possession and title to all such properties to County. 
 
8. INSURANCE. 
 For the duration of this Agreement Contractor shall procure and maintain insurance of the scope 
and amount specified in Attachment C and with the provisions specified in that attachment.  

9. STATUS OF CONTRACTOR. 

 All acts of Contractor, its agents, officers, and employees, relating to the performance of this 
Agreement, shall be performed as independent contractors, and not as agents, officers, or employees of 
County.  Contractor, by virtue of this Agreement, has no authority to bind or incur any obligation on behalf of 
County.  Except as expressly provided in Attachment A, Contractor has no authority or responsibility to 
exercise any rights or power vested in the County.  No agent, officer, or employee of the Contractor is to be 
considered an employee of County.  It is understood by both Contractor and County that this Agreement shall 
not under any circumstances be construed or considered to create an employer-employee relationship or a 
joint venture.  As an independent contractor: 

 A. Contractor shall determine the method, details, and means of performing the work and 
services to be provided by Contractor under this Agreement. 
 B. Contractor shall be responsible to County only for the requirements and results specified in 
this Agreement, and except as expressly provided in this Agreement, shall not be subjected to County's 
control with respect to the physical action or activities of Contractor in fulfillment of this Agreement. 
 C. Contractor, its agents, officers, and employees are, and at all times during the term of this 
Agreement shall, represent and conduct themselves as independent contractors, and not as employees of 
County. 



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 4     05/21/2019 

 

10. DEFENSE AND INDEMNIFICATION. 

 Contractor shall hold harmless, defend and indemnify County and its officers, officials, employees 
and volunteers from and against any and all liability, loss, damage, expense, costs (including without 
limitation costs and fees of litigation) of ev
performance of work hereunder or its failure to comply with any of its obligations contained in the 
agreement, except such loss or damages which was caused by the sole negligence or willful misconduct 
of the County. 
 
11. RECORDS AND AUDIT. 
 
 A. Records.  Contractor shall prepare and maintain all records required by the various 
provisions of this Agreement, federal, state, county, municipal, ordinances, regulations, and directions.  
Contractor shall maintain these records for a minimum of four (4) years from the termination or completion of 
this Agreement.  Contractor may fulfill its obligation to maintain records as required by this paragraph by 
substitute photographs, microphotographs, or other authentic reproduction of such records. 
 B. Inspections and Audits.  Any authorized representative of County shall have access to any  
books, documents, papers, records, including, but not limited to, financial records of Contractor, which 
County determines to be pertinent to this Agreement, for the purposes of making audit, evaluation, 
examination, excerpts, and transcripts during the period such records are to be maintained by Contractor.  
Further, County has the right, at all reasonable times, to audit, inspect, or otherwise evaluate the work 
performed or being performed under this Agreement. 
 
12. NONDISCRIMINATION. 

 During the performance of this Agreement, Contractor, its agents, officers, and employees shall not 
unlawfully discriminate in violation of any federal, state, or local law, against any employee, or applicant for 
employment, or person receiving services under this Agreement, because of race, religion, color, national 
origin, ancestry, physical handicap, medical condition, marital status, age, or sex.  Contractor and its agents, 
officers, and employees shall comply with the provisions of the Fair Employment and Housing Act 
(Government Code section 12900, et seq.), and the applicable regulations promulgated thereunder in the 
California Code of Regulations.  Contractor shall also abide by the Federal Civil Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-
352) and all amendments thereto, and all administrative rules and regulations issued pursuant to said act. 

13. CANCELLATION. 

 This Agreement may be canceled by County without cause, and at will, for any reason by giving to 
Contractor thirty (30) days written notice of such intent to cancel.  Contractor may cancel this Agreement 
without cause, and at will, for any reason whatsoever by giving thirty (30) days written notice of such intent to 
cancel to County. 

14. ASSIGNMENT. 

 This is an agreement for the services of Contractor.  County has relied upon the skills, knowledge, 
experience, and training of Contractor as an inducement to enter into this Agreement.  Contractor shall not 
assign or subcontract this Agreement, or any part of it, without the express written consent of County.  
Further, Contractor shall not assign any monies due or to become due under this Agreement without the prior 
written consent of County. 



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 5     05/21/2019 

15. DEFAULT. 

 If the Contractor abandons the work, or fails to proceed with the work and services requested by 
County in a timely manner, or fails in any way as required to conduct the work and services as required by 
County, County may declare the Contractor in default and terminate this Agreement upon five (5) days written 
notice to Contractor.  Upon such termination by default, County will pay to Contractor all amounts owing to 
Contractor for services and work satisfactorily performed to the date of termination.   

16. WAIVER OF DEFAULT. 

 Waiver of any default by either party to this Agreement shall not be deemed to be waiver of any 
subsequent default.  Waiver or breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not be deemed to be a waiver 
of any other or subsequent breach, and shall not be construed to be a modification of the terms of this 
Agreement unless this Agreement is modified as provided in paragraph twenty-two (22) below. 

17. CONFIDENTIALITY. 

 Contractor further agrees to comply with the various provisions of the federal, state, and county laws, 
regulations, and ordinances providing that information and records kept, maintained, or accessible by 
Contractor in the course of providing services and work under this Agreement, shall be privileged, restricted, 
or confidential.  Contractor agrees to keep confidential all such information and records.  Disclosure of such 
confidential, privileged, or protected information shall be made by Contractor only with the express written 
consent of the County. Any disclosure 
consent is solely and exclusively the legal responsibility of Contractor in all respects.  

 Notwithstanding anything in the Agreement to the contrary, names of persons receiving public social 
services are confidential and are to be protected from unauthorized disclosure in accordance with Title 45, 
Code of Federal Regulations Section 205.50, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, 
and Sections 10850 and 14100.2 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and regulations adopted pursuant 
thereto.  For the purpose of this Agreement, all information, records, and data elements pertaining to 
beneficiaries shall be protected by the provider from unauthorized disclosure.  

18. CONFLICTS. 

 Contractor agrees that it has no interest, and shall not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, which 
would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of the work and services under this Agreement. 

19.   POST AGREEMENT COVENANT. 

 Contractor agrees not to use any confidential, protected, or privileged information which is gained 
from the County in the course of providing services and work under this Agreement, for any personal benefit, 
gain, or enhancement.  Further, Contractor agrees for a period of two years after the termination of this 
Agreement, not to seek or accept any employment with any entity, association, corporation, or person who, 
during the term of this Agreement, has had an adverse or conflicting interest with the County, or who has 
been an adverse party in litigation with the County, and concerning such, Contractor by virtue of this 
Agreement has gained access to the County's confidential, privileged, protected, or proprietary information. 



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 6     05/21/2019 

20. SEVERABILITY. 

 If any portion of this Agreement or application thereof to any person or circumstance shall be 
declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, or if it is found in contravention of any federal, state, or 
county statute, ordinance, or regulation, the remaining provisions of this Agreement, or the application 
thereof, shall not be invalidated thereby, and shall remain in full force and effect to the extent that the 
provisions of this Agreement are severable. 

21. FUNDING LIMITATION. 

 The ability of County to enter this Agreement is based upon available funding from various sources.  
In the event that such funding fails, is reduced, or is modified, from one or more sources, County has the 
option to cancel, reduce, or modify this Agreement, or any of its terms within ten (10) days of its notifying 
Contractor of the cancellation, reduction, or modification of available funding.  Any reduction or modification of 
this Agreement made pursuant to this provision must comply with the requirements of paragraph twenty-two 
(22) (Amendment). 

22. AMENDMENT. 

 This Agreement may be modified, amended, changed, added to, or subtracted from, by the mutual 
consent of the parties hereto, if such amendment or change is in written form and executed with the same 
formalities as this Agreement, and attached to the original Agreement to maintain continuity. 

23. NOTICE. 

 Any notice, communication, amendments, additions, or deletions to this Agreement, including 
change of address of either party during the terms of this Agreement, which Contractor or County shall be 
required, or may desire, to make, shall be in writing and may be personally served, or sent by prepaid first 
class mail to, the respective parties as follows: 

   County of Inyo 
                                                                          Department 
                                                                          Address 
                                                                          City and State 
 
   Contractor: 
                                                                          Name 
                                                                          Address  
                                                                          City and State 
 
24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. 

 This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties, and no representations, inducements, 
promises, or agreements otherwise between the parties not embodied herein or incorporated herein by 
reference, shall be of any force or effect.  Further, no term or provision hereof may be changed, waived, 
discharged, or terminated, unless the same be in writing executed by the parties hereto.  

  ////       //// 





 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 8     05/21/2019 

ATTACHMENT A 
 

  

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 

 AND __________________________________________________________ 

FOR THE PROVISION OF _____________________________________________________ SERVICES 

 

 TERM: 

           FROM:                          TO:       

 SCOPE OF WORK: 



AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 
AND The SmithWaters Group 

FOR THE PROVISION OF Patients’ Rights Advocacy 
 

Attachment A 
 

Scope of Work 
 
Contractor shall provide County with a countywide program for patients' rights advocacy for 
consumers of behavioral health services in all hospitals, skilled nursing facilities, board and care 
homes, day programs, or other behavioral health care facilities, and will provide advocacy 
services to clients of the Inyo County HHS Behavioral Health (ICHHS-BH) who are residing 
independently within Inyo County. For Inyo County resident clients placed out of Inyo County, 
Contractor will act as a liaison with advocates from other areas. 
 

1.  Specific duties shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

A. Contractor shall respond to and investigate the requests of the patients or requests 
made on behalf of the patients by relatives, service provider or designated 
caregivers. Contractor will maintain a significant regular visible presence in the 
County for purposes of promoting greater access and services for all members of 
the behavioral health community. The advocate is also available to assist with 
medication and problem resolution related to behavioral health issues when needed. 

 
B. Contractor shall also act in behalf of patients who are unable, because of their 

behavioral or physical condition, to request advocacy services but are in need of 
such services. 

 
C. Contractor shall provide training and education including but not limited to 

behavioral health law and patients’ rights statutes and regulations to behavioral 
health providers located in the County of Inyo. Training and educational services 
will be provided to all employees of the ICHHS BH Division as well as all 
contracted provider employees on minimally an annual basis. Select categories of 
employees (including but not limited to case managers, crisis team workers, etc.) 
shall receive more frequent trainings and updates as needed throughout the year. 
Specialty trainings (5150 documenting, rights violation documentation, etc.) will 
be scheduled on an “as needed” basis. Educational opportunities and trainings 
shall also be offered to all clients and community members throughout the year. 
Trainings will be provided in locations throughout the county that are accessible to 
all. 

 
D. Contractor shall ensure that recipients of behavioral health services in all Inyo 

County licensed health and community care facilities are notified of their rights. 
 

E. Contractor shall exchange information and cooperate with California Office of 
Patients’ Rights as well as other advocacy programs throughout California that may 
have need for mutual information sharing. 



 
F. Contractor shall meet with the ICHHS-BH designated leadership minimally on a 

monthly basis to discuss ongoing trends, issues and successes, and shall provide 
written narrative and statistical update reports on a monthly basis, with both 
Quarterly and Annual Summaries. Contractor shall attend and participate in all 
meetings as requested by the ICHHS Deputy Director of Behavioral Health or 
designee to provide any insight and support to the promotion of services within the 
County. Contractor also has significant experience working within the client 
community and will assist with client-related opportunities. 

 
2. Contractor shall comply with all the requirements regarding the confidentiality of patient 

information and records, including but not limited to WIC Section 5328, and Title 45, Section 
205.50, of the Code of Federal Regulations. Patient’s Rights Advocate will conform to all 
other applicable Federal and State statutes and regulations, including but not limited to the 
Deficit Reduction Act (DRA) of 2005, the Federal False Claims Act, the Health Insurance 
Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996, the HIPAA Omnibus Final Rule, and 
HITECH Act of 2010, and will make her best effort to preserve data integrity and the 
confidentiality of protected health information. 

3. Contractor shall maintain complete documentation of all requests, including the patient’s name 
and all advocacy activities; this information shall be presented in report form to the ICHHS 
BH Director or designee no later than the fifth (5th) working day of the month following the 
month of service.  The reports shall include information regarding patient’s grievance, 
allegations, and resolutions. 

 

4. Contractor shall meet with the ICHHS-BH Director or designee at reasonable times and places 
to facilitate open communications and resolution of problems. 

 
 



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 9     05/21/2019 

 ATTACHMENT B 

  
AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 

 AND __________________________________________________________ 

FOR THE PROVISION OF _____________________________________________________ SERVICES 

 

 

TERM: 

   FROM:                              TO:    

 SCHEDULE OF FEES: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 10     05/21/2019 

 

ATTACHMENT  C 
 
 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 

AND __________________________________________________________ 

FOR THE PROVISION OF _____________________________________________________ SERVICES 

 

TERM: 
 

   FROM:                              TO:     
 

SEE ATTACHED INSURANCE PROVISIONS  
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Attachment C: 2022 Insurance Requirements for Professional Services 
 

2022 County of Inyo Insurance Standards- No. 1 
Professional Services; Page  

Contractor shall procure and maintain for the duration of the contract insurance against claims for 
injuries to persons or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the performance 
of the work hereunder by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, or employees.  

MINIMUM SCOPE AND LIMIT OF INSURANCE  

Coverage shall be at least as broad as: 

1. Commercial General Liability (CGL): Insurance Services Office Form CG 00 01 covering CGL on an 
“occurrence” basis, including products and completed operations, property damage, bodily 
injury and personal & advertising injury with limits no less than $1,000,000 per occurrence. If a 
general aggregate limit applies, either the general aggregate limit shall apply separate to this 
project/location (ISO CG 25 03 or 25 04) or the general aggregate limit shall be twice the 
required occurrence limit.  

2. Automobile Liability: Insurance Services Office Form Number CA 0001 covering, Code 1 (any 
auto), or if Contractor has no owned autos, Code 8 (hired) and 9 (non-owned), with limit no less 
than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and property damage. Provision may be waived 
with signed letter on contractor’s letterhead certifying that no auto or mobile equipment will be 
used for/during the execution of the contract.  

3. Workers’ Compensation insurance as required by the State of California, with Statutory Limits, 
and Employer’s Liability Insurance with limit of no less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily 
injury or disease. May be waived with signed letter on contractor’s letterhead certifying that 
contractor has no employees. 

4. Professional Liability (Errors and Omissions) Insurance appropriate to the Contractor’s 
profession, with limit no less than $2,000,000 per occurrence or claim, $4,000,000 aggregate. 
Check with Risk Management if Professional Liability is required for the contract to which these 
requirements are attached. 

5. Cyber Liability Insurance, with limits not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence or claim. Provision 
may be waived if contractor will not be receiving/storing/transmitting personally identifiable 
information (PII) or personal medical information (PMI). Coverage shall be sufficiently broad to 
respond to the duties and obligations as is undertaken by contractor in this agreement and shall 
include, but not be limited to, claims involving infringement of intellectual property, including 
but not limited to infringement of copyright, trademark, trade dress, invasion of privacy 
violations, information theft, damage to or destruction of electronic information, release of 
private information, alteration of electronic information, extortion and network security. The 
policy shall provide coverage for breach response costs as well as regulatory fines and penalties 
as well as credit monitoring expenses with limits sufficient to respond to these obligations. 
Professional liability or general liability may be endorsed to include cyber coverage. 

If the Contractor maintains broader coverage and/or higher limits than the minimums shown above, 
Inyo County requires and shall be entitled to the broader coverage and/or the higher limits maintained 
by the contractor. Any available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits of 
insurance and coverage shall be available to Inyo County.  

OTHER INSURANCE PROVISIONS  

The insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions: 
 



Attachment C: 2022 Insurance Requirements for Professional Services 
 

2022 County of Inyo Insurance Standards- No. 1 
Professional Services; Page  

Additional Insured Status: Inyo County, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers are to be 
covered as additional insureds on the CGL policy with respect to liability arising out of work or 
operations performed by or on behalf of the Contractor including materials, parts, or equipment 
furnished in connection with such work or operations. General liability coverage can be provided in the 
form of an endorsement to the Contractor’s insurance (at least as broad as ISO Form CG 20 10 11 85 or 
if not available, through the addition of both CG 20 10, CG 20 26, CG 20 33, or CG 20 38; and CG 20 37 if 
a later edition is used).  

Primary Coverage: For any claims related to this contract, the Contractor’s insurance coverage shall be 
primary and non-contributory and at least as broad as ISO CG 20 01 04 13 as respects Inyo County, its 
officers, officials, employees, and volunteers. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by Inyo 
County, its officers, officials, employees, or volunteers shall be excess of the Contractor’s insurance and 
shall not contribute with it. This requirement shall also apply to any Excess or Umbrella liability policies.  

Umbrella or Excess Policy: The Contractor may use Umbrella or Excess Policies to provide the liability 
limits as required in this agreement. This form of insurance will be acceptable provided that all of the 
Primary and Umbrella or Excess Policies shall provide all of the insurance coverages herein required, 
including, but not limited to, primary and non-contributory, additional insured, Self-Insured Retentions 
(SIRs), indemnity, and defense requirements. The Umbrella or Excess policies shall be provided on a true 
“following form” or broader coverage basis, with coverage at least as broad as provided on the 
underlying Commercial General Liability insurance. No insurance policies maintained by the Additional 
Insureds, whether primary or excess, and which also apply to a loss covered hereunder, shall be called 
upon to contribute to a loss until the Contractor’s primary and excess liability policies are exhausted. 
 
Notice of Cancellation: Each insurance policy required above shall state that coverage shall not be 
canceled, except with notice to Inyo County.  
 
Waiver of Subrogation: Contractor hereby grants to Inyo County a waiver of any right to subrogation 
which any insurer of said Contractor may acquire against Inyo County by virtue of the payment of any 
loss under such insurance. Contractor agrees to obtain any endorsement that may be necessary to affect 
this waiver of subrogation, but this provision applies regardless of whether or not Inyo County has 
received a waiver of subrogation endorsement from the insurer.  
 
Self-Insured Retentions: Self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by Inyo County. Inyo 
County may require the Contractor to purchase coverage with a lower retention or provide proof of 
ability to pay losses and related investigations, claim administration, and defense expenses within the 
retention. The policy language shall provide, or be endorsed to provide, that the self-insured retention 
may be satisfied by either the named insured or Inyo County. The CGL and any policies, including Excess 
liability policies, may not be subject to a self-insured retention (SIR) or deductible that exceeds $25,000 
unless approved in writing by Inyo County. Any and all deductibles and SIRs shall be the sole 
responsibility of Contractor or subcontractor who procured such insurance and shall not apply to the 
Indemnified Additional Insured Parties. Inyo County may deduct from any amounts otherwise due 
Contractor to fund the SIR/deductible. Policies shall NOT contain any self-insured retention (SIR) 
provision that limits the satisfaction of the SIR to the Named. The policy must also provide that Defense 
costs, including the Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, will satisfy the SIR or deductible. Inyo County 
reserves the right to obtain a copy of any policies and endorsements for verification. 
 



Attachment C: 2022 Insurance Requirements for Professional Services 
 

2022 County of Inyo Insurance Standards- No. 1 
Professional Services; Page  

Acceptability of Insurers: Insurance is to be placed with insurers authorized to conduct business in the 
state with a current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A:VII, unless otherwise acceptable to Inyo County.  
 
Claims Made Policies: If any of the required policies provide coverage on a claims-made basis:  
1. The Retroactive Date must be shown and must be before the date of the contract or the beginning 

of contract work.  
2. Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance must be provided for at least five (5) years 

after completion of the contract of work.  
3. If coverage is canceled or non-renewed, and not replaced with another claims-made policy form 

with a Retroactive Date prior to the contract effective date, the Contractor must purchase 
“extended reporting” coverage for a minimum of five (5) years after completion of contract work.  

 
Verification of Coverage: Contractor shall furnish Inyo County with original certificates and amendatory 
endorsements or copies of the applicable policy language effecting coverage required by this clause and 
a copy of the Declarations and Endorsement Page of the CGL policy and any Excess policies listing all 
policy endorsements. All certificates and endorsements and copies of the Declarations and 
Endorsements pages are to be received ad approved by Inyo County before work commences. However, 
failure to obtain the required documents prior to the work beginning shall not waive the Contractor’s 
obligation to provide them. Inyo County reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all 
required insurance policies, including endorsements required by these specifications, at any time. Inyo 
County reserves the right to modify these requirements, including limits, based on the nature of the risk, 
prior experience, insurer, coverage, or other special circumstances.  
 
Subcontractors: Contractor shall require and verify that all subcontractors maintain insurance meeting 
all the requirements stated herein, and Contractor shall ensure that Inyo County is an additional insured 
on insurance required from subcontractors.  
 
Duration of Coverage: CGL & Excess liability policies for any construction related work, including, but 
not limited to, maintenance, service, or repair work, shall continue coverage for a minimum of 5 years 
for Completed Operations liability coverage. Such Insurance must be maintained and evidence of 
insurance must be provided for at least five (5) years after completion of the contract of work. 
 
Special Risks or Circumstances: Inyo County reserves the right to modify these requirements, including 
limits, based on the nature of the risk, prior experience, insurer, coverage, or other special 
circumstances. 
-end- 



 1

 
COUNTY OF INYO  

HIPAA BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT 
 
This Business Associate Agreement (“Agreement”) is made by and between the Inyo County Health and 
Human Services Behavioral Health Division, referred to herein as Covered Entity (“CE”), and 
____________________ , referred to herein as Business Associate (“BA”). This Agreement is effective 
as of  ______________ , (the “Agreement Effective Date”). 

 
RECITALS 
 
CE wishes to disclose certain information to BA pursuant to the terms of the contract between BA and the 
California Institute of Mental Health (“CIMH”), herein referred to as (“Contract”), some of which may 
constitute Protected Health Information (“PHI”) defined below.  

 
CE and BA intend to protect the privacy and provide for the security of PHI disclosed to BA pursuant to 
the Contract in compliance with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, Public 
Law 104-191 (“HIPAA”), the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, 
Public Law 111-005 (“the HITECH Act”), and regulations promulgated thereunder by the U.S. 
Department of Health and Human Services (the “HIPAA Regulations”) and other applicable laws. 
 
As part of the HIPAA Regulations, the Privacy Rule and the Security Rule (defined below) require CE to 
enter into a contract containing specific requirements with BA prior to the disclosure of PHI, as set forth 
in, but not limited to, Title 45, Sections 164.314(a), 164.502(e) and 164.504(e) of the Code of Federal 
Regulations (“C.F.R.”) and contained in this Agreement. 
 
In consideration of the mutual promises below and the exchange of information pursuant to this 
Agreement, the parties agree as follows: 
 
1. Definitions 
 

a. Breach shall have the meaning given to such term under the HITECH Act [42 U.S.C. Section 
17921]. 

 
b. Business Associate shall have the meaning given to such term under the Privacy Rule, the 

Security Rule, and the HITECH Act, including but not limited to, 42 U.S.C. Section 17938 and 
45 C.F.R. Section 160.103. 

 
c. Covered Entity shall have the meaning given to such term under the Privacy Rule and the 

Security Rule, including, but not limited to, 45 C.F.R. Section 160.103. 
 
d. Data Aggregation shall have the meaning given to such term under the Privacy Rule, including, 

but not limited to, 45 C.F.R. Section 164.501. 
 

e. Designated Record Set shall have the meaning given to such term under the Privacy Rule, 
including, but not limited to, 45 C.F.R. Section 164.501.  

 
f. Electronic Protected Health Information means Protected Health Information that is 

maintained in or transmitted by electronic media. 

The SmithWaters Group



 2

 
g. Electronic Health Record shall have the meaning given to such term in the HITECT Act, 

including, but not limited to, 42 U.S.C. Section 17921. 
 

h. Health Care Operations shall have the meaning given to such term under the Privacy Rule, 
including, but not limited to, 45 C.F.R. Section 164.501. 

 
i. Privacy Rule shall mean the HIPAA Regulation that is codified at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, 

Subparts A and E. 
 

j. Protected Health Information or PHI means any information, whether oral or recorded in any 
form or medium: (i) that relates to the past, present or future physical or mental condition of an 
individual; the provision of health care to an individual; or the past, present or future payment for 
the provision of health care to an individual; and (ii) that identifies the individual or with respect 
to which there is a reasonable basis to believe the information can be used to identify the 
individual, and shall have the meaning given to such term under the Privacy Rule, including, but 
not limited to, 45 C.F.R. Section 164.501. Protected Health Information includes Electronic 
Protected Health Information [45 C.F.R. Sections 160.103, 164.501]. 

 
k. Protected Information shall mean PHI provided by CE to BA or created or received by BA on 

CE’s behalf. 
 

l. Security Rule shall mean the HIPAA Regulation that is codified at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, 
Subparts A and C. 

 
m. Unsecured PHI shall have the meaning given to such term under the HITECH Act and any 

guidance issued pursuant to such Act including, but not limited to, 42 U.S.C. Section 17932(h). 
 
2. Obligations of Business Associate 
 

a. Permitted Uses. BA shall not use Protected Information except for the purpose of performing 
BA’s obligations under the Contract and as permitted under the Contract and Agreement. Further, 
BA shall not use Protected Information in any manner that would constitute a violation of the 
Privacy Rule or the HITECH Act if so used by CE. However, BA may use Protected Information 
(i) for the proper management and administration of BA, (ii) to carry out the legal responsibilities 
of BA, or (iii) for Data Aggregation purposes for the Health Care Operations of CE [45 C.F.R. 
Sections 164.504(e)(2)(ii)(A) and 164.504(e)(4)(i)]. 

 
b. Permitted Disclosures. BA shall not disclose Protected Information except for the purpose of 

performing BA’s obligations under the Contract and as permitted under the Contract and 
Agreement. BA shall not disclose Protected Information in any manner that would constitute a 
violation of the Privacy Rule or the HITECH Act if so disclosed by CE. However, BA may 
disclose Protected Information (i) for the proper management and administration of BA; (ii) to 
carry out the legal responsibilities of BA; (iii) as required by law; or (iv) for Data Aggregation 
purposes for the Health Care Operations of CE. If BA discloses Protected Information to a third 
party, BA must obtain, prior to making any such disclosure, (i) reasonable written assurances 
from such third party that such Protected Information will be held confidential as provided 
pursuant to this Agreement and only disclosed as required by law or for the purposes for which 
was disclosed to such third party, and (ii) a written agreement from such third party to 
immediately notify BA of any breaches of confidentiality of the Protected Information, to the 
extent it has obtained knowledge of such breach [42 U.S.C. Section 17932; 45 C.F.R. Sections 
164.504(e)(2)(i), 164.504(e)(2)(i)(B), 164.504(e)(2)(ii)(A) and 164.504(e)(4)(ii)]. 



 3

c. Prohibited Uses and Disclosures. BA shall not use or disclose Protected Information for 
fundraising or marketing purposes. BA shall not disclose Protected Information to a health plan 
for payment or health care operations purposes if the patient has requested this special restriction, 
and has paid out of pocket in full for the health care item or service to which the PHI solely 
relates [42 U.S.C. Section 17935(a)]. BA shall not directly or indirectly receive remuneration in 
exchange for Protected Information, except with the prior written consent of CE and as permitted 
by the HITECH Act, 42 U.S.C. section 17935(d)(2); however, this prohibition shall not affect 
payment by CIMH to BA for services provided pursuant to the Contract. 
 

 
d. Appropriate Safeguards. BA shall implement appropriate safeguards as are necessary to prevent 

the use or disclosure of Protected Information otherwise than as permitted by the Contract that 
reasonably and appropriately protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of the Protected 
Information, in accordance with 45 C.F.R. Sections 164.308, 164.310, and 164.312. [45 C.F.R. 
Section 164.504(e)(2)(ii)(B); 45 C.F.R. Section 164.308(b)]. BA shall comply with the policies 
and procedures and documentation requirements of the HIPAA Security Rule, including, but not 
limited to, 45 C.F.R. Section 164.316. [42 U.S.C. Section 17931]. 

 
e. Reporting of Improper Access, Use or Disclosure.  BA shall report to CE in writing of any 

access, use or disclosure of Protected Information not permitted by the Contract and Agreement, 
and any Breach of Unsecured PHI of which it becomes aware without unreasonable delay and in 
no case later than ten (10) calendar days after discovery [42 U.S.C. Section 17921; 45 C.F.R. 
Section 164.504(e)(2)(ii)(C); 45 C.F.R. Section 164.308(b)]. 

 
f. Business Associate’s Agents. BA shall ensure that any agents, including subcontractors, to 

whom it provides Protected Information, agree in writing to the same restrictions and conditions 
that apply to BA with respect to such PHI and implement the safeguards required by paragraph c 
above with respect to Electronic PHI [45 C.F.R. Section 164.504(e)(2)(ii)(D); 45 C.F.R. Section 
164.308(b)]. BA shall implement and maintain sanctions against agents and subcontractors that 
violate such restrictions and conditions and shall mitigate the effects of any such violation (see 45 
C.F.R. Sections 164.530(f) and 164.530(e)(1)). 

 
g. Access to Protected Information. BA shall make Protected Information maintained by BA or its 

agents or subcontractors in Designated Record Sets available to CE for inspection and copying 
within ten (10) days of a request by CE to enable CE to fulfill its obligations under the Privacy 
Rule, including, but not limited to, 45 C.F.R. Section 164.524 [45 CF.R. Section 
164.504(e)(2)(ii)(E)]. If BA maintains an Electronic Health Record, BA shall provide such 
information in electronic format to enable CE to fulfill its obligations under the HITECH Act, 
including, but not limited to, 42 U.S.C. Section 17935(e). 

 
h. Amendment of PHI. Within ten (10) days of receipt of a request from CE for an amendment of 

Protected Information or a record about an individual contained in a Designated Record Set, BA 
or its agents or subcontractors shall make such Protected Information available to CE for 
amendment and incorporate any such amendment to enable CE to fulfill its obligations under the 
Privacy Rule, including, but not limited to, 45 C.F.R. Section 164.526. If any individual requests 
an amendment of Protected Information directly from BA or its agents or subcontractors, BA 
must notify CE in writing within five (5) days of the request. Any approval or denial of 
amendment of Protected Information maintained by BA or its agents or subcontractors shall be 
the responsibility of CE [45 C.F.R. Section 164.504(e)(2)(ii)(F)]. 

 
i. Accounting Rights. Within ten (10) days of notice by CE of a request for an accounting of 

disclosures of Protected Information, BA and its agents or subcontractors shall make available to 
CE the information required to provide an accounting of disclosures to enable CE to fulfill its 



 4

obligations under the Privacy Rule, including, but not limited to, 45 C.F.R. Section 164.528, and 
the HITECH Act, including but not limited to 42 U.S.C. Section 17935(c), as determined by CE. 
BA agrees to implement a process that allows for an accounting to be collected and maintained by 
BA and its agents or subcontractors for at least six (6) years prior to the request. However, 
accounting of disclosures from an Electronic Health Record for treatment, payment or health care 
operations purposes are required to be collected and maintained for only three (3) years prior to 
the request, and only to the extent that BA maintains an electronic health record and is subject to 
this requirement. At a minimum, the information collected and maintained shall include: (i) the 
date of disclosure; (ii) the name of the entity or person who received Protected Information and, if 
known, the address of the entity or person; (iii) a brief description of Protected Information 
disclosed and (iv) a brief statement of purpose of the disclosure that reasonably informs the 
individual of the basis for the disclosure, or a copy of the individuals’ authorization, or a copy of 
the written request for disclosure. In the event that the request for an accounting is delivered 
directly to BA or its agents or subcontractors, BA shall within five (5) days of a request forward it 
to CE in writing. It shall be CE’s responsibility to prepare and deliver any such accounting 
requested. BA shall not disclose any Protected Information except as set forth in Sections 2.b. of 
this Agreement [45 C.F.R. Sections 164.504(e)(2)(ii)(G) and 165.528]. 

 
j. Governmental Access to Records. BA shall make its internal practices, books and records 

relating to the use and disclosure of Protected Information available to CE and to the Secretary of 
the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (the “Secretary”) for purposes of determining 
BA’s compliance with the Privacy Rule [45 C.F.R. Section 164.504(e)(2)(ii)(H)]. BA shall 
provide to CE a copy of any Protected Information that BA provides to the Secretary concurrently 
with providing such Protected Information to the Secretary. 

 
k. Minimum Necessary. BA (and its agents or subcontractors) shall request, use and disclose only 

the minimum amount of Protected Information necessary to accomplish the purpose of the 
request, use, or disclosure. [42 U.S.C. Section 17935(b); 45 C.F.R. Section 164.514(d)(3)] BA 
understands and agrees that the definition of “minimum necessary” is in flux and shall keep itself 
informed of guidance issued by the Secretary with respect to what constitutes “minimum 
necessary.” 

 
l. Data Ownership. BA acknowledges that BA has no ownership rights with respect to the 

Protected Information. 
 

m. Notification of Breach. During the term of the Contract, BA shall notify CE within twenty-four 
(24) hours of any suspected or actual breach of security, intrusion or unauthorized use or 
disclosure of PHI of which BA becomes aware and/or any actual or suspected use or disclosure of 
data in violation of any applicable federal or state laws or regulations. BA shall take (i) prompt 
corrective action to cure any such deficiencies and (ii) any action pertaining to such unauthorized 
disclosure required by applicable federal and state laws and regulations.  

 
n. Breach Pattern or Practice by Covered Entity. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Section 17934(b), if the 

BA knows of a pattern of activity or practice of the CE that constitutes a material breach or 
violation of the CE’s obligations under the Contract or Agreement or other arrangement, the BA 
must take reasonable steps to cure the breach or end the violation. If the steps are unsuccessful, 
the BA must terminate the Contract or other arrangement if feasible, or if termination is not 
feasible, report the problem to the Secretary of DHHS. BA shall provide written notice to CE of 
any pattern of activity or practice of the CE that BA believes constitutes a material breach or 
violation of the CE’s obligations under the Contract or Agreement or other arrangement within 
five (5) days of discovery and shall meet with CE to discuss and attempt to resolve the problem as 
one of the reasonable steps to cure the breach or end the violation. 

 



 5

o. Audits, Inspection and Enforcement. Within ten (10) days of a written request by CE, BA and 
its agents or subcontractors shall allow CE to conduct a reasonable inspection of the facilities, 
systems, books, records, agreements, policies and procedures relating to the use or disclosure of 
Protected Information pursuant to this Agreement for the purpose of determining whether BA has 
complied with this Agreement; provided, however, that (i) BA and CE shall mutually agree in 
advance upon the scope, timing and location of such an inspection, and (ii) CE shall protect the 
confidentiality of all confidential and proprietary information of BA to which CE has access 
during the course of such inspection. The fact that CE inspects, or fails to inspect, or has the right 
to inspect, BA’s facilities, systems, books, records, agreements, policies and procedures does not 
relieve BA of its responsibility to comply with this Agreement, nor does CE’s (i) failure to detect 
or (ii) detection, but failure to notify BA or require BA’s remediation of any unsatisfactory 
practices, constitute acceptance of such practice or a waiver of CE’s enforcement rights under the 
Contract or Agreement. BA shall notify CE within ten (10) days of learning that BA has become 
the subject of an audit, compliance review, or complaint investigation by the Office for Civil 
Rights.  

 
3. Termination 
 

a. Material Breach. A breach by BA of any provision of this Agreement, as determined by CE, 
shall constitute a material breach of the Contract and shall provide grounds for immediate 
termination of the Contract, any provision in the Contract to the contrary notwithstanding. [45 
C.F.R. Section 164.504(e)(2)(iii)]. 

 
b. Judicial or Administrative Proceedings. CE may terminate the Contract, effective immediately, 

if (i) BA is named as a defendant in a criminal proceeding for a violation of HIPAA, the HITECH 
Act, the HIPAA Regulations or other security or privacy laws or (ii) a finding or stipulation that 
the BA has violated any standard or requirement of HIPAA, the HITECH Act, the HIPAA 
Regulations or other security or privacy laws is made in any administrative or civil proceeding in 
which the party has been joined.  

 
c. Effect of Termination. Upon termination of the Contract for any reason, BA shall, at the option 

of CE, return or destroy all Protected Information that BA or its agents or subcontractors still 
maintain in any form, and shall retain no copies of such Protected Information. If return or 
destruction is not feasible, as determined by CE, BA shall continue to extend the protections of 
Section 2 of this Agreement to such information, and limit further use of such PHI to those 
purposes that make the return or destruction of such PHI infeasible. [45 C.F.R. Section 
164.504(e)(ii)(2(I)]. If CE elects destruction of the PHI, BA shall certify in writing to CE that 
such PHI has been destroyed. 

 
4. Disclaimer 
 
CE makes no warranty or representation that compliance by BA with this Agreement, HIPAA, the 
HITECH Act, or the HIPAA Regulations will be adequate or satisfactory for BA’s own purposes. BA is 
solely responsible for all decisions made by BA regarding the safeguarding of PHI. 
 
5. Amendment 
 
The parties acknowledge that state and federal laws relating to data security and privacy are rapidly 
evolving and that amendment of the Contract of Agreement may be required to provide for procedures to 
ensure compliance with such developments. The parties specifically agree to take such action as is 
necessary to implement the standards and requirements of HIPAA, the HITECH Act, the Privacy Rule, 
the Security Rule, and other applicable laws relating to the security or confidentiality of PHI. The parties 
understand ad agree that CE must receive satisfactory written assurance from BA that BA will adequately 





County of Inyo

Health & Human Services - Behavioral Health
 

CONSENT - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  June 28, 2022
 
FROM:  Lucy Vincent
 
SUBJECT:  Request approval of contract between the County of Inyo and I.D.E.A. Consulting
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board: A) declare I.D.E.A. Consulting of Davis, CA a sole-source provider of consulting services; B) 
approve the contract between the County of Inyo and I.D.E.A. Consulting for the provision of consulting services, 
in an amount not to exceed $15,000 for the period of July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023, contingent upon the 
Board’s approval of the Fiscal Year 2022-2023 Budget; and C) authorize the Chairperson to sign the contract and 
HIPAA Business Associate Agreement, contingent upon all appropriate signatures being obtained.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
The Department requests this contract as a sole-source contract due to the need for the specialized knowledge, 
experience and expertise brought by l.D.E.A. Consulting. lnyo County HHS Behavioral Health Division continues 
to benefit from the consultation and training services of Dr. Nancy Callahan and her staff at l.D.E.A. Consulting.

The contract includes access to a Relias Learning Management System. Relias Learning access includes 
webbased training for staff and consumers. l.D.E.A. Consulting staff members ensure that there is access to the 
product, updating of the offerings and monitoring use and assignment of courses. The consultation has involved 
continued development of mandated behavioral health compliance and quality improvement policies, trainings 
and continuing education relevant to public behavioral health services. Dr. Callahan works with several small 
counties and has also been instrumental in the development of the MHSA plans written to meet the requirements 
of the Act as well as assisting with MHSA audits and reviews. MHSA funds make up approximately a third of the 
mental health budget.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
N/A
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
Your Board could deny the contract and direct staff to identify other means to accomplish this task.  This would 
limit access to expertise that has proven very valuable as well as cost-effective.
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
Stakeholders and partners include consumers of behavioral health services and their families as well as a wide 
array of representatives of such entities as Schools, Law Enforcement, Senior Services providers, Courts, 



Agenda Request 
Page 2

Probation, Health and Human Services, Ethnic-Specific groups, Development Disabilities, and Special Education.
 
FINANCING:
Mental Health Realignment and MHSA funds. This expense will be budgeted in the Mental Health Budget 
(045200) in Professional Services (5265). No County General Funds.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. IDEA Consulting Contract 
2. HIPAA Business Associate Agreement
 
APPROVALS:
Lucy Vincent Created/Initiated - 6/2/2022
Darcy Ellis Approved - 6/2/2022
Lucy Vincent Approved - 6/20/2022
Anna Scott Approved - 6/21/2022
Melissa Best-Baker Approved - 6/22/2022
John Vallejo Approved - 6/22/2022
Amy Shepherd Approved - 6/22/2022
Anna Scott Final Approval - 6/23/2022









































County of Inyo

Probation
 

CONSENT - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  June 28, 2022
 
FROM:  Jeffrey Thomson
 
SUBJECT:  Approve Agreement # 4 between the County of Inyo and Tuolumne County
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board approve Amendment No. 4 to the Agreement between the County of Inyo and the County of 
Tuolumne to extend the Agreement from July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2023 with the daily rate per youth placed at the 
Mother Lode Regional Juvenile Detention Facility at $175.00 per day with a guarantee of one (1) bed at the 
Tuolumne Juvenile Hall and $210.00 per day for every subsequent bed used by Inyo County, contingent upon 
the Board's approval of the Fiscal Year 2022-2023 Budget, and authorize the Chairperson and Chief Probation 
Officer to sign.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
As a result of transitioning the Inyo County Juvenile Center from a full service juvenile hall to a special purpose 
juvenile hall, the County of Inyo entered into an agreement with Tuolumne County on September 22, 2017, to 
obtain facilities and services for the detention and/or commitment of juvenile offenders. In the last 3 years Inyo 
County has averaged approximately 3 youth per day detained in any of the five (5) juvenile halls that Inyo has a 
memorandum of agreement with for detention beds. These MOAs include: El Dorado County at a cost of $90/day 
for detention and $100/day for the commitment program; Kern County at a cost of $175/day for detention and 
$200/day for the commitment program; and Tulare County at a cost of $135/day. In an effort to utilize detention 
beds in the most cost effective way, a contract with Tuolumne for one (1) guaranteed bed is recommended. In 
addition, if the State is successful in closing the Department of Juvenile Justice facilities (DJJ), it will become 
increasingly difficult to secure a bed for our local youth who may be in need of detention. It is the expectation of 
the Governor that all youthful offenders will be detained in local county facilities. The State no longer will house 
youthful offenders. This means that youth who were previously committed to DJJ will be detained in local facilities 
thereby decreasing the number of beds available to counties who do not have a juvenile hall. Currently there are 
16 counties that do not have a juvenile hall.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
N/A
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
N/A
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:



Agenda Request 
Page 2

N/A
 
FINANCING:
These funds will be taken out of the Out Of County budget (023101) Professional Services (5265).
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Tuolumne County Agreement Amendment No. 4 
2. Tuolumne County Memorandum of Understanding
3. Tuolumne County Agreement Amendment No. 1
4. Tuolumne County Agreement Amendment No. 2
5. Tuolumne County Agreement Amendment No. 3
 
APPROVALS:
Krystal Leonard Created/Initiated - 6/14/2022
Darcy Ellis Approved - 6/14/2022
Krystal Leonard Approved - 6/14/2022
John Vallejo Approved - 6/14/2022
Amy Shepherd Approved - 6/14/2022
Krystal Leonard Approved - 6/14/2022
Jeffrey Thomson Final Approval - 6/14/2022





































County of Inyo

Public Works
 

CONSENT - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  June 28, 2022
 
FROM:  Ashley Helms
 
SUBJECT:  Contract with Flight Tech Inc for flight procedure design
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board:
A)    Declare Flight Tech, Inc. of Englewood, CO a sole-source provider of flight procedure design services;
B)    Approve the Master Service Agreement between the County of Inyo and Flight Tech, Inc. of Englewood, CO 
for the provision of flight procedure design services for the period beginning June 30, 2022 and ending when 
terminated as defined in Article 8, contingent upon the Board’s approval of future budgets, and authorize the 
Chairperson to sign, contingent upon all appropriate signatures being obtained; and
C)    Approve the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with Mammoth Lakes Tourism and authorize the 
Chairperson to sign.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
As discussed in the Air Service Workshop on June 14, United Airlines, and their partner SkyWest, are very 
interested in serving the Bishop Airport (BIH) with the Embraer 175 as soon as possible.  The switch from the 
CRJ 700 would decrease the number of mechanical cancellations/delays, as it is a much newer aircraft and 
SkyWest has a larger fleet - 196 E-175's versus 19 CRJ 700's.  For SkyWest to begin using the 76 seater E-175, 
new instrument approach procedures must be developed for Runway 12 and Runway 30.  A portion of the 
SkyWest E-175 fleet is equipped with Wide Area Augmentation System (WAAS), which significantly increases 
the accuracy of GPS approaches, allowing for lower visibility minimums.

Instrument approach procedures can be designed by the FAA or an FAA authorized third party procedure 
developer. Development through the FAA can take up to 5 years, while third party development can be completed in a 
year or less. Flight Tech, Inc. is an FAA authorized consultant that specializes in procedure design for challenging 
mountain airport environments.  Under this proposed contract, Flight Tech would design two WAAS-enabled 
approach procedures and one obstacle departure procedure for BIH.  These would be Special Instrument 
Procedures, usable only by SkyWest and potential future users approved by both Flight Tech and the FAA.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
Your Board could choose not to approve the sole source designation and contract and instruct staff to pursue the 
design of a new approach procedure through the FAA or to solicit proposals from other firms.  There would likely 



Agenda Request 
Page 2

be development and ongoing maintenance costs charged by the FAA for their services, and the timeframe of 
FAA development could lead to a gap in service if additional CRJ 700's are decommissioned.  
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
Mammoth Lakes Tourism
 
FINANCING:
The costs associated with the approach development phase of this contract, which is anticipated to be $89,000, 
will be split between Mammoth Lakes Tourism and Inyo County as defined in the MOU.  The County portion will 
be paid over two fiscal years from the Bishop Airport Operating Budget (150100), Object Code 5265 
(Professional Services).  Section 1.1 of the Fee Schedule notes that the total development costs could increase 
to $103,000 if SkyWest was unable to provide an aircraft for the commissioning flight. However, this is not 
anticipated.  

The ongoing maintenance phase of the contract includes three distinct items, which amount to an annualized 
cost of $20,525:

1. Obstacle Evaluation and Notice to Airmen (NOTAM) Monitoring - $8,915 per year
2. Flight Segment Obstacle Validation and FAA Reporting (for two approach procedures) - $9,540 every 1.5 

years
3. Instrument Flight Procedure Periodic Review (for two approach procedures and one departure procedure) 

- $10,500 every two years.

An MOU with SkyWest in regards to the cost sharing for the ongoing maintenance costs is being developed and 
will be brought before your Board for approval at a future date. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Master Service Agreement Scope of Work
2. MLT-Inyo MOU for FT approach procedure
 
APPROVALS:
Ashley Helms Created/Initiated - 6/15/2022
Darcy Ellis Approved - 6/16/2022
Ashley Helms Approved - 6/23/2022
John Vallejo Approved - 6/24/2022
Amy Shepherd Final Approval - 6/24/2022



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 1  
 

 
 

Master Services Agreement 
for the County of Inyo, California 

 
This Master Services Agreement ("Agreement") is made as of this 13th day of June, 2022 
between the County of Inyo, a political subdivision of the State of California (“County”) 
and Flight Tech Engineering, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company ("Flight Tech” or 
“FTE").  County and Flight Tech are sometimes individually referred to herein as a “Party” 
and collectively as the “Parties". 
 

RECITALS 

-I- Flight Tech is an FAA approved third-party Navigation Services Provider and flight 
operations consulting firm with expertise in assessing, designing, and implementing 
instrument flight procedures (each, a “Flight Procedure” and collectively, “Flight 
Procedures”) to airports and heliports across the United States.  Flight Tech also conducts 
ongoing maintenance of such Flight Procedures in accordance with Flight Tech’s FAA 
approved maintenance program (“Maintenance”).   Flight Tech provides airport and 
aircraft operators with a broad array of survey, feasibility, performance, and other 
consulting services for both private and public applications (“Consulting Services”). 

-II- County desires to engage Flight Tech to provide Services and/or Deliverables (each 
as defined below) under the terms and conditions described in this Agreement.  
 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the agreements made herein and for other good 
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, County and Flight Tech agree as follows: 
 

ARTICLE 1. STATEMENT OF WORK, TIMING, COMPENSATION  

General: All services and deliverables (each, a “Service” and collectively, the “Services” 
and/or each, a “Deliverable” and collectively, the “Deliverables”) provided by Flight Tech 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 2  
 

under this Agreement (whether Flight Procedures, Maintenance, or Consulting Services), 
including all fees and cost reimbursements therefor, will be performed and delivered by 
Flight Tech as set forth in individual Statements of Work agreed to and executed by 
authorized representatives of each of the Parties (each, an “SOW” and collectively, 
“SOWs”) from time to time during the term of this Agreement.  Each SOW will reference 
and be governed by and subject to the terms of this Agreement.  No SOW may change 
any of the terms of this Agreement.  Furthermore, each SOW will become incorporated 
into and become binding provisions of this Agreement. All Agreement documents are 
interpreted together as one agreement. If there is an irreconcilable conflict among the 
provisions of these documents, the following order of precedence applies: (a) any 
document executed by both Parties after execution of this Agreement that is expressly 
intended to amend or supersede the terms of this Agreement; (b) this Agreement, 
including any amendments or modifications thereto; (c) an SOW issued pursuant to this 
Agreement and any supplemental terms included or incorporated by reference therein; 
then (d) other documents agreed to in writing by the Parties. 

A. Description of Services: FTE shall render the Services and/or prepare the 
Deliverables to County described and agreed to in each SOW and perform the 
tasks included therein (each, a “Task” and collectively, the “Tasks”), at the 
specified billing rates set forth in each respective SOW. FTE shall be solely 
responsible for the conduct, actions, and supervision of its officers, directors, 
members, employees, and subcontractors (collectively, "Personnel"). All Services 
and Deliverables shall be performed and rendered in a manner consistent with the 
generally accepted standards of the industry. 
 

B. Resources:  Unless otherwise expressly provided, Flight Tech will be solely responsible 
for the means, methods, and procedures of performing this Agreement and each 
SOW, providing all resources and facilities, including, but not limited to, computers, 
aviation design software, telecommunications systems, storage systems, office 
facilities, Personnel and other resources necessary to provide the Services and 
Deliverables. Any services, functions or responsibilities not specifically described in 
an SOW that are incidental to or reasonably necessary to accomplish such SOW 
will be deemed to be implied by and included within the scope of such SOW to 
the same extent and in the same manner as if specifically described in such SOW. 
 

C. Changes: County has the right to request additions to or deletions from the Services 
and/or Deliverables set forth in any SOW.  Upon a request for any such change, the 
Parties shall negotiate the change to the fee resulting from such request, based on 
the formula used to establish the existing fee, or where appropriate using the Flight 
Tech standard hourly consulting rate.  Any changes to an SOW shall only become 
effective when agreed to and approved by both Parties in writing. 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 3  
 

ARTICLE 2. INVOICING, ADDITIONAL SERVICES, COST REIMBURSEMENT 

A. Flight Tech shall invoice County for such fees as described within each respective 
SOW or as agreed upon by both Parties upon the completion of such Service, 
Deliverable, or Task. 
 

B. County agrees to pay the amount invoiced within thirty (30) days of the submission 
of an invoice for the amounts owed thereunder. 

 

ARTICLE 3. PAYMENT 

Payment shall be made by check via United States first-class or certified mail to the 
following: 

Flight Tech Engineering, LLC 
Attn: Accounting 
PO Box 3596 
Englewood, CO 80155 
 
Direct deposit information is available upon request. 
 

ARTICLE 4.  EFFECTIVE DATE and TERM 
 
The effective date of this Agreement is the date on which it is signed by both FTE and 
County; provided, however, in the event this Agreement is not counter-signed and 
returned by County to FTE on or before June 30, 2022, Flight Tech withdraws this 
Agreement and any SOW attached hereto all of which shall be null and void.  In the event 
this Agreement is counter-signed and returned by County to FTE on or before June 30, 
2022, this Agreement shall continue in effect indefinitely, or until terminated by the Parties 
in accordance with Article 8.  Subject to the foregoing, the term of any individual SOW for 
the completion of Services, Deliverables, or Tasks contained therein shall be governed by 
the respective SOW. 
 

ARTICLE 5.  AIRPORT ENVIRONMENT CHANGE NOTIFICATIONS 

Due to reliance on automated weather reporting capabilities, government/airport 
owned navigational facilities, visual aids, changing airport conditions, FAA TERPS criteria 
updates, uncontrolled obstacles affecting the Vertical Guidance Surface (VGS), 20:1 
Visual, or 34:1 Visual surfaces, OE/AAA submittals made before and after Flight Procedure 
FAA approval, and other forces outside of FTE’s control, FTE cannot guarantee any Flight 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 4  
 

Procedure approach minimums, procedure routes, or capabilities will remain unchanged 
both before and after FAA approval of such Flight Procedure. As information is made 
available to FTE, it will make updates in accordance with its FAA approved Maintenance 
program.  Furthermore, FTE cannot guarantee the performance or completion factor of 
aircraft using any Flight Procedure due to pilot and equipage differences, weather 
factors, and safety factors outside of FTE’s control. 

During the term of this Agreement, County shall notify FTE of any changes affecting the 
airport environment or Flight Procedures as soon as reasonably possible after its discovery.  
If necessary, Flight Tech will respond by issuing an FDC Temporary NOTAM specific to the 
Flight Procedures.  If the terrain or obstacle status changes after submission and/or FAA 
approval of any Flight Procedure, a modification to the Flight Procedure may be required. 
For Flight Procedures County owns under the terms of an SOW and this Agreement, 
modifying the Flight Procedure is considered a major amendment and may require a new 
flight validation and FAA approval process subject to the time and materials costs and 
fees in the applicable SOW or as agreed to by the Parties and Flight Tech shall invoice 
County in accordance with Article 2 of this Agreement. 

 
ARTICLE 6. CHANGES, MODIFICATIONS 

Mutually agreed upon changes and/or modifications to this Agreement shall be in writing 
and signed by FTE and County.  The modification shall cite the subject Agreement and 
shall state the exact nature of the modification. No oral statement by any person shall be 
interpreted as modifying or otherwise affecting the terms of this Agreement. 
 

ARTICLE 7. POINTS OF CONTACT 

Flight Tech Engineering, LLC 
Attn:  Alec Seybold 
P.O. Box 3596 
Englewood, CO 80155 
(303) 957-6010 
 
County of Inyo 
Attn:  Ashley Helms 
Deputy Director of Public Works - Airports 
703 Airport Rd  
Bishop, CA 93514  
(760) 878-0200 
 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 5  
 

ARTICLE 8.  TERMINATION 
 

A. County may terminate this Agreement by providing ninety (90) days written notice 
to Flight Tech, provided County shall remain liable for any unpaid amounts due 
from County to Flight Tech hereunder.  In addition, should a termination occur 
during Flight Tech’s performance of a Service, Deliverable, or Task, then the 
compensation provided for the completion of such Service, Deliverable, or Task 
shall be reasonably prorated based on the percentage of the Service, Deliverable, 
or Task already performed by Flight Tech. 
 

B. Flight Tech may terminate this Agreement by written notice to County if County 
fails to fulfill its obligations to promptly pay invoices or otherwise breaches this 
Agreement, provided that Flight Tech first advises County in writing that it is in 
default and gives ten (10) days to cure such default, except in the case of a 
breach by County related to safety, health, or security in which case Flight Tech 
may immediately terminate this Agreement or any SOW without notice.  In the 
event of default or breach by County, Flight Tech may collect reasonable costs, 
statutory interest, and attorney’s fees in addition to any amount owed by County 
to Flight Tech. 
 

C. If this Agreement, or the Maintenance of any Flight Procedure provided for in an 
SOW, or such SOW itself, terminates, the Flight Procedure will be cancelled as 
required by the FAA. 

 

ARTICLE 9.  OWNERSHIP AND POSSESSION OF WORK PRODUCT, DELIVERABLES, 
CONFIDENTIALITY 
 

A. Should County, under the terms of an SOW, agree to purchase any Service or 
Deliverable therein, County’s ownership shall be subject to the applicable terms of 
this Agreement including the restrictions and limitations agreed to in Article 15 
below.  All such data, information, reports, drawings, renderings or other such 
documents or materials, whether or not electronic, ("Work Product''), except for 
data, programs, or other material previously owned by or licensed to FTE, shall be 
owned by County and delivered to it upon the termination of such SOW or this 
Agreement or when otherwise requested by County.  Flight Tech may retain a copy 
of all Work Product for its records. 
 

B. Should County, under the terms of an SOW, agree to subscribe to any Service or 
Deliverable therein, County shall not own the Service or Deliverable but is hereby 
granted a non-exclusive, non-transferable, non-assignable, non-sublicensable, 
limited right and license to use such Service or Deliverable subject to the 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 6  
 

applicable terms and conditions of this Agreement including the restrictions and 
limitations agreed to in Article 15 below.  In such case, Flight Tech is the owner of 
(a) all right, title, and interest in such Service or Deliverable; (b) any content, data 
and other materials made available through use of such Service or Deliverable; 
and (c) all modifications and enhancements of any of the foregoing, including all 
copyright rights, patent rights and other intellectual property rights in each of the 
foregoing. Under no circumstances may County or any other person acting by or 
through County (i) reverse engineer, decompile, disassemble or otherwise attempt 
to discover the object code, source code or underlying ideas or algorithms of any 
such Service or Deliverable; or (ii) modify, translate, or create derivative works 
based on any element of such Service or Deliverable or any related Work Product 
or documentation.  Upon any termination or expiration of the term of such SOW or 
this Agreement, the foregoing right and license shall terminate and County shall 
immediately cease use of the Service or Deliverable. 
 

C. All information, documents and material provided by one Party to the other Party 
and not within the public domain shall be marked and treated as confidential and 
shall not be reproduced, transmitted, used, or disclosed by the other Party except 
in furtherance of its obligations under this Agreement or with the written consent of 
the other Party or as otherwise required by law.  

 

ARTICLE 10. WARRANTY, DISCLAIMER, LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 
 
Flight Tech represents and warrants for the sole benefit of County as follows:  (a) that any 
Flight Procedure included in the Services and Deliverables, as of the date of final delivery 
to County following and conditioned upon FAA approval of such Flight Procedure, will 
have been approved by the FAA either as a Special procedure pursuant to relevant FAA 
criteria, including FAA Order (FAAO) Nos.: 8260.3, 8260.19, 8260.58, and 8260.60 as 
amended (plus any criteria waivers as required), and not processed under Title 14, Code 
of Federal Regulations (14 CFR), Part 97, or as a public Instrument Flight Procedure 
processed under Title 14, Code of Federal Regulations (14 CFR), Part 97; (b) that any 
Maintenance of such Flight Procedure included in the Services and Deliverables will be 
performed in accordance with Flight Tech’s FAA authorized maintenance program; and 
(c) that any Consulting Services included in the Services and Deliverables will be rendered 
and provided in accordance with commercially reasonable standards and practices. 
Flight Tech’s sole liability and obligation, and County’s exclusive and sole remedy in the 
event the foregoing FAA approval of any Flight Procedure is suspended or revoked by the 
FAA during the term of this Agreement or an applicable SOW due to any deficiency 
directly caused by Flight Tech is for Flight Tech to use commercially reasonable efforts to 
secure prompt re-approval of the Flight Procedure by the FAA at no cost to County, it 
being specifically agreed that Flight Tech shall have no liability or obligation, and County 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 7  
 

shall have no remedy, in the event the Flight Procedure is suspended or revoked for any 
other reason, including for acts or omissions directly or indirectly attributable to County’s 
or any other party’s misuse of or failure to properly implement use of the Flight Procedure 
(or any Maintenance thereof).  Flight Tech’s sole liability and obligation, and County’s 
exclusive and sole remedy in the event of County’s claim that the Consulting Services 
have not been rendered and provided in accordance with commercially reasonable 
standards and practices is to provide corrections to the Consulting Services at no cost to 
County. Flight Tech’s sole liability and obligation, and County’s exclusive and sole remedy 
in the event of County’s claim that any Maintenance of an FAA approved Flight 
Procedure included in the Services and Deliverables has not been performed in 
accordance with Flight Tech’s FAA authorized maintenance program is to provide 
corrections to the Maintenance at no cost to County. 

EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN THIS ARTICLE 10, FLIGHT TECH MAKES NO WARRANTY 
OF ANY KIND, WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED, STATUTORY, OR OTHERWISE RELATING TO THE 
SERVICES OR DELIVERABLES INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THEIR ACCURACY, 
RELIABILITY, COMPLETENESS, TIMELINESS, OR ERROR-FREE OPERATION.  FURTHERMORE, 
FLIGHT TECH HEREBY SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ALL IMPLIED WARRANTIES, INCLUDING ANY 
WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, EVEN IF FLIGHT 
TECH HAS BEEN MADE AWARE OF SUCH PURPOSE, TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY 
APPLICABLE LAW.  EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY AGREED TO IN THIS ARTICLE 10, THE 
SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES ARE PROVIDED ON AN ‘AS IS’ BASIS AND COUNTY ASSUMES 
ALL RISK WITH RESPECT TO USE OF THE SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES. 

THE ENTIRE LIABILITY OF FLIGHT TECH AND ITS MEMBERS, EMPLOYEES, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, 
AND AFFLIATES (COLLECTIVELY, THE “REPRESENTATIVES”) FOR ANY REASON SHALL BE 
LIMITED TO AN AMOUNT EQUAL TO THE FEES PAID BY COUNTY TO FLIGHT TECH FOR THE 
SPECIFIC SERVICES AND/OR DELIVERABLES GIVING RISE TO THE LIABILITY.  TO THE MAXIMUM 
EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, FLIGHT TECH AND ITS REPRESENTATIVES ARE NOT 
LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES 
(INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO DAMAGES FOR LOSS OF BUSINESS, LOSS OF PROFITS OR 
INVESTMENT, OR THE LIKE) ARISING UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, OR RELATED TO THE SERVICES 
OR DELIVERABLES, WHETHER BASED ON BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, 
TORT (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), PRODUCT LIABILITY OR OTHERWISE, EVEN IF FLIGHT TECH 
OR ITS REPRESENTATIVES HAVE BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES, AND 
EVEN IF A REMEDY SET FORTH HEREIN IS FOUND TO HAVE FAILED ITS ESSENTIAL PURPOSE.  THE 
LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY SET FORTH ABOVE ARE FUNDAMENTAL ELEMENTS OF THE BASIS OF 
THE BARGAIN BETWEEN FLIGHT TECH AND COUNTY. THE PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THE 
LIMITATIONS SET FORTH IN THIS ARTICLE 10 WERE ARRIVED AT IN CONSIDERATION OF THE 
MUTUAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES SET FORTH HEREIN AND ARE INTEGRAL TO THE FEES 
CHARGED HEREUNDER FOR THE SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES PROVIDED HEREUNDER AND 
RECOGNIZE THAT WERE FLIGHT TECH TO ASSUME ANY FURTHER LIABILITY BEYOND THAT 
AGREED TO HEREIN, SUCH FEES WOULD BE SUBSTANTIALLY HIGHER.  



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 8  
 

ARTICLE 11. INSURANCE 
 
Flight Tech will maintain the following insurance: 
 

A. Workers Compensation and Employer's Liability. 
 

B. Commercial General Liability. 
 

C. Automobile Liability.  
 

D. Professional Liability. 

If under the terms of an SOW, County is required to provide an aircraft to Flight Tech for 
the accomplishment of any Task, County will ensure that the liability insurance coverage 
for such aircraft and its owner/operator includes Flight Tech as an additional named 
insured with a waiver of subrogation against Flight Tech.  County shall provide Flight Tech 
with a written Declaration or Certificate of Insurance acceptable to Flight Tech 
evidencing same prior to use of the aircraft with respect to any Task. 
 

ARTICLE 12. OPERATOR RESPONSIBILITIES 

Should any SOW include one or more Flight Procedures which are classified as Special 
procedures, County and any Approved Third-Party (as defined in Article 15 below) are 
solely responsible for obtaining an FAA Letter of Authorization (LOA), Operation 
Specification (OpSpec), Navigation Specification, (NavSpec) or other required FAA 
approval.  A condition of such authorization may require additional crew training, aircraft 
equipment or performance capabilities, and/or the use of landing aids, communications, 
or weather services not generally available for public use.  County and any Approved 
Third-Party (as defined in Article 15 below) are solely responsible for proper use of and 
assume all risks with respect to use of any Flight Procedures, whether Special or public. 

Flight Data Center (FDC) Notices to Airmen (NOTAMs) may be used to promulgate safety-
of-flight information relating to private special flight procedures. Pilots may access 
NOTAMs online or through an FAA Flight Service Station (FSS). FSS specialists will not 
automatically provide NOTAM information to pilots or dispatchers for Special procedures 
during telephone pre-flight briefings. When authorized by the FAA to use Special 
procedures, pilots must specifically request FDC NOTAM information for the particular 
Special procedure they plan to use. 

Furthermore, should the Flight Procedures include one or more Special procedures, such 
Flight Procedures require a tailored chart and navigation database subscription from a 
third-party provider selected by County.  As part of this Agreement, Flight Tech agrees to 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 9  
 

provide the Flight Procedures’ ARINC 424 data to County’s navigation and chart 
database provider; however, County is solely responsible for all tailored and/or test 
database creation and subscription costs therefor.  Unless otherwise specifically stated in 
the Agreement or any SOW, the following services are not provided under this Agreement: 
development of aircraft operator training programs (e.g., Advanced Qualification 
Programs), production grade approach charts, take-off and landing performance data, 
one engine inoperative missed approach, and one engine inoperative departure 
procedures. 

The Flight Procedures will utilize satellite-based navigation to provide lateral and vertical 
course and range guidance. When flown as designed, the Flight Procedures are intended 
to provide obstacle clearance in instrument conditions, and for approaches, down to the 
Minimum Descent Altitude (MDA), Decision Altitude (DA), or Missed Approach Point (for a 
“Fly Visual”, “Proceed Visually”, “Proceed VFR”, or RNAV Visual Flight Procedure (RVFP) 
segment) at which time:  if the pilot can acquire and maintain the applicable required 
visual references, a landing can be initiated. Descent below the MDA/DA or beyond the 
MAP is not allowed if the required visual references cannot be identified and maintained 
until landing, in which case initiation of the missed approach is required. If the required 
visual references are obtained, it is the responsibility of the pilot in command (PIC) to 
determine if a transition to a stabilized visual approach to the runway can be made. For 
a “Fly Visual”, “Proceed Visually”, “Proceed VFR”, or RVFP segment, obstacle and terrain 
avoidance from the MAP to the landing surface may be the responsibility of the pilot and 
a missed approach procedure may NOT be provided between the MAP and the landing 
surface. 

If the PIC perceives that conditions are unsafe while in flight, or believes the assigned 
course is unreasonably hazardous, the PIC should reject the approach and divert to 
another airport or hold at the established point. Air traffic controllers and FTE do not have 
the capability for determining whether a given weather situation is "safe for landing;" the 
final decision as to whether to undertake the landing is solely with the PIC. 

It is the responsibility of County or any Approved Third-Party (as defined in Article 15 below) 
and/or the PIC to discontinue use of the Flight Procedures if any of the following scenarios 
arise: 

i. Navigational facilities required for navigation are out of service, impaired, or 
unavailable; 

ii. Satellite reception for the Flight Procedures is lost or degraded below the 
capability required by the GPS/FMS or aircraft operations manual; 

iii. The airport environment and/or runway is not suitable for landing; 
iv. Runway Friction Values do not meet the minimum required to safely land the 

aircraft per the Aircraft Flight Manual (AFM); 
v. Weather conditions are below the approach minimums established for use; 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 10  
 

vi. Tailwind limitations have been exceeded for the approach procedure or the 
approved aircraft/company operations manual; 

vii. The aircraft, PIC, or flight crew does not meet the necessary equipment or 
training requirements per the FAA 8260-7B and/or the aircraft manufacturer 
minimum equipment list; 

viii. An active FDC NOTAM exists that states the approach is ‘NA’;  
ix. The local altimeter setting is not received (and an approved alternate is not 

available);  
x. Aircraft not properly configured for landing; 
xi. The PIC and/or flight crew does not meet the regulatory and/or company 

requirements to conduct the Flight Procedures; 
xii. Active NOTAMs have not been reviewed; or 
xiii. For any other reason in which the PIC cannot safely continue the Flight 

Procedure.  

Engine-Out SIDs, Engine-out Missed Approach, and Balked Landing Extraction Procedures 
are considered non-standard operating scenarios based on FAA Advisory Circular 120-91 
guidance. An engine-out (EO) is considered an emergency event and may require 
immediate evasive action by the flight crew. Services and Deliverables designed for non-
standard or emergency scenarios are not based on standard TERPS obstacle clearance 
criteria and have reduced margins requiring strict adherence to the instructions to ensure 
obstacle and terrain clearance is achieved. Extraction procedures must be reviewed by 
an in-house or third-party aircraft performance provider (i.e., AeroData) to ensure the 
aircraft is capable of flying the procedure within the maximum weight limit allowable. 
 

ARTICLE 13.  INDEMNIFICATION 

County agrees to save, defend, indemnify and hold harmless Flight Tech and its 
subcontractors from and against all claims, demands and liabilities (including claims and 
demands by and liabilities to third parties), and costs and expenses (including attorneys' 
fees) incident thereto or incident to successfully establishing the right to indemnification 
(a) arising from or related to County’s or any other party’s use of the Services or 
Deliverables; (b) arising from or related to injury to or death of any person or persons, 
including employees of County (but not employees of Flight Tech), or arising from or 
related to loss of or damage to any property, whether or not arising in tort or occasioned 
by the negligence of Flight Tech, except to the extent  due solely to the willful or reckless 
misconduct of Flight Tech or (c) arising from or related to County’s breach of this 
Agreement. For purposes of this Article 13, the term 'Flight Tech' includes its parent 
company, its divisions, subsidiaries and affiliates, the assignees of each, and their 
respective directors, officers, employees, members, and agents. 
 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 11  
 

ARTICLE 14.  FORCE MAJEURE 

If the performance of any part of this Agreement (except for County’s payment 
obligations under this Agreement) by either Party is prevented, restricted, interfered with 
or delayed by an event or circumstance of force majeure (including, fire, flood, epidemic, 
pandemic, embargo, power shortage or failure, acts of war, insurrection, riot, terrorism, 
strike, lockout or other labor disturbance or acts of God) that is not within the reasonable 
control, directly or indirectly, of the Party seeking to have its performance excused 
thereby, the Party so affected shall, upon giving written notice to the other Party, be 
excused from such performance to the extent of such prevention, restriction, interference 
or delay; provided that the affected Party shall use its reasonable efforts to avoid or 
remove such causes of non-performance and shall continue performance with the utmost 
dispatch whenever such causes are removed. The Parties agree that a Party’s financial 
inability or other inability to obtain funds sufficient to perform its obligations hereunder shall 
not be grounds for obtaining relief under this Article 14. 
 

ARTICLE 15.  EXCLUSIVE USE BY COUNTY 

County agrees that, except for Flight Procedures publicly-available in accordance with 
(CFR) Part 97, or as may be expressly permitted in a specific SOW, the Services, 
Deliverables, and Work Product developed and provided hereunder are for County’s 
exclusive use and are not intended or developed for resale or distribution to or use by any 
party other than County and accordingly County agrees that County will not directly or 
indirectly duplicate, distribute, resell, rent, license, lease, or otherwise charge for, or 
convey to, or allow use of the Services, Deliverables, and Work Product by any third-party 
(including without limitation County’s affiliates or subsidiaries or lessee of County’s aircraft) 
(each, a “Third-Party” and collectively, “Third-Parties”) without Flight Tech’s prior written 
consent which Flight Tech may withhold or grant in its sole discretion (in the event of such 
consent, an “Approved Third-Party”). Should a specific SOW expressly permit a then 
Approved Third-Party’s use of any Services, Deliverables, and Work Product, such 
Approved Third-Party use shall be subject to and conditioned upon execution of a use 
and hold harmless agreement between Flight Tech and such Approved Third-Party in a 
form designated by Flight Tech. Approved Third-Party use of the Services, Deliverables, 
and Work Product is further subject to and conditioned upon Approved Third-Party’s 
receipt of all required FAA authorizations and approvals as may be required. 
 

ARTICLE 16.  PROFESSIONAL REGISTRATION  

This Agreement does not include the production and stamp and seal of drawings, 
specifications, or calculations.  



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 12  
 

ARTICLE 17. STANDARD OF CONDUCT 

Flight Tech will perform or cause to be performed the Services, Deliverables, and/or Tasks 
in accordance and compliance with all laws, regulations, and applicable codes (federal, 
state and local) and within the provisions of this Agreement, using best efforts to conduct 
the Services in an expeditious and timely manner.   
 

ARTICLE 18. CHOICE OF LAW, JURISDICTION, VENUE, SERVICE OF PROCESS 

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and interpreted according to the 
laws of the State of Colorado. In the event of any litigation or suit arising out of or relating 
to this Agreement, such litigation or suit may be brought in the courts of the State of 
Colorado, County of Jefferson, or, if it has or can acquire jurisdiction, in the United States 
District Court for the District of Colorado, and each of the Parties irrevocably submits to 
the exclusive jurisdiction of each such court in any such proceeding, waives any objection 
it may now or hereafter have to venue or to convenience of forum, agrees that all claims 
in respect of the litigation or suit shall be heard and determined only in any such court 
and agrees not to bring any proceeding arising out of or relating to this  Agreement in any 
other court. 
 

ARTICLE 19. NOTICE 

Any notice, request or other communication to be given by either Party to the other under 
this Agreement shall be in writing and personally delivered or sent certified or registered 
mail return receipt requested, to the addresses set forth in Article 7 of this Agreement, or 
such other address as either Party may from time to time designate by giving the other 
Party written notice. 
 

ARTICLE 20. ASSIGNMENT & SUBCONTRACTING 

This Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by and 
against the Parties and their respective successors and assigns in accordance with the 
terms hereof.  Neither Party may assign or transfer this Agreement or any rights or 
obligations hereunder, in whole or in part, without the prior written consent of the other 
Party, except that Flight Tech may make such an assignment or transfer without County’s 
consent to a successor to all or substantially all of the business of Flight Tech, whether by 
way of merger, consolidation, sale of stock, sale of assets or other transaction. Any 
assignment or attempted assignment by either Party in violation of the terms of this Article 
20 shall be null, void and of no legal effect.  Flight Tech may not sub-contract its obligations 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 13  
 

hereunder without the written consent of County, which shall not be unreasonably 
withheld, conditioned, or delayed. 
 

ARTICLE 21. OTHER TERMS 

Survival.  The following provisions of this Agreement shall survive the expiration, termination, 
or completion of this Agreement and shall remain in effect after any such termination, 
expiration or completion:  Articles 2, 3, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 18, 19, 20, and 21. 

Non-Solicitation. County shall not hire or solicit the services or employment of any 
employees or independent contractors of Flight Tech directly involved in the performance 
or provision of the Services or Deliverables during the Term of the Agreement or related 
SOW and for one (1) year thereafter. This restriction will not prohibit County from hiring 
personnel as a result of general recruiting strategies that are not directed specifically 
towards Flight Tech’s employees or independent contractors, including but not limited to 
the placement of general advertisements or posting of positions on the Internet. 
 
Taxes.  County shall be responsible for the payment of all applicable taxes and other 
governmental charges including but not limited to all sales, use, or excise taxes, and all 
customs duties, fees, or tariffs, for its purchase and receipt of the Services and Deliverables.  
Flight Tech may invoice County for taxes that Flight Tech is required to collect or pay in 
connection with providing and performing the Services and Deliverables. 
 
Independent Contractor.  Flight Tech shall at all times be an independent contractor 
under this Agreement, and nothing herein shall be deemed to cause this Agreement to 
create an agency, franchise, partnership, or joint venture between the Parties. Nothing in 
this Agreement shall be interpreted or construed as creating or establishing the 
relationship of employer and employee between County and Flight Tech or any 
employee or agent of Flight Tech. The employees furnished by Flight Tech to perform the 
Services and Deliverables shall be and are Flight Tech’s employees exclusively and shall 
be paid by Flight Tech for all services in connection with this Agreement.   

Waivers.  No waiver by any Party of any default or breach of this Agreement, whether 
intentional or not, shall be deemed to extend to any prior or subsequent default or 
hereunder or affect in any way any rights arising by virtue of any prior or subsequent such 
occurrence. 

Severability.  Any term or provision of this Agreement that is invalid or unenforceable in 
any situation in any jurisdiction shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the 
remaining terms and provisions hereof or the validity or enforceability of the offending 
term or provision in any other situation or in any other jurisdiction. 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 14  
 

Construction.  In the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this 
Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the Parties and no presumption or 
burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any Party by virtue of the authorship of 
any of the provisions of this Agreement.  Any reference to any federal, state, local, or 
foreign statute or law shall be deemed also to refer to all rules and regulations 
promulgated thereunder, unless the context requires otherwise.  The word “including” shall 
mean including without limitation. 

Incorporation of Exhibits, and Schedules.  Any Exhibits and Schedules identified in this 
Agreement are incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. 

Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties 
as to its subject matter, and supersedes all previous and contemporaneous agreements, 
proposals or representations, written or oral, concerning the subject matter of this 
Agreement.  In the event that County issues a purchase order in connection with the Flight 
Procedures and/or this Agreement, this Agreement will govern and take precedence 
over all terms and conditions contained in or referenced in such purchase order. 

Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event of litigation concerning this Agreement or any agreement 
or schedule provided for hereunder, the prevailing party in such litigation shall be entitled 
to recover its costs and reasonable attorney fees from the non-prevailing party. 

Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of 
which, whether an original or delivered electronically (including PDF counterparts), shall 
be deemed an original but all of which together will constitute one and the same 
instrument. 

Authority.  The individual executing this Agreement on behalf of County represents and 
warrants to Flight Tech that he or she is duly authorized to execute this Agreement on 
behalf of County and that this Agreement constitutes the valid, binding and enforceable 
obligation of County. 

 

 

[signature page follows] 



County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)   Page | 15 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the date set forth 
below. 

FLIGHT TECH ENGINEERING, LLC COUNTY OF INYO, CALIFORNIA 

By: _____________________________    By:  ______________________________ 

Name:    Richard Scott        Name: ___________________________ 
(type or print)    (type or print) 

Title:      Chief Operating Officer      Title: ______________________________ 

Date: ___________________________ Date: _____________________________ 
6/13/2022



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 16  
 

EXHIBIT A – STATEMENT OF WORK  

 

 

Instrument Flight Procedure Development 
County of Inyo, California 

 
This Statement of Work (“SOW”) is agreed to between the County of Inyo, State of 
California (“County”) and Flight Tech Engineering, LLC (“Flight Tech” or “FTE”) and 
attached as Exhibit A to that certain Master Services Agreement (“Agreement”) dated 
June 13, 2022 between County and FTE. 
 

RECITALS 

-I- Flight Tech is an FAA approved third-party Navigation Services Provider and flight 
operations consulting firm with expertise in assessing, designing, and implementing 
instrument flight procedures (each, a “Flight Procedure” and collectively, “Flight 
Procedures”) to airports and heliports across the United States.  Flight Tech also conducts 
ongoing maintenance of such Flight Procedures in accordance with Flight Tech’s FAA 
approved maintenance program (“Maintenance”).   Flight Tech provides airport and 
aircraft operators with a broad array of survey, feasibility, performance, and other 
consulting services for both private and public applications (“Consulting Services”). 

-II- County desires to engage Flight Tech to provide Services and/or Deliverables (whether 
Flight Procedure, Maintenance, or Consulting Services) under the terms and conditions 
described in the Agreement and this SOW, more specifically to design, develop, 
implement, and maintain the KBIH RNAV (GPS) M RWY 12 & 30 approach procedures and 
an RNAV departure procedure as Special procedures (the “KBIH Flight Procedures”) at 
Bishop Airport (KBIH).  The KBIH Flight Procedures shall be owned by County. 

-lIl- As Special procedures, the KBIH Flight Procedures are developed specifically for 
County and are not processed under Title 14, Code of Federal Regulations (14 CFR), Part 
97 and as such are not available to the public.  A Special procedure may be required 
when the design does not meet the normal standards outlined in the U.S. Standards for 
Terminal Instrument Procedure Design (TERPS).  This usually occurs when high terrain, 
obstacles, or airspace conflicts prevent developing a procedure using normal criteria, 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 17  
 

such as the case at airports in mountainous locations like KBIH.  
  

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the agreements made herein and for other good 
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, County and Flight Tech agree to this SOW as follows: 
 

KBIH FLIGHT PROCEDURE OWNERSHIP 

Flight Tech shall undertake the design, development, implementation, and maintenance 
of the KBIH Flight Procedures which shall be sponsored and owned by County and the 
Parties agree to the fees to be paid by County as set forth in the Fee Schedule below. 

Furthermore, County agrees that, except as expressly permitted below, the KBIH Flight 
Procedures developed and provided for hereunder are for County’s exclusive use and 
are not intended or developed for resale or distribution to or use by any party other than 
County and accordingly County agrees that County will not directly or indirectly 
duplicate, distribute, resell, rent, license, lease, or otherwise charge for, or convey to, or 
allow use of the KBIH Flight Procedures by any third-party (including without limitation 
County’s affiliates or subsidiaries or lessee of County’s aircraft) (each, a “Third-Party” and 
collectively, “Third-Parties”) without Flight Tech’s prior written consent which Flight Tech 
may withhold or grant in its sole discretion (in the event of such consent, an “Approved 
Third-Party”). Flight Tech hereby expressly permits use of the KBIH Flight Procedures to 
SkyWest as an Approved Third-Party under the terms of this SOW and the Agreement, 
subject to and conditioned upon the execution of a use and hold harmless agreement 
between Flight Tech and SkyWest in a form designated by Flight Tech. Use of the KBIH 
Flight Procedures by SkyWest is further subject to and conditioned upon SkyWest’s receipt 
of all FAA authorizations and approvals as may be required. 
 

KBIH FLIGHT PROCEDURE DESIGN TARGETS 

The actual weather minimums achieved will be determined after the initial assessment 
and FAA approval process. The following procedure target points have been established 
to serve as a general estimate based on preliminary terrain assessments. Due to the lack 
of conventional ground-based NAVAIDS for this runway, an Area Navigation (RNAV) 
approach utilizing Global Positioning System (GPS) technology has been selected to 
achieve straight-in lines of minima. Obstacles in the Vertical Guidance Surface (VGS), 
20:1, or 34:1 visual surfaces may cause additional procedure constraints, including 
restrictions to nighttime use. 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 18  
 

The design targets for the flight procedures are as follows: 

(1) RNAV (GPS) M RWY 12 Instrument Approach Procedure: 
 A Localizer Performance with Vertical Guidance (LPV) line of 

minima. 
 LPV Height Above Threshold (HAT) between 200-300 ft.  
 Visibility: ¾ to 1 statute miles (SM) for LPV. 
 An LNAV/VNAV line of minima. 
 LNAV/VNAV Height Above Threshold (HAT) between 300-450 ft. 
 Visibility: 1 to 2 statute miles (SM) for LNAV/VNAV. 
 Aircraft Speed Category A-D. 
 Vertical Descent Angle:  3.00 to 3.5 degrees. 
 Straight-in Aligned or Offset Final Approach Course (similar to LDA 

for obstacle avoidance). 
 Night Landing Capable (if no visual segment obstacles exist and 

runway lighting available). 
 Non-Standard Missed approach climb gradient (CG)200-425 ft/nm.  

 
(2) RNAV (GPS) M RWY 30 Instrument Approach Procedure: 

 A Localizer Performance with Vertical Guidance (LPV) line of 
minima. 

 LPV Height Above Threshold (HAT) between 200-300 ft.  
 Visibility: ¾ to 1 statute miles (SM) for LPV. 
 An LNAV/VNAV line of minima. 
 LNAV/VNAV Height Above Threshold (HAT) between 300-450 ft. 
 Visibility: 1 to 2 statute miles (SM) for LNAV/VNAV. 
 Aircraft Speed Category A-D. 
 Vertical Descent Angle:  3.00 to 3.5 degrees. 
 Straight-in Aligned or Offset Final Approach Course (similar to LDA 

for obstacle avoidance). 
 Night Landing Capable (if no visual segment obstacles exist and 

runway lighting available). 
 Non-Standard Missed approach climb gradient (CG)200-425 ft/nm.  

 
(3) RNAV Departure Procedure: 

 Single RNAV Obstacle Departure Procedure to support runway 
12/30 ending at a common transition point. Procedure will connect 
to, and terminate at, the enroute airway structure (ex. NIKOL 
Waypoint).  

 Departure climb gradient (CG)200-425 ft/nm.  
 Supports basic RNAV-1 navigation. 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 19  
 

Assessment of the KBIH Flight Procedures consists of building the new procedures in FTE’s 
Instrument Procedure Design System that utilizes the latest airport obstacle survey, Digital 
Obstacle File (DOF), US digital terrain elevation, and flight navigation data. The analysis 
will determine the minimums required, resulting criteria deviations, and FAA waivers 
needed.  

Advanced RNP Requirement. The KBIH RNAV (GPS) M RWY 12 and RNAV (GPS) M RWY 30 
Special procedures utilize the Advanced RNP (A-RNP) NavSpec as defined in AC 90-105 
(as revised). The aircraft and FMS must be capable of Radius to Fix (RF) legs and capable 
of RNP 0.30 in the initial, intermediate, and missed approach segments. It is the sole 
responsibility of County and any Approved Third-Party to obtain the necessary LOA or 
OpSpec approvals from their FSDO or CMO for both the use of the KBIH Flight Procedures 
and the A-RNP NavSpec. The use of A-RNP procedures may require additional training in 
the form of contingency procedures and/or airport environment awareness. This training 
is the responsibility of County and any Approved Third-Party to complete per the terms of 
the KBIH Flight Procedure’s FAA 8260-7B approval.  

 
APPROVAL OVERVIEW 

All flight paths, altitudes, and weather minimums developed as part of the KBIH Flight 
Procedure package submission to the FAA are considered subject to change. After 
careful review by FAA Flight Standards office and Flight Procedures and Airspace Group 
(FPAG), a final decision will be made by the FAA Procedure Review Board (PRB). While 
Flight Tech will do its best to match the initial submission, unforeseen factors may cause a 
difference between the initial submission and final approved packet. Flight Tech will 
provide updates to County should changes occur. 

Furthermore, development of any procedure under the terms of this SOW may rely on 
specific waivers being issued from the FAA.  FTE will make every effort to advance the 
design as submitted; however, it is at the FAA’s sole discretion to grant, or deny, any 
waivers contained therein.  As such, FTE cannot guarantee final certification by the FAA 
of any Flight Procedure.  Should certification not occur, County understands and agrees 
to compensate FTE on a time and materials basis pursuant to the General Consulting 
Pricing detailed in the Fee Schedule below, for the work done under this SOW. 
 

PROCEDURE IMPLEMENTATION PROCESS 

The following tasks outline the different stages of procedure assessment, development, 
and implementation process. 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 20  
 

A) Timeline 
The process for a non-FAA Service Provider to develop a private Special procedure 
takes approximately 12-18 months. This may take longer if the FAA environmental 
filing and/or criteria deviations require additional review and processing. Once 
approved by the FAA, County and Approved Third-Parties must be authorized to 
add the procedure to their OpSpec or as a LOA through coordination with the 
Flight Standards District Office (FSDO).  

B) Initial Coordination - Task 1 
Prior to designing new procedure concepts, FTE will meet with all stakeholders to 
determine the aircraft, avionics, training, and airspace requirements needed to 
facilitate the most effective flight procedure. Approach procedures can have 
varying levels of accuracy (WAAS, Baro VNAV, etc.) which affects the resulting 
minimums (ceiling/visibility). If an aircraft operator expects future improvements to 
their avionics, those capabilities can also be assessed and planned for. Below is a 
list of the proposed coordination events that will take place. 

C) Planned Outreach Meetings 
 Aircraft Operator: FTE will hold meetings with SkyWest Airlines to determine their 

level of aircraft equipage and crew training. Each operator/fleet type has the 
potential for different levels of procedure accuracy which drive IFP minimums. 
This requirement gathering process will determine aircraft speed limitations, final 
descent limitations, climb gradients necessary for the approach or departure. 
Throughout the assessment, FTE will provide feedback on stakeholder 
preferences and design updates through e-mail and telecon updates.  
 

 Airport Owner:  FTE will meet with Inyo County as the Bishop Airport 
administrative authority to outline the design tasks and gather AGIS information. 
A discussion and review of recent changes to runway protection surfaces, 
planned development around the airfield, local weather patterns, noise 
abatement preferences, airfield restrictions, and categorical exclusion (CATEX) 
planning will occur.  
 

 Oakland ARTCC (ZOA): FTE will meet with Oakland Center airspace personnel 
to solicit feedback on current enroute transitions, approach, and departure 
flows, holding areas, and airspace improvements to consider for the new 
procedure proposal. FAA ATC is a key partner in any new flight procedure 
proposals and will ultimately provide the approval to move forward with new 
submissions. 

D) Development & Implementation - Task 2 
If consultation with the stakeholders in Task 1 determines that a straight-in 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 21  
 

approach is feasible, County may elect to proceed forward with Task 2. The 
process will begin by first performing an onsite survey to determine low close-in 
obstacles that may affect the approach and departure. These will be used in 
developing the new KBIH Flight Procedures. This includes the submission of the final 
8260 procedure packet and FAA coordination.  At the end of this Task, the KBIH 
Flight Procedures will be ready for commissioning flight validation (Task 3).  Upon 
competition of Task 3, distribution to the authorized aircraft operators triggers the 
activation of the maintenance provisions as described below.  In the event that 
the KBIH Flight Procedures cannot be distributed at the completion of Task 3, then 
the activation of ongoing maintenance will be delayed or cancelled depending 
on the decision of the airport and participating aircraft operators. 

Detailed list of Task 2: 

Task 2 Development & Implementation 
Site visit to perform WAAS Runway survey and Obstacle Data Collection 
Prepare Initial IAP/DP Concept Including Design Workspace 
Prepare FAA RAPT Submission Paperwork & Submission to FAA AFS 
Submit WAAS Channel Request 
Complete Environmental Pre-screening 
Prepare CATEX filing to FAA Environmental 
Non-Approved Criteria Waiver consultation w/ AFS 
NFDC Waypoint Request (new reservation or modification) 
Final IAP Procedure Development based on ATC/AFS/PRB coordination 
Complete 8260-1, 7A, 9 Forms for IAP 
Complete 8260-15 Forms for Departure 
Prepare TARGETS workspace for FAA validation 
Complete 8260-2 Radio Fix and Holding Data Records for IAP/DP 
Package Submission: Create IAP Overlay & Obstacle Maps 
Package Submission: Prepare Flight Inspection Graphic (FLIP) 
Package Submission: Prepare ARINC 424 package (8260-10 & ARI File) 
Package Submission: Compile overview letter and IFP documents for FAA submission 
FAA Procedure Review Board (Coordination & change control) 

 
E) Task 2 Deliverables 
FTE will prepare a FAA Form 8260 procedure package that documents the 
procedure minimums and coding for each phase of the flight segments (Initial, 
Intermediate, Final, Missed Approach, and Departure). This will be delivered to the 
FAA and County. 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 22  
 

Unless specifically stated in this SOW, the costs associated with the following 
services are not covered as part of this SOW: development of aircraft operator 
training programs (e.g., Advanced Qualification Programs), production grade 
approach charts, take-off and landing performance data, single engine missed 
approach, and development of single engine departure procedures. 

F) Commissioning Flight Validation - Task 3 
Upon completion of development in Task 2, the KBIH Flight Procedures must be 
inspected by appropriately equipped aircraft (e.g., A-RNP certified with a tailored 
navigation database subscription) prior to approval by the FAA. This confirms the 
flyability of the procedures, avionics compatibility, and ensures any unknown 
obstacles are clear of the flight path. Flight Tech, SkyWest, or other such party 
designated by County will provide the necessary aircraft to accomplish the flight 
validation process in accordance with the fees set forth in Section 1.1 of the Fee 
Schedule below.  

Utilizing this method, County shall be responsible for all costs incurred for the 
provision of aircraft, flight crews, fuel, and all other associated costs for the flight 
validation whether provided by Sky West or other such party designated by 
County.  Flight Tech shall provide an FAA qualified observer pilot who performs the 
procedure validation checks and data collection necessary for the FAA 
submission. The flight validation is only performed once as part of the initial 
commissioning inspection unless there is a major amendment to the procedure. 
The entire portion of each KBIH Flight Procedures will be flown including the missed 
approach and controlling obstacles will be documented. Post processing of GPS 
NMEA data, controlling obstacles, and the inspection report will be performed for 
submission in the final procedure packet submission to the FAA. 

Note: Should a Part 121 Air Carrier (e.g., SkyWest) provide an aircraft for flight 
validation, it may be the case such Air Carrier would seek exclusive use of the KBIH 
Flight Procedures in exchange for such aircraft and related expenses.  Such 
exclusivity typically would only apply to Part 121 operations and would solely be at 
the option and election of County as Owner and Sponsor of the KBIH Flight 
Procedures.  
 

ONGOING MAINTENANCE OVERVIEW 

After final FAA approval of the KBIH Flight Procedures, the FAA requires all Flight 
Procedures be continually monitored for changes to the airport and airspace 
environment to ensure the safety, quality, and currency of the procedure.  The 
Maintenance provisions of this SOW are necessary to keep the procedure active and must 
remain in place upon the approval of the KBIH Flight Procedures. Continuous NOTAM and 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 23  
 

OE/AAA monitoring, periodic procedure reviews, and reoccurring airborne obstacle 
assessments shall be provided by FTE utilizing its approved Maintenance program on file 
with the FAA.  The following provides an overview of each reoccurring task of the 
Maintenance provisions of this SOW: 

A) Obstacle Evaluation (OE)/NOTAM Monitoring (Continuous)  
This is an ongoing task that occurs continuously and utilizes Airport/Airspace 
analysts and TERPS specialists who verify the latest obstacle submissions from the 
FAA OE/AAA filing website. The most common data points FTE reviews are FCC 
antenna tower proposals and new building construction. The goal of this process is 
to ensure a new construction proposal does not threaten the KBIH Flight Procedures 
minimums or safety of flight which is why this task is so critical. The second 
component is a weekly review of all applicable airspace NOTAMs from the FAA 
(Cranes & NAVAID impacts, etc.). This data is reviewed to determine the impact to 
the instrument procedure. If changes that affect the safety of the procedures are 
identified, an FDC Temporary NOTAM will be issued by Flight Tech to caution 
County and Approved Third-Parties on use of the KBIH Flight Procedures. A minor 
procedure amendment may also be issued if required. Due to the weekly staffing 
commitments this is payable annually and starts upon FAA approval of the KBIH 
Flight Procedures.   

B) Periodic Obstacle Review and Evaluation (Every 540 days) 
The FAA requires all RNAV flight procedures (both Special and public) to be 
validated every 540 days to ensure the final and missed approach segments of the 
procedure are clear of any potentially new obstacles. Identification of new 
obstacles are required in the final and missed approach sections of the flight 
procedure. Depending on the terrain and accessibility, this is performed using air 
or ground assessment techniques. FTE maintains FAA authorization to perform both 
functions. At KBIH portions of the 540-day validation could be performed from the 
ground but will require airport owner assistance for accessing private property (if 
controlling obstacles are off airport property).  

C) Biennial Procedure Review (Every Two Years) 
The final component once the periodic validation is complete is a biennial review 
of the flight procedure. This requires a full review of changes to the FAA criteria and 
regulations to determine if any updates to the procedure need to be applied. The 
review will be performed by an FTE TERPS specialist. If the results of the review 
indicate a need to amend the KBIH Flight Procedures, changes will be coordinated 
(including FDC NOTAMs) in advance with County, any Approved Third-Parties, and 
FAA stakeholders. Although unlikely, if a major procedure amendment is required, 
a new commissioning flight inspection is required at an additional expense. 
 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 24  
 

NOTICES & LIMITATIONS 

A) Guarantees 
Due to reliance on automated weather reporting capabilities, government/airport 
owned navigational facilities, visual aids, changing airport conditions, FAA TERPS 
criteria updates, uncontrolled obstacle environments outside of the airport 
boundaries, OE/AAA submissions, weather, and other forces outside of FTE’s 
control, FTE cannot guarantee the approach minimums or procedure routes, and 
capabilities will remain unchanged. As information is made available to FTE, it will 
make updates in accordance with its FAA approved Maintenance program. 
Furthermore, FTE cannot guarantee the performance or completion factor of 
aircraft using the approach due to pilot and equipage differences, weather 
factors, and safety factors outside of its control. It us up to the pilot in command to 
ultimately determine if the procedure can be safely flown. 

B) Expense Variances 
The scope of this proposal only covers the initial development and ongoing 
maintenance costs described in this SOW. Additional costs, including but not 
limited to environmental assessments, additional site visits, travel, flight inspections 
due to local obstacle changes, modifications to the instrument procedure due to 
aircraft/operator requests, and any other expense not within the scope of this SOW 
are the responsibility of County. Should any of these occur, FTE will prepare a cost 
estimate based on the time and materials rate in the General Consulting Pricing of 
the Fee Schedule below and provide to County. 

C) Charting & NavData Services 
Flight Tech Engineering will provide the necessary FAA forms, ARINC 424 data, and 
protype procedure depictions necessary for the charting and encoding of the 
instrument flight procedures. FTE does not provide the final procedure chart or the 
database encoding for use in County’s or Approved Third-Pary’s GPS/FMS. 
However, FTE will assist County and Approved Third-Parties with submitting the data 
to OEM (i.e., Honeywell, Collins, Thales, Garmin, etc.) and/or charting providers (i.e., 
Jeppesen, LIDO, etc.). Special procedures require tailored charting and NavData 
subscriptions and County and Approved Third-Parties are responsible for such costs.  

D) Future Airport & Runway Changes 
Procedure availability is dependent on clear Vertical Guidance Surfaces (VGS) 
and nighttime use is dependent on clear 20:1 surfaces. Flight Tech will utilize the 
best available data at the time of procedure submission to achieve the lowest 
possible minimums. If the terrain or obstacle status changes after submission and/or 
FAA approval of the procedures, a contract amendment will be required. 
Modifying the procedure is considered a major amendment and requires a new 
flight validation and FAA approval process.  



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 25  
 

E) Airport Access, Weather, and Travel Delays 
The Bishop Airport is located in a rural area of California thus possibly requiring 
access through a specialized charter flight. Due to the lack of aircraft and runway 
deicing capabilities, fuel, and other infrastructure limitations, the weather 
conditions at the airport or enroute may cause disruptions to flights going into KBIH. 
This could result in FTE flight and obstacle validation crews becoming unable to 
arrive or depart from Bishop Airport when attempting to perform an assessment. If 
weather or unforeseen delays result in additional travel and labor expenses 
beyond what is originally budgeted, this will be billed to County at the time and 
materials rate for the General Consulting Pricing in the Fee Schedule below. 

F) Procedure Cancellation Process 
Should one or more of the KBIH Flight Procedures be deemed necessary for 
cancellation, the following process will occur. Flight Tech Engineering in 
coordination with County and FAA AFS-400/Flight Procedures and Airspace Group 
(FPAG) will determine the timing of the cancellation.  FTE will notify FAA AFS-400, 
and if they are in concurrence, will immediately issue an FDC NOTAM suspending 
use of the procedure. FTE or the FAA AFS-400 will also notify any Approved Third-
Parties as needed that the procedure is being cancelled. 

Note: In the unlikely circumstance that a lapse of procedure maintenance occurs 
in excess of 60 calendar days, a complete procedure review will be conducted 
before reissue, or the procedure will be canceled. 

FTE will prepare an original 8260-series form per Order 8260.19, chapter 8 with the 
required information including cancellation reason. The form will be sent to the FAA 
AFS-400 for processing and distribution. Form 8260-2, Radio Fix and Holding Data 
Record (Fix Data) applicable to the procedure will also be included.  FTE will 
continue to maintain the procedure until canceled by the FPAG.  

FTE will coordinate with FAA AFS-400 to provide the necessary notifications for the 
cancellation of operator authorizations (i.e., Form 8260-7B). This will be done by 
memorandum to County and each Approved Third-Party, stating they are no 
longer authorized to use the procedure. A copy of this cancellation memorandum 
must be provided to the FSDO/CMO/POI, as applicable, and AFS-400. 

 

FEE SCHEDULE 

The pricing outlined in this section includes the activities, milestones, Tasks, and 
Deliverables required to develop, implement, and maintain the KBIH Flight Procedures for 
County at Bishop Airport.  



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 26  
 

The costs to develop and maintain the KBIH Flight Procedures can be broken down into 
two categories: one-time (development) and recurring (Maintenance).  

Section 1 – Pricing 

Section 1.1 Development Costs 

One Time Development Costs 
Description Amount 
Implementation - Task 1: Site Visit/Ground Obstacle 
Inspection & Survey, Meetings, Coordination, Travel $18,000.00 
Implementation - Task 2: Approach & Departure 
Procedure Development, Environmental Review, ARINC 
424 Encoding, FAA Submission Package & Implementation $60,000.00 
  
Commissioning Flight Inspection Amount 
Option #1 County Provided Aircraft w/Flight Tech Evaluator 
- Task 3: Includes travel, process & submit FAA inspection 
reports $11,000.00 
Option #2 Flight Tech Provided Aircraft w/Flight Tech 
Evaluator - Task 3: Includes travel, process, & submit FAA 
inspection reports $25,000.00 

Grand Total  $89,000.00* 
 
* Should Flight Tech provide the aircraft for flight validation (Option #2), this 
amount shall be $103,000.00. 
 

 Section 1.2 Maintenance Fees 

Reoccurring Maintenance Fees 
Description Frequency Amount 
OE/AAA Obstacle & NOTAM 
Monitoring Service 

Continuous 
(billed annually) $8,915/yr. 

Flight Segment Obstacle Validation 
& FAA report submission Every 540 Days 

$4,770.00 per 
procedure 

IFP Periodic Review** Every Two Years 
$3,500.00 per 

procedure 
 

** The pricing for the IFP periodic review is based on an evaluation that results in no 
changes to the flight procedure. If ATC, aircraft technology, operating 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 27  
 

environment, or FAA criteria changes result in a major update to the procedure, 
the pricing will be based on time and materials rate as determined in Section 2 of 
this Fee Schedule. 

Section 1.3 Milestone Payments 

Over the course of the project, FTE will invoice County based on the following 
milestone achievements. 

 

 
 

 

 

  

 
 

 
***Should Flight Tech provide the aircraft for flight validation (Option #2 from 
Section 1.1) this amount shall be $43,666.67. 

 

Section 1.4 Payments for Maintenance and Periodic Reviews  

Payments for OE/AAA maintenance services are due upon FAA approval of the 
KBIH Flight Procedures and will be billed on an annual basis as agreed upon by 
County and FTE. Payment for the 540-Day Obstacle Validation and Biennial 
Periodic Reviews are due after completion of each Task.  The decision to continue 
with payments for Maintenance will be made by County either 60 days prior to the 
end of the annual maintenance period and/or 60 days prior to the recurring 540-
day Obstacle Validation or Periodic Review.  In the event that County does not 
wish to continue payment for the Maintenance of the KBIH Flight Procedures, 540-
Day Validation, or Periodic Review, Flight Tech will continue maintaining the 
approach for the duration of the previous payment’s term but will begin the public 
outreach process to deactivate the KBIH Flight Procedures as required by the FAA.  

 
Section 1.5 Maintenance Pricing Review 

Pricing for Maintenance services such as OE/AAA filings and NOTAM monitoring is 
based on historical estimates of previous activity. This is dependent on the airport’s 
location (rural vs city, etc.). Each OE/AAA filing and NOTAM that has the potential 

Milestone Payments 
Milestone 
Number Description of completed Work: Amount 

One Execution of Master Services Agreement $29,666.66 

Two Completion of Flight Validation $29,666.67*** 

Three FAA Approval of Approach Procedure 
(Signed 8260 Forms delivered to County) $29,666.67 



 

County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)                                       Page | 28  
 

to impact the KBIH Flight Procedures must be uploaded to the flight procedure 
design system and reviewed by an FTE TERPS specialist. On an annual basis, FTE will 
review the amount of time spent to monitor and maintain the KBIH Flight 
Procedures and reserves the right to modify the Maintenance pricing as necessary.  

 

Section 2 – General Consulting Pricing 

Flight Tech will provide professional consulting services on request for any 
additional services outside of the agreed upon scope of this SOW at the request of 
County. This will be quoted as fixed price or on a time and materials basis using the 
rates below and authorized through the issuance of a signed task order by County. 

Rate 
ID Task Description Fee Term 

GCR1 

Standard Consulting Fee for Aeronautical Engineer -
Level 1 (TERPS & ARINC coding, Standard procedure 
design, Air Carrier/operator assistance, includes 
access to IFP design software) $175/hr. 

Time & 
Materials 

GCR2 
Standard Consulting Fee for Project Manager & 
Flight Eval Specialist $225/hr. 

Time & 
Materials 

GCR3 

Standard Consulting Fee for Sr. Aeronautical 
Engineer (Criteria Development, Waiver language, 
Regulatory Compliance, Air Carrier/operator 
assistance) $255/hr. 

Time & 
Materials 

 

 

[signature page follows] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



County MSA Revision #3 (6/13/2022)   Page | 29 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this SOW as of the date set forth below. 

FLIGHT TECH ENGINEERING, LLC COUNTY OF INYO, CALIFORNIA 

By: _____________________________     By:  ______________________________ 

Name:    Richard Scott        Name: ___________________________ 
(type or print)    (type or print) 

Title:      Chief Operating Officer      Title: ______________________________ 

Date: ___________________________ Date: _____________________________ 
6/13/2022



1 
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF INYO AND 
MAMMOTH LAKES TOURISM REGARDING COST SHARING FOR THE 

DEVELOPMENT OF  APPROACH PROCEDURES FOR THE BISHOP AIRPORT 
WHEREAS, on __________, Inyo County (“the County”) entered into a contract with 

Flight Tech, Inc. to develop approach procedures for Skywest to be able to fly the Embraer175 
(E-175) aircraft into the Bishop Airport;   

WHEREAS, the total cost of procedure development is $89,000, which will be paid 
directly by the County to Flight Tech; 

WHEREAS, Mammoth Lakes Tourism (“MLT”) has agreed to reimburse the County for 
part of the cost of this contract with Flight Tech, as developing the approach procedures 
necessary to fly E-175 aircrafts into the Bishop Airport will encourage tourism to the Mammoth 
Lakes area; 

Accordingly, the County and MLT agree that: 
1. The County will directly pay Flight Tech $89,000 to cover the entire cost of 
developing approach and departure procedures for an Embraer 175 into the Bishop 
Airport.  The County will pay Flight Tech in a series of three payments, as defined in the 
contract between the two parties.   
2. MLT will partially reimburse the County for the cost of the Flight Tech contract 
pursuant to the following schedule: 

a. No more than 30 days after the County makes the first payment to Flight 
Tech, MLT will pay Inyo County $29,666.66. 

b. No more than 60 days after the County makes the second payment to Flight 
Tech, MLT will pay Inyo County $7,416.67. 

c. The third payment shall be handled as follows:  
i. If the County makes the third payment to Flight Tech in FY 22/23, 

MLT will pay the County $29,666.66 no more than 60 days after 
the County makes the third payment.  The County will 
subsequently pay MLT $22,250 in FY 23/24.   

ii. If the County makes the third payment to Flight Tech in FY 23/24, 
MLT will pay the County $7,416.67. 

3. The County will provide MLT with a reimbursement invoice and a receipt of 
payment following any payment the County makes to Flight Tech. 

AGREED AND ADOPTED THIS ____ DAY OF __________, 2022 
 
INYO COUNTY MAMMOTH LAKES TOURISM 
 
________________________________ 
Dan Totheroh, Board Chair 

 
________________________________ 
John Urdi, Director 
 
 
________________________________ 
MLT Board Member 

 



County of Inyo

Veterans Service Office
 

CONSENT - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  June 28, 2022
 
FROM:  Denelle Carrington
 
SUBJECT:  Inyo-Mono County Veterans Services Office - Annual Compliance Forms
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board authorize the Chairperson to sign the California Department of Veterans Affairs Annual Medi-Cal 
Cost Avoidance Program Certificate of Compliance for Fiscal Year 2022-2023 and the California Department of 
Veterans Affairs Annual Subvention Certificate of Compliance for Fiscal Year 2022-2023.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
These forms are required to be reviewed and signed each fiscal year in order to be eligible for Subvention 
funding and Medi-Cal Cost Avoidance funding from the California Department of Veterans Affairs. 
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
Your Board could choose to not approve signatures, however, this is not recommended as the Veterans Service 
Officer Budget would not receive any state funding. 
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
N/A
 
FINANCING:
The Subvention funds and Medi-Cal Cost Avoidance Funds will be received in the Veterans Services Budget 
(056600) in the State Aid For Veterans object code (4473). 
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Inyo Medi-Cal Certificate of Compliance
2. Inyo Subvention Certificate of Compliance
 
APPROVALS:
Denelle Carrington Created/Initiated - 6/13/2022
Darcy Ellis Approved - 6/13/2022



Agenda Request 
Page 2

Denelle Carrington Approved - 6/13/2022
John Vallejo Approved - 6/13/2022
Amy Shepherd Final Approval - 6/14/2022



STATE OF CALIFORNIA GAVIN NEWSOM, Governor 
 

DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS  
1227 O Street 
SACRAMENTO, CALIFORNIA 95814 
Telephone:  (800) 952-5626 

 
 
Annual Medi-Cal Cost Avoidance Certificate of Compliance  

         Fiscal Year 2022/2023 
 

 
 

I certify that _______________________County has appointed a County Veterans Service 
Officer (CVSO) in compliance with California Code of Regulations, Title 12, Subchapter 4.  
Please consider this as our application to participate in the Medi-cal Cost Avoidance Program 
authorized by Military and Veterans Code Section 972.5   

 
I understand and will comply with the following: 

 
 
 

 1. All activities of the CVSO for which payment is made by the CalVet under this 
agreement will reasonably benefit the Department of Health Care Services (DHCS) or 
realize cost avoidance to the Medi-Cal program.  All State and County Medi-Cal 
Eligibility Workers who generate a Form MC 05 (Military Verification and Referral 
form) will be instructed to indicate the applicant’s Aid Code on the face of the form. 

 
 2. All monies received under this agreement shall be allocated to and spent on the 

salaries and expenses of the CVSO. 
 

 3. This agreement is binding only if federal funds are available to CalVet from the 
DHCS. 

 
 4. The CVSO is responsible for administering this program in accordance with California 

Code of Regulations, Title 12, Subchapter 4 and the CalVet Procedure Manual for 
Subvention and Medi-Cal Cost Avoidance for the current state fiscal year. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
__________________________     ____________________ 
Chair, County Board of Supervisors     Date 
(or other County Official authorized 
by the Board to act on their behalf) 

 
 

SCAN AND UPLOAD THIS COMPLETED FORM VIA THE AGENCY ATTACHMENTS IN VETPRO 
 
 
 
Rev (6/22) 

 



STATE OF CALIFORNIA GAVIN NEWSOM, Governor 
 

DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS  
1227 O Street 
SACRAMENTO, CALIFORNIA 95814 
Telephone:  (800) 952-5626 

Annual Subvention Certificate of Compliance  
         Fiscal Year 2022/2023 

 
Charge: 
 
Funds are distributed under this program to counties as partial reimbursement for expenses incurred in the 
operation of the County Veterans Service Office.  Funds are distributed according to Military and Veterans 
Code Sections 972, and 972.1, a State General Fund Expenditure, and 972.2 a Special Fund Expenditure.  
 
County Certification: 
 
I certify that __________________________County has appointed a veteran to serve as the County Veterans 
Service Officer according to California Code of Regulations Title 12, Subchapter 4.  This County Veterans 
Service Officer will administer the aid provided for in Military and Veterans Code Division 4, Chapter 5.  
This County Veterans Service Officer must achieve and maintain accreditation from the California 
Department of Veterans Affairs within 18 months of employment or within 18 months of the County 
Veterans Service Officer position becoming vacant, whichever occurs first.  Veterans Service Representative 
staff filing claims must also achieve and maintain accreditation from the California Department of Veterans 
Affairs within 18 months of employment.  
 
I certify that the County Veteran Service Officer will assist every veteran of the United States, as well as 
their dependents and survivors, in presenting and pursuing such claim as they may have against the United 
States.  The County Veterans Service Officer and all accredited staff will also assist in establishing veterans, 
dependents and survivors’ rights to any privilege, preference, care or compensation provided for by the laws 
and regulations of the United States, the State of California, or any local jurisdiction. 
 
I certify that information contained within the VetPro database will not be distributed to any entity outside of 
the County Veteran Service Office, including other County Departments. Additionally, I certify that all 
College Fee Waiver Approval and Denial letters will be generated within the VetPro database. I also 
authorize the County Veterans Service Officer to actively participate in the promotion of the California 
Veterans License Plate program. 
 
I certify that this county, through the County Veterans Service Office, will maintain records for audit.  These 
records will be maintained for a minimum of two years.  The county agrees to submit reports in accordance 
with the procedures and timelines established by CalVet and in accordance with the CalVet Procedure 
Manual for Subvention and Medi-Cal Cost Avoidance for the current state fiscal year.  The County Veterans 
Service Officer will permit CalVet representatives to inspect all records upon request. 
 
 
 
__________________________     ____________________ 
Chair, County Board of Supervisors     Date 
(or other County Official authorized 
by the Board to act on their behalf) 
 

SCAN AND UPLOAD THIS COMPLETED FORM VIA THE AGENCY ATTACHMENTS IN VETPRO 
 
Rev (6/22) 



County of Inyo

County Administrator - Advertising County 
Resources

 

DEPARTMENTAL - NO ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  June 28, 2022
 
FROM:  County Administrator
 
SUBJECT:  Annual Written Report from Inyo County Film Commissioner
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board receive Inyo County Film Commissioner Chris Langley's annual written report on local filming 
activity.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
Per the terms of his contract, Mr. Langley presents today his annual written report on filming activity in Inyo 
County. This fiscal year he previously presented your Board a mid-year written report in January 2022 and two 
oral reports in October 2021 and April 2022.

Mr. Langley has served as Inyo County's Film Commissioner since 2007, most often as a sole-source provider 
and also as the successful respondent to a Request for Proposals (RFPs) issued in 2013. It has become practice 
to revisit every 4-6 years whether to issue RFPs or continue sole-source contracting. The Board declined to have 
staff prepare and issue an RFP for Film Commissioner services in 2018, and instead approved a three-year sole-
source contract with Mr. Langley.

Mr. Langley's current contract expires June 30. It was approved for Fiscal Year 2021-2022 after discussion 
among the Board about reexamining the Film Commissioner position - prompted by members of the Board 
expressing interest in a one-year contract for FY 21-22 instead of the new three-year contract that was proposed 
for approval.

As such, your staff has prepared a new RFP for Film Commissioner services, which it hopes to issue on June 30. 
Staff also prepared a contract amendment for Mr. Langley to continue providing Film Commissioner services 
throughout the RFP process. This amendment will come before your Board for approval at the July 5 meeting.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
Your Board may decline to accept the report.



Agenda Request 
Page 2

 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
Inyo Film Commission
 
FINANCING:
N/A
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Film Commissioner Annual Written Report
 
APPROVALS:
Darcy Ellis Created/Initiated - 6/22/2022
Leslie Chapman Final Approval - 6/22/2022



 

 
INYO COUNTY FILM COMMISSSION 
ANNUAL REPORT 2021-2022 
 

 
SCOUTING BUTTERMILKS FOR ABC FOREST RANGERS PILOT 

Christopher Langley 
Inyo County Film Commissioner 

Box 99 
Lone Pine, California 93545 

(760) 937 1189 
Lonepinemovies@aol.com 



 1 

Annual Written / Oral Report 2021-2022 
Presented to Inyo County Supervisors, June 7, 2022 
 

1. Overview of year 
 
2021-2022 has been another lackluster year in film projects. However, it 

has been better than the last two annual accountings because the impact 

of covid, wildfire smoke, and the economy in general have been less of a 

trial than we have experienced recently. In the last 12 months we have had 

several commercials, small projects, and a few different formats and 

content variations.  Still, in all, it has not been unusual to work for several 

weeks scouting, meeting with scouts, producers and crew only to have the 

project evaporate near the end of the process but before cameras roll. The 

biggest new word is “drought.” More about that later. 

 

As always timing is everything. We want pinetree forests, but no snow. But 

it’s February! We need snow on the runway, but it’s the middle of July and 

it will be over 100 degrees by the afternoon. A producer wanted spring 

flowers in late May. We have fields of “flags” (Wild iris) near Barlow but 

“they will be gone most likely by when you need them.” I sent them to 

Bridgeport and along highway 395, and 

hoped the crew weren’t delayed. The 

lack of rain either eliminated other fields 

of wildflowers or dwarfed them so that 

the stems were half the size of what 

they usually would have been. 

 



 2 

Covid protocols are still in place with 

testing every morning and surveys of 

any possible exposures. The crew is 

required to travel alone so another 

challenge is to find parking for more 

than sixty cars between rocks, or 

along side unpaved, dusty, and 

twisting desert roads. Yet attitudes are pretty positive in the crews even 

though conditions are not the best.  Working beats not working. Fall was 

impacted by wildfire smoke again. Another “pilot” for ABC on forest rangers’ 

lives was driven out of Yosemite and then New Mexico because of 

environmental issues. Can Inyo play 

Yosemite? Yes, probably with some 

“cheating.” That’s movie talk for using 

special effects, different lenses, 

angles, and filters to make something 

look like something else which it isn’t.  

 

There is always when all else has been considered there remains the 

magic of moviemaking to help. Inyo still has the great locations made 

familiar and famous by a century of popular movies that still bring in the 

crowds even when they are not great works of art. We are blessed by our 

varied landscapes that stop directors and art designers in their tracks when 

they see the snow topped mountains, the rolling ochre hills and green 

pastures for the first time. 

 
 



 3 

 

2. Estimated revenue, permits 
 
I estimate that we averaged six or seven permits each of the four quarters 

of this last fiscal year. Since we did not have any big Marvel monsters 

filming locally which would be large budgeted worldwide money makers, we 

have to assume that the twenty-eight small productions ranged from 

$20,000 to perhaps commercials accounting for $120,000 to $150,000 left 

behind. That accounts for no more than $5 million, a long way from the 

lucrative days of yesteryear. But then using the California Film Commission 

estimates seemed to give us inflated bottom lines. 

 

One of the changes came from the BLM allowing cast and crews less than 

15 members, if they were estimated to offer no danger of damage to the 

“resource” (BLM speak) for the land. Decision came from BLM lawyers 

interpretation of the Virginia Supreme court decision about charging for 

public lands a violation of the public’s right to free speech.  To my 

knowledge allowing smaller projects to film without a fee did not result in 

any unusual Injury to our land. It did h9owever undermine the totals of 

monies left behind by filming. Another issue was extending the time 

required to get  permit from the forest service from two weeks to three 

weeks with the threat discussed of 30 to 45 days. (See below.) 

 

 

3. Some specific projects realized 
 
Nissan had a large three day shoot here with seven different Nissan 

models, drones, and more than a crew of eighty. We also had three 



 4 

different parts or whole commercial associated with the Super Bowl. With 

some big stars as talent like Matthew McConaughy Tommy Lee Jones, and 

a Jonas brother.  People kept their eyes out for familiar faces, but we 

learned they were added down in the studio in post-production. With the 

increase in professional talents for special effects this might become more 

and more common, cutting into the living lists of guests for future film 

festivals. Also not having guests here is not new (Desi and Lucy were not 

actually here for The Long Long Trailer).   

 
 

4. Examples of projects aborted 
 
Most recently we had an ABC “pilot” (a television series being tried out) 

They wanted to shoot in Yosemite but the park did not want to permit a 

crew of about 80, a not uncommonly large number. The producers looked 

at New Mexico, but they were driven out by the smoke from their wildfires. 

So scout Deven Cjierighini who I have worked with before came to me with 

a list of things they  

 

 



 5 

wanted for the shoot.  We spent a day 

or more looking and generally finding 

cliffs, forests, a river and so on from a 

list he presented me.  These included the Buttermilks, Bishop Creek, 

Owens River but not North, South, and Sabrina.  Even though I expected 

the lakes to be low, I was shocked by their condition from the drought. (I 

carefully looked for skeletons of missing husbands in the dry mud for a 

possible thriller film, but no such luck.  

With some cheating, we probably could do a pretty believable look of 

Yosemite.  Then we waited on the producers to make the call.   

 

Turned out that Yosemite agreed to a crew of 25 or 30 allowed. The 

producers thought they could make do with a smaller crew and Yosemite 

agreed. But maybe the work I did with Deven might still pay off, as he told 

me: “After all a television series might have 13 episodes, and only the pilot 

will take place in Yosemite.”  It really helps to know these people, build 

relationships with those who know what we offer and the business in 

general. After more than a decade working with some of them, they then 

are on your side. 



 6 

 

 

5. BLM Permitting challenges/ changes 
 
I have already mentioned how Larry Premosc, long time BLM employee 

has been adapting the court decision to make his work as an interim permit 

writer work. The big news is the changes that are happening in in the 

Alabama Hills National Scenic Area as the new management plan is slowly 

being implemented.  No overnight camping is being permitted west of 

Movie Road, camp sites are being reduced from 123 plus to 50 or less.  I 

thought that would be controversial, but more people express their approval 

of how this will positively affect the resource than complain about their 

rights to public land being abrogated.  Temporary port-a-potties may be 

intrusive but that has reduced used toilet paper and trash in the hills. When 

all is said and done none of these things are really interfering with this very 

popular historic film locations being used.  

 

The Alabama Hills Stewardship Group continues to monitor and educate, 

supporting the work of the BLM, which is now hiring young and dedicated 

new employees determined to stopping or restoring damage done by 

careless visitors. Drones are permitted if you have a permit to use one. Fire 

rings are steadily being disassembled, and again the AHSG volunteers are 

out there helping to clean and check that people are using the rocks 

correctly. 

 

 

6. Forest Service Permitting changes/ possible solutions 
 



 7 

The Management team of the Inyo National Forest has suggested 

permitting times be extended to 30 or 45 days. Alicia Vennos our Mono 

County Film Commission and I realize this would penalize commercial 

groups whose turnaround times have to be two weeks, but right now three 

weeks seems acceptable. Alicia says 80 percent of her business are 

commercials, and together we spoke with a representative group from the 

forest including Sheila Irons. We suggested ways we could reduce the 

workload as part of our jobs as film commissioners.  They seemed grateful 

for our concern with their overload. It turns out four jobs associated with 

permitting had not been filled. They panicked at their lack of personnel, but 

in the months after our telephone conference call, they were able to fill 

three of the four jobs and things remain at three weeks turn around on 

permits. 

 
 
7. Select Locations 

a. Alabama Hills: Implementation of new management plan thanks 

to Sheri Licius, control of camping and sectional day use only. 

Filming remains carefully monitored but unimpeded. 

b. Death Valley: four week permitting timeline, some areas 

deemed too delicate for 

filming, but rangers guide 

scouts to areas appropriate 

for filming. Superintendent 

Mike Reynolds remains “film 

friendly.” 

c. North Inyo County: climbing 

and filming still available in 

Buttermilks although due to 

drought the access road is 

more rutted than ever. 



 8 

Group monitors and educates climbers and film makers, and 

trails clearly safe and marked to guarantee appropriate and 

safe access. Area permits in either National Forrest or DWP 

jurisdiction. Jeff Gabriel has interviewed volunteers and paid 

climbers on Skippable News produced by Laughing Parrot 

Productions on Sierra Wave.  These descriptions of their care 

and education programs can be easily viewed by searching 

YouTube. They benefit both recreation climbers and film 

production. 

 
8. Film Commission website Update 

In the coming year I am exploring applications and technical 

challenges with Bishop’s Laughing Parrot Productions to redo and 

update the film commission website.  I am stressing searchable 

locations lists with new categories and accompanying pictures I have 

begun photographing new sites and redoing ones that are already in 

use.  Things change, conditions as well as usage, and it is finally time 

to update.  Searchable maps to locate where locations are located 

featuring different attributes but feasible close enough to be accessed 

in one shoot day.  For instance, waterfalls and dunes within vicinity of 

each other. 

 

 

9. Miscellaneous 
a. I recorded an interview on Sierra Wave about filming, security, 

protecting the resource, and progress towards improving 

conditions. 

b. I was invited by teacher Patricia Streenland to do a two-hour 

class with her Berkeley Writing Project about filming and 

protecting the resource.  I did the class in person and used an 



 9 

essay about desert clouds that ran on television station KCET 

Artbound’s website.  They came up with some marvelous and 

thoughtful questions and the two hours flew by. My expenses 

were covered by the Writing Project and included an 

honorarium. 

c. A documentary was made about the Cavalry that appeared last 

year and this year at Mule Days. I got a credit!  Rare for a film

 

commissioner. 

d. A film is in production that will hopefully film in October at Cerro 

Gordo, Keeler, the Alabama Hills and maybe Darwin. Co-

written by producer/ writer Gerard Di Nardi and Cerro Gordo 

owner Brent Underwood they have obtained significant support 



 10 

from the California Film Incentive Program. It sounds exciting 

as it is a ghost story. I have worried about Alphonse who hung 

is hat at the American Hotel before it burned. I wonder if ghosts 

can be houseless? 

 

 

 

I hope you will allow me another year as film commissioner to 

continue to build on my growing knowledge, widespread professional 

connections and continuing enthusiasm. 

 

Bulletin Note: As of this writing Doug Lueck of Ridgecrest informed 

me he is retiring and the new commissioner is being recruited from 

his staff. Manuel Ruiz stated that Doug has invited him to get to know 

the next film person. 

 



 11 

Due the death of her husband around Christmas, Alicia Vennos has 

announced her retirement as she finds herself at a “new crossroads” 

in her life. Both people were wonderful, supportive partners in these 

endeavor for me.  I will miss them. 

 

 
Submitted as part of county contract requirements. 
 
Christopher Langley 

 



County of Inyo

Board of Supervisors
 

DEPARTMENTAL - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  June 28, 2022
 
FROM:  Supervisor Jeff Griffiths
 
SUBJECT:  Letter Supporting MLTPA's Grant Application for Funds to Support ESSRP
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board approve and authorize the Chairperson to sign a letter supporting Mammoth Lakes Trails and 
Public Access Foundation's grant application for funding to support the Eastern Sierra Sustainable Recreation 
Partnership.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
Mammoth Lakes Trails and Public Access Foundation (MLTPA) has been providing technical capacity and 
support for the Eastern Sierra Sustainable Recreation Partnership (ESSRP) since its inception in 2018. Over the 
last four years, the MLTPA Foundation Board has authorized use of MLTPA funds and volunteer capacity to 
support this effort. 

Recently, MLTPA submitted a Concept Proposal to the Sierra Nevada Conservancy for a Vibrant Recreation and 
Tourism Grant to fund its continued support of the ESSRP for the next three years, and the Conservancy is now 
requesting a full proposal. MLTPA is seeking the support of partner agencies and organization to strengthen its 
application.

A successful application would allow MLTPA to continue to support the ESSRP, including:

 Agendas, convening, facilitation, presentations, list management, research, and coordination of special 
guests for monthly ESSRP meetings;

 Regular updating of the ESSRP webpage, essrp.org, including coordination for the inclusion of content of 
regional interest such as COVID-19, the “CAMP Like A Pro” program, and Recreate Responsibly 
messaging;

 The curation of the ESSRP page on the MLTPA website which hosts all of the foundational documents 
associated with the ESSRP;

 The drafting, circulation, final edits, and final signatures to a new binding document, the “ESSRP MOU;”  
and

 Continuing tribal engagement.  

Attached is a letter of support for the Board's consideration.
 



Agenda Request 
Page 2

BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
The Board may decline to approve the letter of support but this is not recommended.
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
MLTPA, ESSRP, Sierra Business Council
 
FINANCING:
N/A
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Inyo County ESSRP Application Support 
 
APPROVALS:
Darcy Ellis Created/Initiated - 6/22/2022
Leslie Chapman Approved - 6/22/2022
Jeff Griffiths Final Approval - 6/23/2022



 

SNC Grants Team
c/o Matt Driscoll
Sierra Nevada Conservancy
11521 Blocker Dr., Ste. 205
Auburn, CA 95603

Attn: Matt Driscoll, Eastern Sierra Area Representative, Sierra Nevada Conservancy

RE: Letter of support for Application #1424 “Eastern Sierra Sustainable Recreation Partnership 
(ESSRP) Support”

Dear Mr. Driscoll:

On behalf of Inyo County, we are writing today to express support for the Mammoth Lakes Trails 
and Public Access Foundation (MLTPA) and its funding proposal to the Sierra Nevada 
Conservancy’s Vibrant Recreation and Tourism Grant Program for support of the Eastern Sierra 
Sustainable Recreation Partnership (ESSRP).

The ESSRP is an established collaborative of public agencies in the Eastern Sierra that is 
currently supported through the voluntary efforts and contributions of MLTPA, a regional non-
profit foundation. The ESSRP was established in 2018 and is in the process of formalizing its 
relationship with a regional joint powers authority, the Eastern Sierra Council of Governments 
(ESCOG). Partners in the ESSRP represent over 17,000 square miles of California’s public 
landscape, including: three California counties; Caltrans District 9; an incorporated city and an 
incorporated town; two regions and two units of the U.S. Forest Service; the regional field office 
of the Bureau of Land Management; six units of the National Park Service; and ongoing 
outreach and communications with regional tribes. Formalized in 2018 through a U.S Forest 
Service non-funded challenge cost share agreement, the ESSRP is a direct outcome of the 
management planning process for the Inyo National Forest, completed in 2019, and the Eastern 
Sierra Recreation Collaborative (ESRC), an effort funded by MLTPA and the National Forest 
Foundation and managed by MLTPA to provide community members and recreation 
stakeholders meaningful opportunities to engage with the Inyo National Forest’s management 
planning process.

Over the last four years, based on its experience convening, facilitating, project managing, and 
funding the ESRC from 2014- 2016, MLTPA has voluntarily provided necessary capacity and 
technical support for the ESSRP. These services have included the ongoing coordination and 
outreach to ESSRP partner representatives; agendas, convening, facilitation, presentations, list 
management, research, and coordination of special guests for monthly ESSRP meetings; 
regular updating of the ESSRP webpage (www.essrp.org), including coordination for the 
inclusion of content of regional interest such as COVID-19, the “CAMP Like A Pro” program, 
and Recreate Responsibly messaging; and the curation of the ESSRP page on the MLTPA 
website which hosts all of the foundational documents associated with the ESSRP.

MEMBERS  OF THE  BOARD
DAN TOTHEROH
JEFF GRIFFITHS

RICK PUCCI    
JENNIFER  ROESER
MATT  KINGSLEY     

LESLIE L. CHAPMAN
Clerk of the Board

DARCY ELLIS
Assistant Clerk of the Board

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
COUNTY OF INYO

P. O. BOX N   INDEPENDENCE, CALIFORNIA 93526
TELEPHONE (760) 878-0373 

e-mail: dellis@inyocounty.us



The COVID-19 pandemic, and the overwhelming surge in outdoor recreation visitation to the 
Eastern Sierra compelled by the virus, has provoked change. Since 2018, membership in the 
ESSRP has grown from four public agencies to potentially fifteen agencies and a number of 
tribes. Partner agencies have indicated a desire to change their organizing document from the 
U.S. Forest Service non-funded challenge cost share agreement to a simpler Memorandum of 
Understanding, the "ESSRP MOU,” which will make it easier to diversify ESSRP membership. 
MLTPA has been working on the drafting, circulation, final edits, and final signatures to the new 
document. 

The ESSRP is now playing a more significant role in the region than was perhaps originally 
anticipated, and with these circumstances in mind, we strongly support MLTPA’s funding for 
support of the Eastern Sierra Sustainable Recreation Partnership (ESSRP).

Sincerely,

Chairperson Dan Totheroh,
Inyo County Board of Supervisors



County of Inyo

Water Department
 

DEPARTMENTAL - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  June 28, 2022
 
FROM:  Aaron Steinwand
 
SUBJECT:  2022-2023 Fiscal Year Lower Owens River (LORP) Annual Work Plan, Budget, and Schedule
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board adopt the 2022-2023 Fiscal Year Lower Owens River Project Annual Work Plan, implementation 
of which is contingent on approval by the Los Angeles Board of Water and Power Commissioners.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
The County and LADWP are jointly responsible for funding the LORP. For the past 14 years, funds set aside as a 
credit from LADWP and in the LORP Trust Account have been drawn upon to pay the County’s share of its 
LORP costs. The responsibilities and obligations of each party are described in the May 18, 2010 "Agreement 
Between the County of Inyo and City of Los Angeles Department of Water and Power Concerning the Operations 
and Funding of the Lower Owens River Project"; commonly referred to as the Post-Imp Agreement. This funding 
agreement commits each of the parties to fund the LORP for 15 years and expires on July 11, 2022 (based on 
recent staff discussions, we expect that Inyo and Los Angeles will agree next month to extend the term of the 
Post-Imp Agreement).  According to the Post-Imp Agreement  (Sec. II.A), after July 11, 2022, the required LORP 
flows will continue to be maintained and the flow compliance monitoring required by the Stipulation and Order will 
continue to be conducted; however, the Parties will decide what level of operations, maintenance, habitat 
monitoring, and adaptive management will be conducted.  

The initial Post-Imp Agreement Credit Account balance was $2,253,033, and the initial Trust Account balance 
was $3,368,017 for a total  balance of $5,621,050. As of April 1, 2022, the LORP Credit Account had a balance 
of $718,111 and the LORP Trust balance as of June 3, 2022 was $2,184,481. The sum is $2,902,592.

The 2004 Final Environmental Impact Report for the Lower Owens River Project (“FEIR”) Section 2.2.1 provides 
that in December of each year, the Technical Group will develop an annual work program for the Lower Owen 
River Project (LORP) describing work regarding the LORP to be performed in the following fiscal year, including 
implementation of adaptive management measures.  Following adoption by the Technical Group, the work 
programs will be submitted to the County and LADWP governing boards for approval.  Each governing board 
must approve the plan before this work plan and budget can be implemented.  

The 2022-2023 Work Plan, Budget, and Schedule were prepared in accordance with Sections D, E, and F of the 
Post-Imp Agreement and approved by the Technical Group on June 23, 2022.

In FY 2022-2023 the total cost to fund the LORP is $597,161.35, which is $55,335.38 more than was budgeted in 



Agenda Request 
Page 2

2021-2022. The County will pay $175,435.80 from the LORP Trust Account to fund our portion of LORP related 
work.  This amount is less than LADWP’s contribution of $474,016.47 so under the Post-Imp Agreement, LADWP 
will increase or decrease the County’s LORP Credit by the difference in the two contributions divided by two. This 
year the County’s Credit will be reduced by $175,435.80 (Table 1).

The 2022-2023 LORP Work Plan includes provisions for:  
1.    Work and activities necessary to maintain required flows in the river and required water supplies to other 
LORP components.
2.    Hydrologic monitoring and reporting of Lower Owens River flows.
3.    Maintenance associated with flow compliance monitoring and reporting.
4.    Biological and water quality monitoring described in the LORP Monitoring and Adaptive Management Plan. 
Vegetation mapping will be conducted under an outside contract.
5.    Preparation of the LORP Annual Report.
6.    Other work or activities including mosquito abatement, beaver control, and noxious weed treatment.
7.    Adaptive management related to implementation of the five-year Interim Management Plan for the Blackrock 
Waterfowl Management Area (BWMA); a tree recruitment study; migratory bird survey on the Owens River; Delta 
Habitat Area flow survey; and noxious species survey.

Descriptions of these tasks and cost breakdowns can be found in the Work Plan and Budget.  Table 1 
summarizes the expenses anticipated by each party. Biologic and water quality monitoring is conducted by staff 
from both LADWP and the Water Department.  For budgeting purposes a day-for-day offset is used, rather than 
dollar-for-dollar. In 2022-2023, a combined effort on the Biological and Water Quality work is estimated to require 
a combined 16 people-days, split evenly between the County and LADWP.

LORP Operations and Maintenance in 2022-2023 is estimated to cost $216,759.40 for the river, and $264,257.49 
for BWMA, for a total of $481,016.89. From this amount pre-LORP baseline costs are subtracted before shared 
costs are calclulated. The baseline cost deduction is adjusted annually based on the November Los Angeles-
Riverside CPI.  The CPI adjusted total for Operations and Maintenance in 2022-2023 is $311,411.59.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
Funding for the LORP is prescribed by a lengthy series of agreements and Court orders.

Section XII of the Water Agreement provides that: (1) the County will fund one-half of the LORP initial 
construction costs (up to a maximum of $3.75 million—less any funds contributed to cover the initial construction 
costs by the State of California or other non-LADWP sources), (2) LADWP will fund the remaining initial 
construction costs of the LORP, and (3) LADWP and the County will jointly fund and operate the LORP after it 
has been implemented (except for the costs of operating and maintaining the pump station which will be funded 
by LADWP).

On August 8, 2005, the Court sanctioned LADWP to the effect that, starting September 5, 2005, and until Los 
Angeles established permanent baseflows of approximately 40 cfs throughout the Lower Owens River, Los 
Angeles paid $5,000 per day into an escrow account established by Los Angeles and Inyo County.  The 
proceeds of the account, including accrued interest may only be used for: (1) to pay for Special Master services 
associated with establishment of flow in the LORP, (2) to pay the County’s share of post-implementation costs for 
the LORP, and (3) to pay the cost of monitoring habitat indicator species at the direction of the California 
Department of Fish and Game for a five year period in an amount not to exceed a cumulative total of $100,000, 
and (4) to pay the cost of the escrow account. The Special Master’s role in the establishment of LORP baseflows 
has terminated.  The escrow account is held by the County Treasury as Trust Account (504103), Sierra Club vs. 
LA Court Trust (“Trust Account”).

On September 16, 2005, the County and the LADWP entered into a settlement agreement (“LORP Funding 
Agreement”) whereby LADWP agreed to provide $5,242,965 to the County. With regard to the County’s 
obligation to fund $3.75 million of the LORP implementation costs, the LORP Funding Agreement provides that 



Agenda Request 
Page 3

LADWP will provide a credit to the County in the amount of $2,989,932. The LORP Funding Agreement also 
acknowledges that the provision of this credit, in combination with the County’s previous application of $360,000 
obtained from the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, $250,000 obtained from the U.S. Department of Housing and 
Urban Development, and $150,068 obtained from the EPA to LORP initial construction costs, fully discharged the 
County’s obligation for the payment of $3.75 million for the LORP initial construction costs.  

With regard to the County’s obligation to fund a portion of the LORP post-implementation costs, the LORP 
Funding Agreement provides as follows: (1) the difference between $5,242,965 and the $2,989,932 that will be 
applied to the LORP initial construction costs (a difference of $2,253,033), will be a credit held in trust by 
LADWP.  This “Post Implementation Credit” will be used to partially fund the County's obligation to pay one half 
of the LORP post-implementation costs; (2) each year, the then remaining amount of this Post Implementation 
Credit will be reduced by the County’s share of the LORP post-implementation costs until the $2,253,033 credit 
has been reduced to zero; (3) each year, the then remaining unexpended portion of the $2,253,033 will be 
annually adjusted upward or downward in accordance with the previous April Los Angeles--Anaheim--Riverside 
All Urban Consumers Price Index (“CPI”) or its successor; (4) the annual CPI adjustment will take place prior to 
deduction of a credit for County's annual share of the LORP post-implementation costs; and (5) the CPI 
adjustment will commence when LADWP has established a permanent baseflow of approximately 40 cfs in the 
LORP.

The LORP Funding Agreement also provides that Trust Account will be established in the Inyo County Treasury 
as a trust account and that the interest earned on the fund balance will remain in the account.  The LORP 
Funding Agreement also provides that only after the $2,253,033 Post Implementation Credit (adjusted as 
described above) has been reduced to zero, will the County begin to pay its share of the LORP post-
implementation costs from the Trust Account; however, the County may elect to reimburse itself from the Trust 
Account for LORP related costs incurred by the County.

On July 11, 2007, the parties to the MOU entered into a Stipulation and Order resolving issues of compliance 
with the MOU. In the Stipulation and Order, the parties agree that as of July 11, 2007, LADWP had established a 
permanent baseflow of approximately 40 cfs in the LORP. The Stipulation and Order also provides for monitoring 
and reporting of the baseflow flows throughout the LORP.  With the entry of the Stipulation and Order on July 11, 
2007, LADWP ceased making payments of $5,000 per day into the Trust Account established pursuant to the 
Court Order because, as of that date, LADWP had established a permanent baseflow of approximately 40 cfs in 
the LORP.
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
Direct staff to work with LADWP to modify the 2022-2023 Fiscal Year Lower Owens River Project Work Plan, 
Budget, and Schedule.
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
LADWP, Inyo/Mono Agricultural Commissioner
 
FINANCING:
Adoption of the 2022-2023 Work Plan would require expending $123,144.88 from the LORP Trust Account, 
which has been budgeted in the Water Department’s Budget (024102), and a debit from the LORP Credit of 
$175,435.80. Sufficient funds are available in the Trust Account (504103) and LADWP held Post-Implementation 
Credit to fund this work. The combined Trust account expenditures and Credit account reduction effectively 
reduce the funds available to the County to fund the LORP by $298,580.68.
           
The County’s LORP Trust account balance (504103) as of June 13, 2022 is $2,184,481.16. The Post-
Implementation Credit balance is $718,111.00 as of April 2021. The sum of accounts, $2,902,592.16 including 
Trust account interest and Credit account CPI indexing, is available to fund the County’s LORP costs and trust 
account costs.



Agenda Request 
Page 4

 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. 2022-2023 LORP Work Plan and Budget 
2. LORP Work Plan Table 1
 
APPROVALS:
Aaron Steinwand Created/Initiated - 6/16/2022
Darcy Ellis Approved - 6/16/2022
Aaron Steinwand Approved - 6/17/2022
Keri Oney Approved - 6/20/2022
John Vallejo Approved - 6/20/2022
Amy Shepherd Final Approval - 6/20/2022



Prepared by 
Inyo County Water Department and 
Los Angeles Department of Water and Power

Lower Owens River Project           
Work Plan, Budget, and Schedule

2022-2023 Fiscal Year



Lower Owens River Project Work Plan, FY 2022-2023

The Inyo County Water Department and the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power jointly prepared 
this 2022-2023 Fiscal Year Lower Owens River Project Work plan.  The Inyo County/Los Angeles Technical 
Group adopted this work plan on June 23, 2022.  The Technical Group recommends that the Inyo County 
Board of Supervisors and the City of Los Angeles Board of Water and Power Commissioners or their 
designee approve the 2022-2023 Fiscal Year Lower Owens River Project Work Plan.

Introduction
The Final Environmental Impact Report for the Lower Owens River Project (LORP) Section 2.2.1 provides 
that the Long-Term Water Agreement (LTWA) Technical Group will develop and adopt an annual work 
program for the LORP, which describes LORP work to be performed in the following fiscal year.  This 
work program identifies who will perform or oversee tasks, a schedule, and a budget.  This work plan 
and budget was prepared according to the Agreement between the County of Inyo and City of Los 
Angeles Department of Water and Power Concerning Funding of the Lower Owens River Project 
(Funding Agreement) sections D, E, and F.  Following adoption by the Technical Group, the work 
program will be submitted to the County and LADWP governing board for approval.  Each governing 
board must approve the plan before this work plan and budget can be implemented.  This Work Plan, 
Budget, and Schedule is in effect from July 1, 2022 – June 30, 2023. 

The objectives of this work plan are to maintain compliance with the July 11, 2007 Superior Court 
Stipulation and Order in Case No. S1CVCV01-29768, conduct monitoring necessary to achieve the LORP 
goals described in the 1997 Memorandum of Understanding, maintain infrastructure necessary to the 
operation of the LORP, and implement adaptive management measures.  The following priorities are 
observed in this work plan:

1. Work and activities required to maintain required flows in the river and required water supplies 
to other LORP components.

2. Maintenance associated with flow compliance monitoring and reporting associated with the 
above referenced Stipulation and Order.

3. Habitat and water quality monitoring described in the LORP Monitoring and Adaptive 
Management Plan, or required to comply with the requirements of the Lahontan Regional 
Water Quality Control Board.

4. The preparation of the LORP Annual Report as required by Section 2.10.4 of the LORP Final EIR 
and by Section L of the above referenced Stipulation and Order.

5. Other work or activities including the implementation of adaptive management measures.  

Lower Owens River Project           
Work Plan, Budget, and Schedule

2022-2023 Fiscal Year



Lower Owens River Project Work Plan, FY 2022-2023

3

Section 1 of this work plan covers the budget and schedule for operations and maintenance, monitoring, 
mosquito abatement, noxious species control, saltcedar control, and reporting activities.  
Section 2 outlines Adaptive Management activities identified to be conducted in the 2022-2023 fiscal 
year.  

The budget amount reflects the additional costs above equal sharing of work by the parties and does 
not include the costs of Inyo and LA staff times where they offset.

LORP Operations & Maintenance and Monitoring Budget

Table 1 summarizes the costs of operation, maintenance and monitoring for the fiscal year and specifies 
the costs incurred by Inyo County and Los Angeles for standard operations, maintenance, and 
monitoring, as well as for Adaptive Management.  A summary of these activities follows in Sections 1 
and 2 below.

In 2022-2023 a total of 32 people days will be required to complete standard biologic and water quality 
monitoring tasks.  Inyo County and LADWP will each contribute 16 days.  Additionally, vegetation 
mapping work will be contracted out and will be a shared cost between LADWP and Inyo County.  
Maintenance, Operations, and Hydrologic monitoring are tasks solely performed by LADWP, and are 
without offsetting costs. LADWP has allocated 120 days for Range Monitoring, which is a LADWP cost.  
Inyo County and LADWP will perform additional Adaptive Management tasks over 164 people days (Inyo 
County and LADWP each 82 days).  There is no budget for the MOU Consultant in 2022-2023.  

Based on this budget, total cost for the fiscal year is $597,161.35, with Inyo County contributing 
$123,144.88 and LADWP contributing $474.016.47.  Inyo County’s Post Implementation Credit will be 
decreased by $175,435.80.  The credit deduction is calculated by subtracting the dollars LADWP will 
spend during the fiscal year from the amount spent by Inyo County, and dividing this figure by two.



Lower Owens River Project Work Plan, FY 2022-2023

4

Table 1.  LORP Work Plan Summary Budget, FY 2022-2023

Inyo County Budgeted Staff 
Work Days

Value of Additional Staff Time, 
Materials, and Equipment Payment/Credit

Biologic and Water Quality 16 $16,800.00  

Mosquito Abatement  - $30,000.00  

Noxious Species Control  - $50,000.00  

Adaptive Management 82 $26,344.88  

Inyo County Totals 98 $123,144.88 
$175,435.80

LADWP Budgeted Staff 
Work Days

Budgeted Value of Additional Staff 
Time, Materials, and Equipment  

Hydrologic Monitoring  - $71,460.00  

Biologic and Water Quality 16 $16,800.00  

Operations and Maintenance  - $311,411.59  

Mosquito Abatement  - $30,000.00  

Rodent Control  - $18,000.00  

Adaptive Management 82 $26,344.88  

LADWP Totals 98 $474,016.47  

Combined Total 196 $597,161.35  

Inyo County Credit Adjustment 
 (1/2 of the Difference in 
Expenditures between Inyo 
County and LADWP)

$175,435.80  



Lower Owens River Project Work Plan, FY 2022-2023

Footnote to Table 1. Post Implementation Credit and Trust Accounting
Original Post Implementation Credit  $2,253,033 $2,253,033 

Increase Post Imp Credit by 2.9% based on the July 2007 price Index 2.9% $65,338 $2,318,371 

County’s obligation for July 11, 2007 to June 30, 2008 period  $243,524 $2,074,847 

Increase the remaining balance of the Post Implementation Credit by 5.7% based upon the July 2008 price index 5.7% $118,266 $2,193,113 

County’s obligation for 2008-2009 fiscal year  $243,524 $1,949,589 

Reduce the remaining balance of the Post Implementation Credit by 1.3% based upon the April 2009 price index -1.3% $25,345 $1,924,245 

County’s share of the costs for the 2009-2010 work plan and budget, including adaptive management.  $266,176 $1,658,069 

Increase the remaining balance of the Post Implementation Credit by 1.9% based upon the April 2010 price index 
effective July 10, 2010 1.9% $31,503 $1,689,572 

County’s share of the costs for the 2010-2011 work plan and budget, including adaptive management effective July 21, 
2010.  $317,805 $1,371,767 

Increase the remaining balance of the Post Implementation Credit by 3.3% based upon the April 2011 price index 
effective July 10, 2011. 3.3% $45,268 $1,417,035 

County’s share of the costs for the 2011-2012 work plan and budget, including adaptive management effective July 21, 
2011.  $48,278 $1,368,757 

County’s share of the costs for the Amended 2011-2012 work plan and budget, effective July 21, 2011.  $57,687 $1,311,070 

 Increase the remaining balance of the Post Implementation Credit by 1.5% based upon the April 2012 price index 
effective July 10, 2012. 1.5% $19,666 $1,330,736 

County’s share of the costs for the 2012-2013 work plan and budget, including adaptive management effective July 23, 
2012.  $14,084 $1,344,820 

Increase the remaining balance of the Post Implementation Credit by 0.9% based upon the April 2013 price index 
effective July 10, 2013. 0.9% $12,103 $1,356,924 

County’s share of the costs for the 2013-2014 work plan and budget, including adaptive management effective June 21, 
2013.  $41,979 $1,398,903 

Increase the remaining balance of the Post Implementation Credit by 1.4% based upon the April 2014 price index 
effective July 10, 2014. 1.4% $19,585 $1,418,487 

County’s share of the costs for the 2014-2015 work plan and budget, including adaptive management effective June 21, 
2014.  $78,483 $1,340,004 

Increase the remaining balance of the Post Implementation Credit by 0.5% based upon the April 2015 consumer price 
index. 0.5% $6,700 $1,346,704 

County’s share of the costs for the 2015-2016 work plan and budget, including adaptive management effective June 21, 
2015.  $73,755 $1,272,949 

Increase the remaining balance of the Post Implementation Credit by 2.0% based upon the April 2016 consumer price 
index. 2.0% $25,459 $1,298,408 

County’s share of the costs for the 2016-2017 work plan and budget, including adaptive management effective June 21, 
2016.  $84,704 $1,213,704 

Increase the remaining balance of the Post Implementation Credit by 2.7% based upon the April 2017 consumer price 
index. 2.7% $32,770 $1,246,474 

County’s share of the costs for the 2017-2018 work plan and budget, including adaptive management, effective 
October 31, 2018.  $114,857 $1,131,617 

Increase the remaining balance of the Post Implementation Credit by 4.0% based upon the April 2018 consumer price 
index. 4.0% $45,265 $1,176,882 

County’s share of the costs for the 2018-2019 work plan and budget, including adaptive management, effective 
October 31, 2019.  $139,493 $1,037,389 

Increase the remaining balance of the Post Implementation Credit by 3.3% based upon the April 2019 consumer price 
index. 3.3% $34,234 $1,071,623 

County’s share of the costs for the 2019-2020 work plan and budget, including adaptive management, effective 
October 31, 2020. $132,558 $939,065 

Increase the remaining balance of the Post Implementation Credit by 0.7% based upon the April 2020 consumer price 
index. 0.7% $6,573 $945,639 

County’s share of the costs for the 2020-2021 work plan and budget, including adaptive management, effective 
October 31, 2021.  $252,481 $693,157 

Increase the remaining balance of the Post Implementation Credit by 3.6% based upon the April 2021 consumer price 
index. 3.6% $24,954 $718,111 

The annual CPI adjustment will take place prior to deduction of a credit for County's annual share of the LORP post-implementation costs (PIA 8.4).  The LORP Trust 
Account Balance as of June 13, 2022 is $2,184,481.16.



Lower Owens River Project Work Plan, FY 2022-2023

Section 1.  Maintenance and Monitoring Tasks

LORP Tasks
The maintenance and monitoring portion of this work plan consists of four categories of tasks: 
operations and maintenance, hydrologic monitoring, biological monitoring, and range monitoring.    

Operations and Maintenance 
Maintenance activities consist of cleaning sediment accumulations and other obstructions from water 
measurement facilities, cleaning sediment and aquatic vegetation from ditches, mowing ditch margins, 
adjustments to flow control structures, maintenance/replacement of existing structures, and necessary 
annual maintenance to spillgates, ditches, dikes, berms, ponds and other features in the BWMA.  
Operation activities consist of setting and checking flows and ensuring that necessary flows reach the 
river to maintain mandated base and seasonal habitat flows.  Estimates of the level of effort necessary 
for maintenance are adjusted as required by section II.D of the Funding Agreement, and provides that 
costs for maintenance above the baseline costs for facilities in the river corridor and Blackrock 
Waterfowl Management Area (BWMA) shall be shared.  

Budgeted Operations and Maintenance costs and associated material costs for 2022-2023 are included 
in Table 2.  The estimated costs for River corridor and BWMA facilities are $216,759.40 and $264,257.49 
respectively, for an overall 2022-2023 operations and maintenance expenditure of $481,016.89.  This 
figure reduced by the combined CPI-adjusted baseline costs for the river corridor and BWMA facilities is 
$311,411.59 (Table 2).   

Hydrologic Monitoring
Hydrologic monitoring consists of monitoring, analyzing, and reporting river baseflows and seasonal 
habitat flows, the flooded extent of the Blackrock Waterfowl Management Area (BWMA), the levels of 
the Off-River Lakes and Ponds, and baseflows, pulse flows, and seasonal habitat flows to the Delta.  
Budgeted hydrologic monitoring costs for the 2022-2023 fiscal year are $71,460.00 (Table 3). 

Biological/Water Quality Monitoring
Biological monitoring, analysis, reporting, and report preparation will be jointly conducted by Inyo and 
LADWP as identified in Table 4.01 of the LORP Monitoring and Adaptive Management Plan (MAMP) 
(Table 4).  This year is the fifteenth year of monitoring in the LORP.  Due to staff shortages, LADWP and 
Inyo County will contract vegetation mapping of the project to Formation Environmental, Inc. and will 
equally share those costs ($33,600 total, $16,800 each agency). The scope of work is provided in 
Appendix 1.  

LADWP and Inyo County will conduct habitat indicator species modeling based on this mapping and 
riparian bird surveys conducted in spring 2022.  LADWP and Inyo County Staff will continue to monitor 
the flooded extent of the BWMA as described in the BWMA Interim Management and Monitoring Plan. 
Inyo Staff and LADWP Staff will spend a total of 32 people days on these efforts.  There will be no off-
setting costs.

Adaptive management
Inyo County and LADWP have identified adaptive management tasks to complete in the 2022-2023 fiscal 
year.  Refer to Section 2 for more information. 



Lower Owens River Project Work Plan, FY 2022-2023



Lower Owens River Project Work Plan, FY 2022-2023

8



Lower Owens River Project Work Plan, FY 2022-2023

9

Table 3. Hydrologic Monitoring Budget, FY 2022-2023

 
Person 

days Labor Costs Equipment Cost

Total Predicted Cost 
July 1, 2022 through 

June 30, 2023
 HYDRO OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE
   River Stations 25  $            13,750.00  $               5,800.00  $                  19,550.00 
   Seasonal Habitat 6  $              3,300.00  $                  240.00  $                     3,540.00 
   Off River Lakes & Ponds 7  $              3,850.00  $                  280.00  $                     4,130.00 
   Flow to Delta 4  $              2,200.00  $               3,160.00  $                     5,360.00 
   Blackrock Waterfowl 7  $              3,850.00  $               3,280.00  $                     7,130.00 
   Reporting Compliance 5  $              2,750.00  $                  200.00  $                     2,950.00 
 ENGINEERING
   Reporting Compliance 60  $            28,800.00  $                             -  $                  28,800.00 

Total Hydro 
Budget $71,460.00

Table 4.  Biological Monitoring Budget, FY 2022-2023
Biological Monitoring Days Inyo Days LA Days

Blackrock Waterfowl Management Area    
Waterfowl Area Wetted Acreage 16 8 8
LORP Habitat Indicator Species Modeling 16 8 8

Total Person Days on Project 32 16 16

Range Monitoring
Range monitoring is related to the tasks described in Section 4.6 of the MAMP.  Three types of 
monitoring will take place that are directly related to the management of livestock grazing: irrigated 
pasture condition scoring, utilization and range trend monitoring.  Range monitoring will be conducted 
by LADWP and is not a shared cost, and therefore is not budgeted for in this work plan (Table 5).

Table 5. Range Monitoring (LADWP only), FY 2022-2023

Task People 
Days

Utilization 45
Irrigated Pasture Condition 5
Range Trend 50
Analysis and Reporting 20

Total 120



Lower Owens River Project Work Plan, FY 2022-2023

10

Mosquito Abatement 
For fiscal year 2022-2023, the Owens Valley Mosquito Abatement Program (OVMAP) will continue a 
comprehensive Integrated Mosquito Management Plan (IMMP) when addressing the new and 
developing sources within the LORP in accordance with its mission of protecting public health.  This 
IMMP consists of an expansion of currently used materials and methods for the surveillance and control 
of mosquitoes across the OVMAP boundary as well as contingency planning for late season flushing 
flows.  The $60,000 budget anticipates field surveillance of potential larval habitat for mosquito 
production, larviciding, pupaciding, adult mosquito surveillance with light traps, mosquito borne disease 
surveillance, and treatment for adult mosquitoes. 

Noxious Species Control 
The Inyo/Mono Counties Agricultural Commissioner’s Office conducts operations to control and 
eradicate several different invasive weed species within the LORP boundaries.  These invasive weed 
species include perennial pepperweed (Lepidium latifolium), Russian knapweed (Acroptilon repens), 
Canada thistle (Cirsium arvense), yellow star thistle (Centaurea solstitialis), spotted knapweed 
(Centaurea maculosa), hairy whitetop (Carderia pubescens), and heart podded hoary cress (Carderia 
draba).  These populations are managed using integrated pest management methods, including 
mechanical, chemical, and biological controls.  

For fiscal year 2022-2023, Inyo County will be responsible for treating weeds in the LORP.  The budget 
for noxious weed control is $50,000.  An increase in perennial pepperweed in the LORP in recent years 
will require additional funding and efforts to contain the existing population and prevent spread.  
Additional funding for Inyo County will be sought from outside sources.  

Additional weed treatment and surveillance by LADWP and ICWD is described in Section 2. Adaptive 
Management.

Saltcedar Control
Due to lack of enhanced funding, Inyo County’s saltcedar control program has been scaled back. The 
effort will focus on surveying and the treatment of saltcedar resprouts along the Owens River in the 
LORP. Inyo County’s LORP saltcedar control activities are funded through the Inyo/Los Angeles Water 
Agreement.  LADWP and Inyo County programs will work cooperatively to treat saltcedar, which may 
include areas in the LORP as resources are available. 



Lower Owens River Project Work Plan, FY 2022-2023

11

Schedule

Table 6. Schedule of Monitoring and Reporting Activities for FY 2022-2023 

Period Monitoring

July 1-August 31, 2022 BWMA waterfowl forage surveys

August 1-August 31, 2022 LORP Noxious Species Survey

September 1 – February 1, 2023 LADWP/Inyo Prepare Draft LORP Report

October 1 - October 31, 2022 Fiscal Year 2019-2020 Work Plan and Budget Reconciliation

October 31, 2022 Transmittal of LORP Accounting Report to Governing Boards

November 1-7, 2022 Measure BWMA Flooded Extent

February 10, 2023 Draft Report transmitted to MOU Parties

February 23, 2023 Public Meeting for Draft LORP Report

March 1-7, 2023 Measure BWMA Flooded Extent

March 6-31, 2023 Technical Group Meeting to Adopt LORP Annual Report 

March 1 – April 30, 2023 Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Work Plan and Budget Development

May 1 – May 31, 2023 Transmittal of LORP Work Plan, Budget, and Schedule to governing boards for approval

March 15 - April 14, 2023 Noxious Species Survey

June 2023 Mid-year observational meeting regarding BWMA interim plan

June 1-July 1, 2023 BWMA waterfowl forage surveys

May 2 - June 15, 2023 Seasonal Habitat Flow



Lower Owens River Project Work Plan, FY 2022-2023

12

 Section 2.  Adaptive Management

Implementation costs of the Interim BWMA Plan are provided below.  These costs are to be shared 
equally between LADWP and Inyo County.  All other monitoring associated with adaptive management 
will be conducted by LADWP and ICWD staff with no offsetting costs.  

Adaptive Management with Additional Costs
Implementation of the Interim BWMA Management and Monitoring Plan
LADWP and Inyo County implemented the first year of the 5-year Interim BWMA Management and 
Monitoring Plan (Interim Plan) in 2021-2022.  Work to be performed in 2022-2023 includes berm repair 
in the waterfowl units, culvert installation and discing of the Winterton Unit.  All work will be performed 
before reflooding the cells in September 2022.  This work will be conducted by LADWP and is budgeted 
at $52,689.76 (Table 7).  Costs will be shared equally by LADWP and Inyo County.

Table 7.  BWMA Adaptive Management Costs
BWMA Adaptive Management Costs FY 2022-2023

Labor type Hours Labor Rate
Total 
Labor  Equipment Type Hours Rate

Total 
Equip

Berm Repair -Thibaut (2), Winterton (1)   
Power Shovel 
Operator 40 $50.61 $2,024.40  Excavator 40 $108.80 $4,352.00 
Operator 40 $48.89 $1,955.60  Water truck 20 $31.23 $624.60 
Truck Driver 40 $45.30 $1,812.00  3 axle dump truck 60 $56.50 $3,390.00 
Subtotal   $5,792.00     $8,366.60 
Open Berm in NW Section of Thibaut   
Operator 10 $48.89 $488.90  Bulldozer 10 $61.65 $616.50 
Truck Driver 5 $45.30 $226.50  Lowbed 5 $65.66 $328.30 
     3/4 ton 4x4 pick- up 10 $13.60 $136.00 
Subtotal   $715.40     $1,080.80 
Winterton Discing   
Operator 160 $48.89 $7,822.40  Mower 160 $108.80 $17,408.00 
MCH 160 $39.77 $6,363.20  3/4 ton 4x4 pick- up 160 $13.60 $2,176.00 
Subtotal   $14,185.60     $19,584.00 
East Winterton Culvert   
PSO 10 $48.89 $488.90  Excavator 10 $108.80 $1,088.00 
Building 
Repairman 10 $45.07 $450.70  Lowbed 6 $65.66 $393.96 
Truck Driver 6 $45.30 $271.80  3/4 ton 4x4 pick- up 20 $13.60 $272.00 
Subtotal   $1,211.40     $1,753.96 
TOTALS       
Berm Repair -
Thibaut/Winterton $14,158.60       
Open Berm - Thibaut $1,796.20       
Winterton Discing $33,769.60       
East Winterton Culvert $2,965.36       
Proposed Project Total $52,689.76       



Lower Owens River Project Work Plan, FY 2022-2023

13

Adaptive Management without Additional Costs

1. Monitoring Associated with the Interim BWMA Plan
Per the Interim BWMA Plan, LADWP and the County will conduct additional monitoring concurrent with 
its implementation on flooded extent, vegetation, and water depths as well as avian monitoring to note 
response to the new flooding regime.  Estimated staff commitments for these monitoring tasks are 
provided below for the 2022-2023 fiscal year.  

 Flooded extent will continue to be measured both to confirm compliance with the Interim Plan 
and to help describe the effectiveness of seasonal filling and drawdown. Remote sensing will be 
used to take rough area estimates, and two on-the-ground surveys will be used to map more 
precisely the extent and location of flooding. Water releases will be monitored and reported 
annually.  Staff time commitment for flooded extent monitoring in BWMA is outlined in Table 4, 
as this task is required under the MAMP also.

 Vegetation monitoring will consist of line-point vegetation transects and/or plots in areas 
expected to have the most potential to produce waterfowl foods.  A second objective of 
monitoring is to evaluate the effectiveness of controlling the expansion of cattails and bulrush in 
active units. This can be mapped and quantified from a combination of satellite imagery, aerial 
imagery from UAV, and field training data.  Evaluating the vegetative response following shallow 
flooding will help managers determine the following year’s flooding schedule.  This task is 
estimated to require 16 days of LADWP staff time.

 Avian monitoring will be conducted to evaluate the use of BWMA by the habitat indicator 
species during implementation of the 5-year interim program.  Eight seasonal surveys will be 
conducted September-April in each active unit during implementation of the Interim Plan.  
Based on the 2021-2022 monitoring year, it is anticipated that each of these surveys will take 4-
6 people days, depending on the extent of flooding during any particular survey.  It is anticipated 
that avian monitoring will take up to 48 people days in 2022-2023 split equally between LADWP 
and ICWD. 

 During 2022-2023, water depth in active units will be measured by Inyo County coinciding with 
avian surveys to better understand how water depth influences waterbird habitat use.  Patterns 
of unit drydown will also be monitored to inform whether there are opportunities that could 
further benefit breeding waterfowl and their broods.  Staff time for this task is included in avian 
monitoring requirements.  

It is estimated that monitoring and reporting associated with the Interim Plan will require 64 total 
people days split between LADWP and ICWD staff in the 2022-2023 fiscal year.

2. DHA Flow Effectiveness monitoring 
Flow effectiveness monitoring will consist of reviewing photos of the DHA taken from a helicopter 
during surveillance flights of the Owens Lake Dust Control Program to evaluate whether the three 
habitat criteria established in Year 1 were achieved. This effort is anticipated to take two person days 
and will be conducted by LADWP. 

3. Noxious species survey and treatment
Additional noxious weed treatment and surveillance by LADWP and ICWD initiated in 2020-2021 will 
continue in 2022-2023.   ICWD will continue survey work in the LORP (including BWMA) and LADWP will 
offset survey efforts with treatment of noxious weeds in the LORP area.  Estimated staff time includes 
15 days from ICWD and 48 days from LADWP. 



Lower Owens River Project Work Plan, FY 2022-2023

14

4. Tree recruitment assessment 
The environmental conditions which have permitted historic riparian tree establishment on the LORP 
during pre-project conditions (pre-watering) as well as conditions which have permitted the limited 
recruitment since project inception (post-watering) will be evaluated. Known locations with mature 
trees and prior recruitment locations will be assessed as described in the 2021-2022 work plan (LADWP 
and ICWD 2021) and the Type D Monitoring Plan (Appendix 1, ICWD 2021). In 2022-2023, these tasks 
will require 35 field days for sampling, data collection, analysis and reporting. Inyo County will carry out 
this task.

Table 8 shows a total of 164 people-days budgeted for four adaptive management tasks, with Inyo 
County contributing 82 people-days and Los Angeles contributing 82 days. 

Table 8. Adaptive Management Monitoring 2022-2023

Task # Biological Monitoring Days Inyo 
Days

LA 
Days

1 BWMA Interim Management and Monitoring Plan 
- Monitoring and Reporting 64 32 32

2 DHA Flow Effectiveness Monitoring 2 0 2
3 Noxious species survey/treatment 63 15 48
4 Tree recruitment assessment 35 35 0
 Total Person Days 164 82 82

References
Inyo County Water Department 2021. Type D Riparian Vegetation Monitoring Annual Status Report 
2020. Accessed at: https://www.inyowater.org/wp-
content/uploads/2021/08/TypeD_AnnualReport_2020_08242021_FINAL.pdf

Los Angeles Department of Water and Power and Inyo County Water Department. 2021. Lower Owens 
River Project Work Plan, Budget, and Schedule 2021-2022 Fiscal Year. Accessed at: 
https://www.inyowater.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/2021-22-LORP-Final-Work-Plan-Budget-
Schedule.pdf

https://www.inyowater.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/TypeD_AnnualReport_2020_08242021_FINAL.pdf
https://www.inyowater.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/TypeD_AnnualReport_2020_08242021_FINAL.pdf


Lower Owens River Project Work Plan, FY 2022-2023

15

Appendix 1.  LORP Mapping Scope of Work, Formation Environmental, Inc.



Table 1.  LORP Work Plan Summary Budget, FY 2022-2023

Inyo County Budgeted Staff 
Work Days

Value of Additional Staff Time, 
Materials, and Equipment Payment/Credit

Biologic and Water Quality 16 $16,800.00  

Mosquito Abatement  - $30,000.00  

Noxious Species Control  - $50,000.00  

Adaptive Management 82 $26,344.88  

Inyo County Totals 98 $123,144.88 ($175,435.80)

LADWP Budgeted Staff 
Work Days

Budgeted Value of Additional Staff 
Time, Materials, and Equipment  

Hydrologic Monitoring  - $71,460.00  

Biologic and Water Quality 16 $16,800.00  

Operations and Maintenance  - $311,411.59  

Mosquito Abatement  - $30,000.00  

Rodent Control  - $18,000.00  

Adaptive Management 82 $26,344.88  

LADWP Totals 98 $474,016.47  

Combined Total 196 $597,161.35  

Inyo County Credit Adjustment 
 (1/2 of the Difference in 
Expenditures between Inyo 
County and LADWP)

($175,435.80)  



County of Inyo

Clerk of the Board
 

DEPARTMENTAL - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  June 28, 2022
 
FROM:  Assistant Clerk of the Board
 
SUBJECT:  Board Meeting Minutes Approval
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board approve the minutes of the regular Board of Supervisors meetings of June 7, June 14, and June 
21, 2022.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
The Board is required to keep minutes of its proceedings. Once the Board has approved the minutes as 
requested, the minutes will be made available to the public via the County’s webpage, www.inyocounty.us.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
N/A
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
N/A
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
N/A
 
FINANCING:
N/A
 
ATTACHMENTS:
 
APPROVALS:
Darcy Ellis Created/Initiated - 6/22/2022
Darcy Ellis Final Approval - 6/22/2022



County of Inyo

Clerk of the Board
 

TIMED ITEMS - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  June 28, 2022
 
FROM:  County Counsel
 
SUBJECT:  Inyo County Board of Equalization Local Rules and Filing Fee
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board: A) hold public hearing regarding proposed resolution titled, “Resolution of the Inyo County Board 
of Supervisors, in its role as the local Board of Equalization, Approving Assessment Appeals Local Rules," and B) 
approve the resolution and authorize the Chairperson to sign.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
The proposed resolution adopts the County of Inyo Board of Equalization Local Rules and implements a non-
refundable filing fee related to assessment appeal applications. The proposed fee, if approved by resolution, 
would become effective immediately. The fee is based on the average amount of time it takes the Assistant Clerk 
of the Board to accept, process, and file an assessment appeal, and is meant to recoup the cost of that staff time 
as allowed by law.

Inyo County is among a minority of counties in California that does not charge a filing fee for tax assessment 
appeals. Likewise, Inyo County is one of a very few counties in California that has not adopted rules of procedure 
for its Board of Equalization. As such, the County has not been able to recoup its costs in staff time related to the 
filing of assessment appeals, nor has it been able to introduce and enforce effective policy for the filing of tax 
assessment appeals above and beyond those outlined in the Tax Code.  The proposed filing fee may be waived 
if it is determined the fees will cause financial hardship for applicants who would qualify for a waiver of court fees 
and costs under California Government Code section 68632.

Policies the County will be able to enforce upon adoption of the Local Rules include not accepting applications 
electronically or via facsimile, and requiring that a separate application be filed for every parcel where the 
taxpayer is contesting the assessment.

Staff believes having clear policies in place will be helpful to both the County and the taxpayers. 
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
N/A
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
Your Board could choose to reject the proposed Rules and filing fee, however this is not recommended.



Agenda Request 
Page 2

 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
County Counsel
 
FINANCING:
There is no negative fiscal impact anticipated from the adoption of these rules and fee.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Resolution Adopting BOE Rules
2. Exhibit 1 - Proposed Rules 6.22.22
 
APPROVALS:
Darcy Ellis Created/Initiated - 6/16/2022
Darcy Ellis Approved - 6/16/2022
John Vallejo Approved - 6/23/2022
Amy Shepherd Approved - 6/23/2022
Leslie Chapman Final Approval - 6/23/2022



                                 
                                                                                                                           

1

RESOLUTION NO. 2022-  _______

A RESOLUTION OF THE INYO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS,
 COUNTY OF INYO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, APPROVING 

ASSESSMENT APPEALS BOARD LOCAL RULES

WHEREAS, the Inyo County Board of Supervisors acting as the Inyo County Board of 
Equalization is responsible for receiving, processing, hearing and deciding applications for reduction in 
property tax assessment filed under Revenue and Taxation Code section 1603; and  

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors has the power and authority under Section 16 of Article 
13 of the California Constitution to adopt local procedural rules to be applied when it acts as the Inyo 
County Board of Equalization; and 

WHEREAS, the Inyo County Board of Supervisors has determined that it is necessary and 
desirable to adopt local rules for the uniform processing of such applications for reduction in assessment 
under Section 1603; and

WHEREAS, the County of Inyo currently does not charge applicants a fee for filing assessment 
appeal applications; and the Board of Supervisors wishes to establish a filing fee in connection with the 
processing of assessment appeal applications; and

WHEREAS, the proposed Assessment Appeals Board Local Rules, which are attached hereto as 
Exhibit 1 and incorporated herein by this reference, include a filing fee in the amount of $22.80, which 
appears consistent with applicable legal mandates, in a reasonable amount that is applied in a uniform 
manner; and 

WHEREAS, filing fees are not refunded but may be waived where the applicant would qualify 
for a waiver of court fees and costs pursuant to California Government Code section 68632; and

WHEREAS, the Board conducted a noticed public hearing as required by Government Code 
section 66018. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Inyo County Board of Supervisors hereby 
establishes and approves the Assessment Appeals Board Local Rules (Exhibit 1), which includes the 
establishment of a $22.80 fee for Assessment Appeal application filings to be paid at the time of filing, 
which fee may be waived upon a showing that the applicant would qualify for a wavier of court fees and 
costs pursuant to Government Code section 68632, effective immediately. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED on this ____ day of ______________, 2022, by the Inyo County 
Board of Supervisors, County of Inyo, by the following  vote:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSTAIN:
ABSENT:

____________________________________



                                 
                                                                                                                           

2

Dan Totheroh, Chair
Inyo County Board of Supervisors
County of Inyo, State of California

ATTEST:   Clerk of the Board

By_______________________________
     

                    



EXHIBIT 1 

 

BOARD OF EQUALIZATION 

OF THE 

COUNTY OF INYO 

 

LOCAL RULES 

 

 

Adopted by the Board of Supervisors 

Pursuant to Resolution #2022-23



EXHIBIT 1 

i 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. ASSESSMENT APPEALS OVERVIEW ............................................................................. 1 

A. Property Valuation Process ..................................................................................................... 1 

B. Purpose of Local Rules ............................................................................................................ 1 

C. Legal Authority ........................................................................................................................ 1 

D. Access to Local Rules .............................................................................................................. 2 

E. Definitions ............................................................................................................................... 2 

II. FILING APPLICATIONS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS ........................................................... 4 

A. Electronic Filing of Documents ............................................................................................... 4 

B. Filing an Application ................................................................................................................ 5 

C. Fee Waiver .............................................................................................................................. 5 

D. Agent Authorization ................................................................................................................ 6 

E. Revocation or Substitution of Agent ....................................................................................... 6 

F. Optional Information ............................................................................................................... 6 

G. Invalid Applications ................................................................................................................. 7 

H. Appeal of Invalidity ................................................................................................................. 8 

I. Consolidation of Applications .................................................................................................. 8 

J. Amendments and Corrections ................................................................................................. 8 

K. Claim for Refund ...................................................................................................................... 9 

L. Withdrawal .............................................................................................................................. 9 

M. Copy of Application to Assessor ............................................................................................ 9 

III. PREPARING FOR HEARING ..................................................................................... 9 

A. Notice of Hearing .................................................................................................................... 9 

B. Hearing Confirmation Form .................................................................................................. 10 

C. Request for Postponement ................................................................................................... 10 

D. Disqualification of a BOE Member ........................................................................................ 11 

E. Completion of Discovery and Exchange of Information ....................................................... 12 

F. Subpoenas and Sanctions ...................................................................................................... 13 



ii 
 

G. Pre-hearing Conferences ...................................................................................................... 14 

H. Motions ................................................................................................................................. 15 

I. Exhibits ................................................................................................................................... 17 

J. Recordings and Transcripts .................................................................................................... 18 

K. Request for Findings of Fact .................................................................................................. 18 

IV. ASSESSMENT APPEAL HEARING ............................................................................ 19 

A. Legal Counsel ........................................................................................................................ 19 

B. Stipulations ............................................................................................................................ 19 

C. Continuances ......................................................................................................................... 19 

D. Presumptions and Burden of Proof ...................................................................................... 20 

E. Open Hearings ....................................................................................................................... 21 

F. Bifurcated Hearings  .............................................................................................................. 22 

G. Order of Proceedings ............................................................................................................ 22 

H. Decision Process ................................................................................................................... 25 

V. AFTER THE APPEAL HEARING ................................................................................ 27 

A. Notice of Decision ................................................................................................................. 27 

B. Reconsideration & Rehearing ............................................................................................... 28 

C. Judicial Review ...................................................................................................................... 28 

D. Retention of Records ............................................................................................................ 29 

 

APPENDIX ......................................................................................................... 30 

 

 



1 
 

 

I.  ASSESSMENT APPEALS OVERVIEW 

A. Property Valuation Process     The Board of Supervisors for each county in California also 
serves as the local Board of Equalization (“BOE”) with authority to equalize the valuation of 
taxable property within the county by adjusting individual assessments.   
 
The value of property is determined by the Assessor and, on that basis, the Treasurer-Tax 
Collector bills and collects property taxes from property owners.  When the property owner 
disagrees with assessed value for a property, he/she should initially: 
 
1) Contact the Assessor’s office to obtain additional information about the valuation 

process and/or provide additional, pertinent information about the property’s value; 
 

2) You may view the Assessment Appeals Video here: Your Assessment Appeal (ca.gov) 
 

If the property owner and Assessor cannot reach an agreement, the property owner can 
appeal the valuation to the BOE.  The BOE hears and resolves property valuation disputes 
between the Assessor and property owners to ensure the equitable Application of property 
taxes within the County. 

 
B. Purpose of Local Rules     Many aspects of the property valuation and appeal process are 

prescribed by state law (Section C of this rule, below).  Local Boards of Equalization are 
authorized to adopt Local Rules to facilitate their work and ensure uniformity in the 
processing and deciding of appeals.  These Rules do not claim or attempt to reiterate the 
state laws and regulations governing the property valuation process. Rather, they provide 
information specific to the scheduling and hearing of cases within Inyo County.  To the 
extent they conflict with higher legal authority, they are invalid. 
 

C. Legal Authority     The BOE, the Assessor and the Applicant follow state rules governing the 
local equalization process. 

1) The California Constitution authorizes the creation of one or more county boards for the 
purpose of equalizing assessments of individual properties and briefly describes their 
function of equalizing values on the local roll. 

2) The Revenue and Taxation Code implements the constitutional provisions applicable to 
assessment appeals and other property tax matters and provides the basic framework 
of the assessment appeals process.  

3) The California Code of Regulations includes provisions, commonly referred to as the 
Property Tax Rules, pertaining to the role and function of BOEs.  

https://www.boe.ca.gov/info/AssessmentVideo/


2 
 

4) The BOE cannot:  

a) Grant or deny exemptions or consider whether exemptions were improperly denied;  

b) Raise or lower the entire assessment roll;  

c) Extend the time for filing Applications for equalization;  

d) Remove or waive penalties for delinquent payment of taxes;  

e) Reduce an assessment due to damage, destruction or depreciation after the lien 
date of the year in question;  

f) Change tax rates.  

The BOE acts in a quasi-judicial capacity and renders its decision only on the basis of proper 
evidence presented at the hearing. The BOE has no legislative power.   

D. Access to Local Rules     These Local Rules are maintained by the Inyo County Board of 
Supervisor’s Clerk’s Office, located at, 224 N. Edwards St., Independence, and can be 
accessed via the Board Clerk’s website, which is located on the Internet at: 
https://www.inyocounty.us/government/board-supervisors/services-
information/assessment-appeals. Copies of these Local Rules are also available for review at 
the Clerk’s Office during regular business hours and may be purchased in person or by mail 
for an amount established by applicable law. 
 

E. Definitions     For purposes of these Local Rules, the following capitalized words shall have 
the meanings as set forth below: 

 
1) Applicant: A person or entity affected, the parent, child, or spouse of a person affected, 

or his or her duly authorized agent, who files an Application for Changed Assessment.  

2) Application: Form entitled “Application for Changed Assessment” used for the filing of 
an Assessment Appeal. 

3) Assessor: The elected Assessor of Inyo County. 

4) Assessment Appeal: A formal request for a change in a property tax assessment made to 
the BOE pursuant to Revenue and Taxation Code § 1601 et. seq. 

5) Assessed Value: The property value, established by the Assessor using one or more 
appraisal techniques and/or methods, against which the tax rate is applied. 

6) Assessor’s Parcel Number or A.P.N.: The Assessor’s parcel number assigned to identify 
every parcel of real property in the County. The A.P.N. will appear on all correspondence 
received from the Assessor relating to that particular property parcel as the “Assessor 
Parcel Number” or “Assessment Number.” 

7) Authorized Agent: A California licensed attorney retained by the Applicant for the 

https://www.inyocounty.us/government/board-supervisors/services-information/assessment-appeals
https://www.inyocounty.us/government/board-supervisors/services-information/assessment-appeals


3 
 

Assessment Appeal, or a parent, child, or spouse of the Applicant, or any other person 
with the Applicant’s express written authority to represent the Applicant for the appeal. 

8) Base Year Value: Fair market value as of either the 1975 lien date or the date the 
property was most recently purchased, newly constructed, or last underwent a change 
in ownership or change in control. 

9) BOE: The Inyo County Board of Equalization, also known as the BOE. 

10) Chair: The Chair of the Inyo County BOE. 

11) Clerk: The Clerk of the Inyo County BOE, who is also the Clerk of the County Board of 
Supervisors. 

12) Cross-examination: The interrogation of a witness called by the opposing party to testify 
during a hearing. It is preceded by direct examination and may be followed by a redirect 
examination. 

13) Continuance: The stopping of a hearing, after the taking of some evidence by the BOE, 
such that the hearing is resumed where it left off on another day.  The same BOE 
members must hear said continued matters. 

14) County: The County of Inyo. 

15) Day: A calendar day, unless otherwise specified as a “business day.” 

16) Direct-examination: The questioning of a witness by the party who called him or her to 
testify in a hearing.  Direct examination is usually performed to elicit evidence in support 
of facts that will help prove a party's claim or defense. 

17) Findings of Fact: A document prepared at the direction or request of the BOE after the 
hearing which summarizes the facts and evidence presented at hearing, and which sets 
forth the conclusions reached by the BOE. 

18) Hearing: A scheduled session before the BOE during which testimony, other evidence, 
and argument may be presented, by both the Applicant and the Assessor, as bases for 
the BOE’s determination of a specific issue or issues.  

19) Hearing Confirmation Form: A form sent from the Clerk to an Applicant to be filled out 
by the Applicant and returned to the Clerk for purposes of scheduling the Hearing.   

20) High Value Appeal: An Application pertaining to property that has an enrolled taxable 
value of $20 million or more. 

21) Lien Date: The time when taxes for any fiscal year become a lien on property.  That time 
for all taxable property is 12:01 a.m. on January 1 of each year, beginning in 1997.  Prior 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Witness
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Direct_examination
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Redirect_examination


4 
 

to January 1, 1997, the lien date was March 1 of each year. 

22) Local Roll: The list of all property within the County that is assessed by the Assessor and 
available for inspection at the Assessor’s public counter. 

23) Local Rules: These Inyo County BOE Local Rules. 

24) Motion: A written request or petition for an order filed with the Clerk before a hearing 
on an Application.  

25) Notice of Hearing: A letter sent to a party notifying him or her of the date, time, 
location, and purpose of a scheduled hearing. 

26) Notice of Invalid Application: A letter sent from the Clerk notifying the applicant that 
his/her Application is invalid as untimely and/or incomplete and the potential remedies 
available to the Applicant. 

27) Party: The Assessor and the person or entity affected that files an assessment appeal. 

28) Person or Entity Affected: Any person or entity having a direct economic interest in the 
payment of property taxes on the property for the valuation date that is the subject of 
an Application before the BOE, including the property owner, a lessee required by the 
property lease to pay the property taxes, and a property owner who acquires an 
ownership interest after the lien date if the new owner is also responsible for payment 
of property taxes for the lien date that is the subject of the Application. 

29) Postponement: The change of a scheduled hearing to a later date or time, prior to the 
submission of any evidence to the BOE.  

30) Recess: A brief break in a hearing, given at the BOE’s discretion, that does not constitute 
a Continuance. 

31) Redirect Examination: The questioning of a witness by the party who called him or her 
to testify in a hearing in order to explain or otherwise qualify any damaging or accusing 
testimony brought out by the opponent during cross-examination.  Redirect 
examination is limited to the scope of the cross-examination. 

 

II.  FILING APPLICATIONS & OTHER DOCUMENTS 

A. Electronic Filing of Documents     Under no circumstances will an “Application for Changed 
Assessment” form be accepted by facsimile transmission or electronic mail.  (In the event 
that the Clerk has established online filing of assessment appeal applications, the signature 
requirements for application will be accepted pursuant to established standards set forth by 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Testimony
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cross-examination


5 
 

the California Secretary of State.)  
 
The Clerk shall accept other written documents (e.g. agent authorizations, stipulations, 
moving papers, requests for reconsideration, etc.) transmitted by electronic mail (email) or 
facsimile machines provided that all material information within the document is legible, 
the document is signed and received by the Clerk within the applicable time constraints, 
and the following requirements are met: 
 
1) Email: Documents submitted by email must be scanned and attached in a PDF format to 

the email message.  The subject line of the email message must include the A.P.N. or 
assessment number listed on the application as well as a description of the document 
enclosed.  PDF attachments that fail to open or trigger a virus warning on the Clerk’s 
computer will be deemed rejected. 

 
2) Facsimile: Facsimile documents shall contain the phrase “By Fax” immediately following 

the signature of the signing party. 
 

By choosing to deliver a document by fax transmission or email, the Applicant or Agent 
represents that the original signed document is in his or her possession or control, and that 
no alteration has been made to the document form or its data.  In the event a dispute arises 
regarding the timeliness of filing any document electronically, it is the Applicant’s 
responsibility to provide the BOE with all relevant evidence supporting the Applicant’s 
assertion of timeliness. 

 
B. Filing an Application     Filing an application does not relieve the taxpayer of his or her 

responsibility to pay the property tax in a timely fashion. The “Application for Changed 
Assessment” form must:  

 
1) Only include one APN per Application;  

2) Be complete and submitted on the current approved form, available from the Clerk; 

3) Be filed by a person or entity affected, the parent, child, or spouse of a person affected, 
or an authorized agent of a person or entity affected; 

4) Be filed with the Clerk by mail or personal delivery within the prescribed timelines; 

5) Include original signature(s) (copies or facsimile filings cannot be accepted) and the 
required non-refundable processing fee of $22.80 per parcel. 

C. Fee Waiver     Applicants may qualify for a waiver of the processing fee based on receipt of 
public assistance or income level.  Applicants requesting a waiver of the processing fee must 
submit the “Confidential Request for Waiver of Assessment Appeal Administrative 
Processing Fee” form, available on the Clerk’s website, in lieu of the processing fee.  A 
processing fee or request for fee waiver form must accompany each application for 

http://www.sbcounty.gov/assessmentappeals


6 
 

Changed Assessment filed or the application cannot be processed.  

D. Agent Authorization     A person or entity affected who wishes to authorize an agent who is 
not an attorney licensed to practice in the State of California or the parent, child, or spouse 
of the person affected must: 

1) Complete and sign the section titled “Agent or Attorney For Applicant” of the 
Application for Changed Assessment Appeal form, or 

2) Attach a written authorization to the application, prior to filing the application with the 
Clerk, containing all the following required information: 

a) The date the authorization statement is executed; 

b) A statement to the effect that the agent is authorized to sign, file, and withdraw the 
application in the specific calendar year in which the application is filed; 

c) The specific parcel(s) or assessments(s) covered by the authorization, or a statement 
that the agent is authorized to represent the Applicant on all parcels and 
assessments located in Inyo County; 

d) The name, address and telephone number of the specific agent who is authorized to 
represent the Applicant; 

e) The Applicant’s signature and title; 

f) A statement that the agent will provide the Applicant with a copy of the application. 

3) If a photocopy of the original authorization is attached to the application, the agent shall 
be prepared to submit an original signed authorization if requested by the BOE.  The 
application form shall show that the agent's authorization was attached to the 
application.  An agent must have authorization to file an application at the time the 
application is filed; retroactive authorizations are not permitted. 

4) If the Applicant is a corporation, limited partnership, or a limited liability company, the 
agent authorization must be signed by an officer or authorized employee of the business 
entity. 

E. Revocation or Substitution of An Agent     An Applicant who wishes to cancel or revoke the 
previous authorization of an agent, or who wishes to substitute a new agent for a former 
agent previously authorized, must complete a new Agent Authorization form and file it with 
the Clerk.  Unless a new Agent Authorization form has been properly completed and filed 
with the Clerk, all correspondence regarding the appeal will continue to be sent to the 
agent who was first authorized to act on the Applicant’s behalf. Such person will remain the 
authorized agent for the application, and may settle by stipulation, withdraw or otherwise 
control the appeal. 

 
F. Optional Information     In addition to the other information required by the Revenue and 



7 
 

Taxation Code, Applicants are encouraged to provide their email contact information on 
each application they file.   Inclusion of email contact information on an application shall 
constitute the Applicant’s consent to receive correspondence related to the application from 
the Clerk by email.  Unless otherwise required, the Clerk may utilize the email address 
provided by the Applicant as the sole means by which to communicate with the Applicant 
regarding an application.  

 
G. Invalid Applications     Following review by the Clerk, applications that are either untimely 

or incomplete and not corrected according to subsection 2 of this rule shall be denied by 
the Clerk as invalid and no hearing will be scheduled.  The BOE lacks jurisdiction to hear an 
assessment appeal when the application for the assessment appeal is invalid. 

 
1) Untimely Applications: The Clerk shall determine if an application is timely filed as 

follows: 

a) Any application or re-submittal of a corrected application, that is filed by mail or 
personal delivery and received at the Clerk’s office no later than 5:00 p.m. of the last 
day of that application’s applicable filing or correction deadline is timely filed. 

b) Any application or re-submittal of a corrected application, that is filed by mail that 
has the postage prepaid, is properly addressed, and bears a U.S. postmark date no 
later than the last day of that application’s applicable filing or correction deadline 
shall be deemed timely filed. 

c) An application or re-submittal of a corrected application filed by mail that bears 
both a private business postage meter postmark date and a U.S. Postal Service 
postmark date will be deemed to have been filed on the date that is the same as the 
U.S. Postal Service postmark date, even if the private business postage meter date is 
the earlier of the two postmark dates.  

d) If the last day of the filing period falls on Saturday, Sunday, or a legal holiday, an 
application that is properly addressed, mailed, and postmarked on the next business 
day or received by the Clerk on the next business day shall be deemed timely filed.  
If the county's offices are closed for business prior to 5 p.m. or for the entire day on 
which the deadline for filing falls, that day shall be considered a legal holiday. 

2) Incomplete Applications: An application lacking any of the information required by 
Property Tax Rule section 305(c)(1) is incomplete. 

 
3) Notice of Invalidity: When any application or re-submittal of a corrected application is 

untimely filed, the Clerk shall promptly notify the Applicant that no assessment appeal 
hearing will be set because the filing of his or her application is invalid as untimely and 
informing the Applicant of his or her right to appeal the denial of a hearing, according to 
the procedure in section H of this rule. 

 
When an application is timely filed yet incomplete, the Clerk shall promptly notify the 
Applicant that the application is incomplete, outlining the information required to 



8 
 

complete the application, warning that if the missing information is not received by the 
Clerk within thirty (30) days of service of the notice (either the postmark date of a letter 
or the date a notification is sent by email) no assessment appeal hearing will be set, and 
informing the Applicant of his or her right to appeal denial of a hearing, according to the 
procedure in section H of this rule. 

 
H. Appeal of Invalidity     The Applicant may appeal the denial of a hearing based on the 

invalidity of his or her application as untimely or incomplete only by filing a written request 
to the Clerk within thirty (30) days of the notifying letter’s postmark date or email 
origination date.  If a timely written request to appeal the application’s invalidity is received 
by the Clerk, the Clerk shall schedule the application for a jurisdictional Hearing to 
determine whether the application will be denied by the BOE as untimely and/or 
incomplete.  

Additionally, the Assessor may appeal the Clerk’s determination that an application is valid 
or otherwise challenge the BOE’s jurisdiction to hear an appeal by filing a written request 
for a jurisdictional hearing at any time prior to the scheduled hearing on the appeal’s 
merits. 

As a condition to declaring a previously incorrect or incomplete application complete under 
this rule, the BOE may require the Applicant to execute a written agreement to extend the 
period for hearing and decision on the application beyond the two-year period required by 
Revenue and Taxation Code Section 1604. 

I. Consolidation of Applications     Multiple applications presenting the same or substantially 

related issues may be consolidated for hearing.  

J. Amendments & Corrections     An Applicant or Authorized Agent may amend an application 
without limitation until 5:00 p.m. on the last day upon which the application can be timely 
filed. After the filing period has expired:  

1) An invalid application may be corrected in accordance with subsection (G)(3) of this rule. 

2) The Applicant or the Authorized Agent may amend an application provided that the 
effect of the amendment is not to request relief additional to or different in nature from 
that originally requested.  

3) Upon request of the Applicant or the Authorized Agent, the BOE, in its discretion, may 
allow the Applicant or the Authorized Agent to make amendments to the application in 
addition to those specified above in subdivisions (1) and (2) to state additional facts 
claimed to require a reduction of the assessment that is the subject of the application.  

4) The Applicant or the Authorized Agent shall state the reasons for the request, which 
shall be made in writing and filed with the Clerk prior to any scheduled hearing, or may 
be made orally at the hearing.  If made in writing, the Clerk shall provide a copy to the 



9 
 

Assessor upon receipt of the request.  

5) As a condition to granting a request to amend an application, the BOE may require the 
Applicant to sign a written agreement extending the two-year period provided in section 
1604 of the Revenue and Taxation Code.  

6) If a request to amend is granted, and upon the request of the Assessor, the hearing on 
the matter shall be continued by the BOE for no less than 45 days, unless the parties 
mutually agree to a different period of time.  

7) An Applicant or the Authorized Agent shall be permitted to present testimony and other 
evidence at the hearing to support a full value that may be different from the opinion of 
value stated on the application.  The presentation of such testimony or other evidence 
shall not be considered an amendment. 

K. Claim for Refund     If a valid Application is designated as a claim for refund pursuant to 
section 5097 of the Revenue and Taxation Code, the Applicant shall be deemed to have 
challenged each finding of the BOE and to have satisfied the requirements of section 
5097.02 of the Revenue and Taxation Code. 

 
L. Withdrawal     Unless the Assessor has given the Applicant a written notice of the intent to 

recommend an increase in the assessed value of the property, an application may be 
unconditionally withdrawn at any time prior to or at the time of the hearing upon written 
request to the Clerk, signed by the Applicant, or by returning the Hearing Confirmation 
Letter to the Clerk with the withdrawal box marked.  When a notice of intent to increase the 
assessed value of the subject property has been issued pursuant to Revenue and Taxation 
Code section 1609.4, withdrawal of the application may only be made with the consent of 
the Assessor.  No conditional withdrawal will be accepted. Once made, all withdrawals are 
final and may not be revoked. 

 
M. Copy of Application to Assessor     The Clerk shall transmit to the Assessor a copy of each 

application and each written request for amendment or correction that is received.  A 
reasonable time shall be allowed before the hearing for the Assessor to obtain information 
relative to the property and the assessment thereof. 

 

N. Locating Board of Equalization Forms    As a courtesy, the following forms are available on 
the Inyo County website at https://www.inyocounty.us/government/board-
supervisors/services-information/assessment-appeals: 

 

• Assessment Appeal Withdrawl 

• Authorization of Agent Form 

• Fee Waiver Form 

• Request for Exchange of Information 

https://www.inyocounty.us/government/board-supervisors/services-information/assessment-appeals
https://www.inyocounty.us/government/board-supervisors/services-information/assessment-appeals


10 
 

• Request for Information Form 

• Revocation or Substitution of Agent 

• Waiver to Extend Two-Year Period 
 
Additionally, the Clerk will provide copies of any forms requested by name. The Clerk cannot  
provide direction or advice as to which form(s) a taxpayer might need, as this constitutes 
offering legal advice, which the County does not do.  

 
 

III. PREPARING FOR HEARING 

A. Notice of Hearing     At least forty-five (45) days prior to the hearing, unless otherwise 
required by Property Tax Rule 307, the Clerk will notify the Parties in writing of the date, 
time and place scheduled for hearing of each appeal.  

Note: Applicants are strongly encouraged to contact the Assessor at least one week prior to 
the scheduled Hearing to discuss any issues involving the appeal.  Such discussions may 
result in resolution of the dispute without the need for Hearing. 

B. Hearing Confirmation Form     When the Clerk mails a Notice of Hearing, a Hearing 
Confirmation Form will be included.   At least twenty-one (21) days before the date 
scheduled for hearing of the Applicant's appeal, the Applicant shall mail or otherwise deliver 
the completed Hearing Confirmation Form to the Clerk who shall provide a copy to the 
Assessor.  The form will provide the Applicant with the following options to indicate that the 
Applicant intends to:  

1) appear on the scheduled hearing date; or  

2) request the postponement of the scheduled hearing to another regularly-scheduled BOE 
hearing date; or  

3) withdraw the appeal.  

If the Applicant fails to return the completed confirmation notice form, as required, and 
appears on the scheduled date of hearing, the BOE shall, at the Assessor's request, 
postpone the hearing to a date at the discretion of the BOE.  The failure to timely return the 
completed Hearing Confirmation Form shall be deemed to be a postponement request by 
the Applicant for purposes of Rule 26.  If the hearing date is within ninety (90) days of the 
expiration of the two-year limitations period for hearings set by Revenue and Taxation Code 
Section 1604 (c), the BOE may require the Applicant to enter into a written agreement 
extending and tolling the two-year limitations period as a condition of the postponement. 

C. Request for Postponement      Each party to the appeal is entitled to one postponement of 
a scheduled hearing, if the request for postponement is received within 120 days of the 



11 
 

expiration of the two-year limitation.  The postponement can be initiated by submitting a 
written request to the Clerk or submitting the Hearing Confirmation Letter with the 
appropriate box marked to request a postponement.  The request must be delivered to the 
Clerk’s office no later than 21 days prior to the scheduled hearing date.   

 
1) Time of Request: If the request for postponement is made by the applicant and received 

by the Clerk within 120 days of the expiration of the two-year limitation, the 
postponement shall be contingent upon the Applicant's written agreement to extend 
the two-year period.  If the postponement is requested by the Assessor and received by 
the Clerk within 120 days of the expiration of the two-year limitation, it may be granted 
upon the BOE’s discretion. 
 

2) Untimely/Subsequent Request: Untimely postponement requests and requests 
subsequent to the first postponement, shall be granted only upon showing of good 
cause. Such requests must be submitted to the Clerk in writing and describe unforeseen 
and compelling circumstances which made a timely request for postponement 
impossible or impracticable.  The request will be presented to the BOE on the scheduled 
hearing date.  The BOE will consider the request and take action to approve or deny the 
request. 
 

3) Stipulations: A stipulation for a postponement of a scheduled hearing by an Applicant 
and the Assessor shall be deemed to constitute good cause for the requested 
postponement, but the BOE may require extending and tolling indefinitely the two-year 
limitation period prior to granting such a continuance if the postponement is requested 
within 120 days of the expiration of the two-year limitation.  Any information exchange 
dates remain in effect based on the originally scheduled hearing date notwithstanding 
the hearing postponement, except as provided in State Board of Equalization Rule 
305.1(d).  

4) Clerk’s Authority: The Clerk shall have the authority to grant all postponements which 
are a matter of right and all postponements based on a stipulation by Applicant and the 
Assessor.  Requests for postponement shall be considered as far in advance of the 
hearing date as practicable. 

D. Disqualification of a BOE Member     A BOE member shall disqualify himself or herself from 
hearing or deciding any matter in which he or she has a financial interest as defined in 
Government Code Section 87103.  A BOE member may also disqualify himself or herself 
from any matter pending before the BOE for good cause, which shall be stated on the 
record.  
 
Additionally, a party may file with the Clerk a written statement objecting to the hearing of 
a matter before a member of the BOE, which may result in the BOE member’s 
disqualification.  The process for objecting to a BOE member with regard to a hearing is as 
follows: 



12 
 

 
1) The statement shall set forth the facts constituting the ground of the disqualification of 

such member and shall be signed by the party and shall be filed with the Clerk at the 
earliest practicable opportunity after the discovery of the facts constituting the ground 
of the member's disqualification, and, in any event, before the commencement of the 
hearing on any issue of fact in the proceeding before such member.  Copies of the 
written statement shall be served by the presenting party on each party in the 
proceeding and on the BOE member alleged in the statement to be disqualified.  
 

2) Within ten (10) days after the filing of any such statement, or ten (10) days after the 
service of such statement as above provided, whichever is later in time, the BOE 
member alleged therein to be disqualified may file with the Clerk a written answer 
either:  

a) consenting in writing that the action or proceeding be tried before another member, 
in which event the Clerk shall appoint a replacement member or  

b) denying his or her disqualification, which answer may admit or deny any or all of the 
allegations contained in such statement and setting forth any additional fact or facts 
material or relevant to the question of his or her disqualification.  

3) The Clerk shall transmit a copy of such consent or answer to each party. Every such 
statement and every such answer shall be verified by oath in the manner prescribed by 
section 446 of the Code of Civil Procedure for the verification of pleadings.  

4) The question of the member's disqualification shall be heard and determined by a BOE 
member, other than the member subject to the disqualification challenge, agreed upon 
by the parties who have appeared in the proceeding. In the event that the parties fail to 
agree in writing, within five (5) days after the expiration of the time allowed herein for 
the member to answer, the Clerk shall assign a member to hear and determine the 
matter of the disqualification. 

E. Completion of Discovery and Exchange of Information     Both parties may file a written 
request for exchange of information, except that the Assessor may only do so if the 
assessed value of the property before deduction of any exemption exceeds $100,000.  The 
request may be filed with the Clerk at the time of filing the application, or may be submitted 
to the other party and the Clerk at any time prior to thirty (30) days before the 
commencement of the hearing.  The exchange was deemed initiated on the date of 
postmark, as affixed by the United States Postal Service or the date certified by a bona fide 
private courier service on the envelope containing the information. Where both marks exist, 
the United States Postal Service postmark date shall control.  The Clerk shall at the earliest 
opportunity forward any request filed with the application or a copy thereof to the other 
party.  The request shall contain the basis of the requesting party's opinion of value for each 
valuation date at issue and the following data, if it is to be used as evidence to support the 
opinion of value:  



13 
 

1) COMPARABLE SALES DATA - The properties sold shall be described by the Assessor's 
parcel number, street address or legal description sufficient to identify them.  With 
regard to each property sold, there shall be presented: the approximate date of the 
sale, the price paid, the terms of the sale (if known), and the zoning of the property.  

2) INCOME DATA - The gross income, the allowable expenses, the capitalization method 
(direct capitalization or discounted cash flow analysis) and rate or rates employed.  

3) COST DATA - With regard to improvements to real property: the date of construction, 
type of construction and replacement cost of construction.  With regard to machinery 
and equipment: the date of installation, installed cost and any history of extraordinary 
use.  With regard to both improvements and machinery and equipment: facts relating to 
depreciation, including any functional or economic obsolescence and remaining 
economic life.  

The information exchanged shall provide reasonable notice to the other party concerning 
the subject matter of the evidence or testimony to be presented at the hearing.  There is no 
requirement that the details of the evidence or testimony to be introduced must be 
exchanged.  

If a party requesting an exchange of data has submitted the data required within the time 
specified, the other party shall submit a response to the initiating party and the Clerk at 
least 15 days prior to the hearing.  The response shall be supported with the same type of 
data required of the requesting party.  When the Assessor is the respondent, he or she shall 
submit the response to the address shown on the application or on the request for 
exchange for information, whichever is filed later.  

Whenever information has been exchanged pursuant to this section, the parties may 
introduce evidence only on matters pertaining to the information so exchanged unless the 
other party consents to introduction of other evidence.  However, at the hearing, each 
party may introduce new material relating to the information received from the other party.  
If a party introduces such new material at the hearing, the other party, upon request, shall 
be granted a continuance for a reasonable period of time.  

If one party initiates a request for information and the other party does not comply within 
the time specified in this section, the BOE may grant a postponement for reasonable period 
of time. The postponement shall extend the time for responding to the request.  If the BOE 
finds willful noncompliance on the part of the noncomplying party, the hearing will be 
convened as originally scheduled and the noncomplying party may comment on evidence 
presented by the other party but shall not be permitted to introduce other evidence unless 
the other party consents to such introduction. 

The Applicant and the Assessor shall complete any and all discovery and exchange of 
information authorized by law prior to the equalization hearing.  Any objections to requests 
for disclosure made to the other party under Revenue and Taxation Sections 408, 441-470 



14 
 

or 1606 or to complain of unreasonable or unlawful difficulties encountered by either party 
in obtaining information believed to be necessary to proceed to hearing may be brought to 
the attention of the BOE by means of a written request for pre-hearing conference.  

Upon good cause shown, the BOE shall make findings concerning the failure of a party to 
respond to requests for information and the impacts of such failures on the requirements to 
timely hear the appeals under the provisions of Revenue and Taxation Code Section 1604 
(c).  Continuances for the conduct of discovery or for the pursuit of court action to enforce 
discovery demands or subpoenas shall be granted by the BOE only upon a showing of good 
cause.  To expedite the hearing and to carry out its equalization duties, the BOE may in its 
discretion order compliance with discovery demands and subpoenas as provided by the 
next section of this rule. 

F. Subpoenas and Sanctions      

1) Subpoenas: The BOE may issue subpoenas for the attendance of witnesses and/or the 
production of books, records, maps and documents at the hearing either upon its own 
motion or at the request of a party in advance of the hearing or at the time of the 
hearing. With regard to the issuance of subpoenas, please note the following: 

a) A subpoena may be served on any resident of the State of California or any person 
or business entity found within the state.  

b) A request for a subpoena for the production of books, records, maps and documents 
shall be supported by an affidavit, such as is prescribed by section 1985 of the Code 
of Civil Procedure.  

c) Subpoenas shall be restricted to compelling the appearance of a person or the 
production of things at the hearing and shall not be utilized for purposes of 
prehearing discovery.  No subpoena to take a deposition shall be issued nor shall 
depositions be considered for any purpose by the BOE. 

d) If a subpoena is issued at the request of a party, he or she is responsible for serving 
it and for the payment of witness fees and mileage.  

e) In the event a State Board of Equalization employee is subpoenaed pursuant to 
section 1609.5 of the Revenue and Taxation Code at the request of the Applicant 
and the BOE grants a reduction in the assessment, the BOE may reimburse the 
Applicant in whole or in part for the actual witness fees paid pursuant to section 
1609.5.  

 
If a party desires the BOE to issue a subpoena, the party shall make the written request 
pursuant to Rule III.H, below and sufficiently in advance of the scheduled hearing date 
so that the subpoenaed party has an adequate opportunity to fully comply with the 
subpoena prior to the commencement of the hearing. Upon such request, the BOE may, 
whenever possible, issue subpoenas pursuant to sections 1609.4 and 1609.5 of the 
Revenue and Taxation Code.  A subpoena issued near in time to or after 



15 
 

commencement of the hearing should be as limited as possible, and a postponement or 
continuance of the hearing may be granted, if requested, for a reasonable period of 
time.  

 
2) Sanctions:  Failure on the part of the party to comply with a subpoena or order to 

produce evidence may result in the imposition by the BOE of one or more of the 
sanctions authorized by Code of Civil Procedure section 2023, subsections (b)(2),(b)(3) 
and (b)(4)(A)-(D), if the BOE deems such an order necessary to carry out its equalization 
duties and to expedite the hearing. 

 
G. Pre-hearing Conferences:  Pre-hearing conferences are mandatory for high value appeals, 

but may also be set by the Clerk at the request of a party or at the direction of the BOE.  
These hearings may be scheduled to resolve issues such as, but not limited to:  

a) the present status of the appeal;  

b) whether the parties have engaged in or completed necessary case preparation, 
discovery or settlement of uncontroverted issues;  

c) the factual and legal issues in dispute;  

d) the names of the witnesses to be called, the order of testimony and the anticipated 
duration of the hearings;  

e) the readiness of the parties to proceed with the hearings;  

f) the status of information requests;  

g) combining applications into a single hearing;  

h) bifurcating the hearing issues;  

i)     scheduling a date for the hearing on the merits of the application; and  

j)     disclosure of such other matters as the BOE deems appropriate to facilitate and 
expedite the hearing and resolution of the case.  

 
2) High Value Appeals:  All appeals that are designated by the BOE as “high value appeals” 

shall be scheduled for a pre-hearing conference not later than July 15 of the year 
following the calendar year in which the appeals are filed or, for appeals filed outside 
the normal appeal period, within one (1) year of the date of filing of the appeal.  
Thereafter, further pre-hearings shall be conducted at least once every one-hundred 
eighty (180) days until the case is heard and decided or otherwise resolved.  

3) Pre-hearing Reports and Motions:  The BOE may require the parties to submit written 
motions or written pre-hearing status reports to discuss, at the direction of the BOE, any 
or all of the information items set forth above.  However, any party may submit a 
written status report or motion without formal BOE direction.  The parties shall file and 
serve any pre-hearing status reports or motions in accordance with Rule III.H.  The 



16 
 

failure of a party to serve and file a pre-hearing report (if so ordered), to appear or to 
fully participate in any pre-hearing conference, if unexcused by the BOE, shall constitute 
abandonment of the appeal and provide grounds for denial of the appeal on the merits.  

4) Notice of Preconference Hearing:  The Clerk shall set the matter for a pre-hearing 
conference and send a Notice of Hearing not less than 45 days prior to the conference, 
unless the parties stipulate orally or in writing to a shorter notice period.  The Notice of 
Hearing may include direction from the BOE to submit a pre-hearing status report 
regarding specific issues. 

 
H. Motions:     The parties to an appeal may file written motions for relief with the Clerk, 

including motions to postpone, to set, or bifurcate hearings, and for protective orders and 
subpoenas.  In response to a written motion, the party against which relief is sought may 
file an “opposition” to which the moving party may then file a “reply”.  The documents 
required for filing a motion, opposition, or reply are collectively referred to as “papers”. 

 
1) Format: The first page of each paper shall specify immediately below the number of the 

case: the date, time, and location of the scheduled hearing (See Appendix A). 

a) The papers filed in support of a motion, also referred to as the “moving papers”, 
shall consist of at least the following:  

(i)   notice of hearing on the motion, which shall notify the other parties that a 
hearing will be held to determine whether the BOE will grant or deny the 
attached motion;  

(ii) the motion, which shall concisely state in the opening paragraph the specific 
order being sought, by whom the order is being sought, and the grounds for 
issuance of the order; 

(iii) a memorandum of points and authorities in support of the motion, not to 
exceed six pages, which shall contain a statement of facts, a concise statement 
of the law, evidence and arguments relied on, and a discussion of the statutes, 
regulations, cases, and textbooks cited in support of the position advanced; 

(iv) A proof of service, in accordance with Civil Code of Procedure section 417.10, 
which shall state under penalty of perjury how, when, and by whom the moving 
papers were delivered to the other party or parties to the appeal and shall be 
signed by the person making the delivery.  

b) These moving papers must be filed as one combined document.  Other papers that 
may be filed in support of a motion, such as declarations, exhibits, or other 
documents, should be attached to the combined document.  The proof of service of 
this combined document on other parties, shall be filed and received by the Clerk no 
later than ten days before the time appointed for the hearing. 

c) Opposition and reply papers shall consist of the following: 

(i)   Either a memorandum of points and authorities opposing the motion, as 



17 
 

described in (1)(a)(iii) of this subsection, or a document not to exceed 6 pages, 
which concisely outlines arguments against the motion based on cited law 
and/or supported facts; 

(ii) Other papers the party wishes to file in opposition to the motion, such as 
declarations, exhibits, or other documents, should be attached to the combined 
document. 

(iii) A proof of service.  

 
2) Filing:  An original and five copies of the motion, opposition or reply shall be filed in the 

Clerk’s office. 
 

3) Bifurcation:  Where the BOE has bifurcated the hearing on issues arising out of an 
appeal, each bifurcated hearing shall be considered a hearing for purposes of these 
guidelines, and appropriate motions may be made prior to each bifurcated hearing. 

 
4) Time For Filing Motions:  

a) For motions that request the BOE to enter an order that will result in a final decision 
on the case, all moving and supporting papers shall be served and filed and received 
by the Clerk at least 45 days before the hearing date. 

b) Unless otherwise ordered, all other motions and their supporting papers shall be 
served and filed and received by the Clerk at least 20 days before the hearing date. 

c) All papers opposing a motion shall be filed and received by the Clerk and the other 
party at least eight days before the hearing date. 

d) All reply papers shall be filed and received by the Clerk and the other party at least 
two days before the hearing. 

 
5) Untimely Filing:  No untimely paper shall be accepted without good cause. If the Appeals 

BOE, in its discretion, agrees to consider a late filed paper, the minutes or order shall so 
indicate the good cause shown. 

 
6) Hearings:  The Clerk shall maintain the BOE’s hearing schedule. For a hearing on a 

motion a party may select a date and time, based on the BOE’s hearing schedule, and 
request the Clerk to set the hearing on a motion for the date selected by the party.  The 
party shall thereafter file and serve the motion for the date selected by the party.  

 
7) Evidence at Hearing on Motion: Oral testimony, documentary evidence, declarations or 

affidavits may be received at the hearing at the discretion of the BOE. 
 

8) Deliberation: The BOE may take the matter under submission and deliberate in closed 
session on the motion and thereafter direct the Clerk to notify the parties of its ruling on 
the motion. 



18 
 

 
9) Clerk’s Notice of Ruling:  Where the BOE rules on a motion, the Clerk shall promptly 

notify the parties of the ruling.  The notification shall name the moving party and the 
party against whom relief was requested and specifically identify the matters ruled 
upon.  Mailing a copy of the ruling or order to the parties shall constitute service of 
notice. 

 
10) Record of Proceedings:  The Clerk shall record the hearing on the motion in the same 

manner that the Clerk is required to record the BOE’s proceedings on Applications under 
the Revenue and Taxation Code. 

 
I. Exhibits:     Unless submitted according to Rule 3(H), no exhibits, maps, letters, papers, 

documents, charts, etc. to be submitted as evidence will be accepted prior to the hearing of 
the appeal on its merits. If such documents are filed with an application by the Applicant 
and inadvertently accepted by the Clerk, the Clerk is not responsible for maintaining them 
in the appeal file, for forwarding them to the Assessor or BOE, or for returning them to the 
Applicant.  
 
However, parties shall prepare any documentary evidence to be presented at the hearing in 
advance thereof as follows: 
1) The Applicant shall serially pre-mark all exhibits with numerals (e.g., Applicant’s Exhibit 

1, Applicant’s Exhibit 2, etc.) and the Assessor shall serially pre-mark all exhibits with 
letters (e.g., Assessor’s Exhibit A, Assessor’s Exhibit B, etc.) to reflect the order in which 
that party intends to introduce them into evidence.  

2) At the hearing each party shall provide the Clerk with seven (7), pre-marked copies of 
each document being presented as evidence prior to the BOE’s admission of said 
document into evidence. 
 

3) To be most effective in presenting evidence, the BOE strongly urges parties to number 
each page of each exhibit and to bind exhibits with more than three (3) pages 
appropriately.  Each exhibit may be either single or double-sided, but mixing single and 
double sided formats within an exhibit is disfavored. 

 
J. Recordings and Transcripts:     All hearings of the BOE shall be recorded or reported or 

videotaped subject to the conditions set forth in Code of Civil Procedure section 2025, 
subsection (l)(2).  Certified transcripts or recordings of BOE hearings are available as follows: 

1) Any person may purchase a tape recording of that portion of the hearing that is open to 
the public upon payment of a reasonable fee, provided the request to purchase has 
been made within sixty (60) days after the final determination of the BOE.  

2) The Clerk is unable to prepare typed transcripts. However, the Applicant, at the 
Applicant's own effort and expense, may arrange to have the hearing reported by a 



19 
 

stenographer.  If the Applicant desires to arrange for a stenographic reporter, the 
Applicant must notify the Clerk in writing at least ten (10) days before the hearing. 

3) Only the Clerk may certify that the transcript or record of the hearing is accurate and 
complete. If a stenographic reporter is present, the BOE may designate the reporter's 
transcript as the official record upon being filed with the BOE. Upon the deposit of 
reasonable costs of comparison, the Clerk will certify typed transcripts made from the 
tape recorded record, provided the request has been made within sixty (60) days after 
the final determination of the BOE. 

K. Request for Findings of Fact     Findings of fact are necessary for judicial (court) review of 
the decision. An Applicant or Authorized Agent may request findings by checking the 
appropriate box on the appeal application, or by submitting a separate request for findings 
to the Clerk of the BOE. The Applicant or Authorized Agent must confirm the request for 
findings with the Clerk on the scheduled hearing date, prior to commencement of the 
hearing, and must pay the deposit as indicated on the Assessment Appeal Application form. 
Note that besides the initial deposit, the final cost of findings of fact will include actual costs 
for transcription services plus attorney preparation fees.  Completed findings will not be 
released to the requesting party until all fees have been paid.  The requesting party may 
abandon the request and waive the findings upon receiving oral notification of the decision. 

 
Note: Parties to a hearing are always notified of the decision in their case in accordance with 
Rule VI, Section J, below and need not make any special request to receive such notification. 

 
 

IV. ASSESSMENT APPEAL HEARING 

A. Legal Counsel     The Applicant and the Assessor may be represented by legal counsel. 
Individual deputies in the office of County Counsel may represent the Assessor and the BOE, 
as long as the same attorney does not represent both parties.  

B. Stipulations     No reduction of an assessment can be made unless the Applicant or 
Authorized Agent attends a hearing scheduled before the BOE, and offers evidence under 
oath regarding the value of the property and answers all pertinent questions. An exception 
to this requirement is if a written stipulation is filed with the BOE, signed by the Assessor 
and the Assessor’s Counsel on behalf of the County and the Applicant or Authorized Agent 
making the application, which includes the full value and assessed value of the property and 
the facts upon which the reduction in value is premised. The BOE may, at a public hearing: 

1) Accept the stipulation, and thereby waive the appearance of the Applicant or 
Authorized Agent and change the assessed value in accordance with Section 1607 and 
1610.8 or 

2) Reject the stipulation and schedule or reschedule the application for hearing.  



20 
 

3) An Applicant who chooses to transmit a signed stipulation by email transmission must 
return the originally signed stipulation to the Clerk. If the Clerk does not receive the 
originally signed stipulation at least three (3) days prior to the scheduled hearing, the 
personal appearance of the Assessor and the Applicant or Authorized Agent may be 
required. 

C. Continuances      At the hearing, during the presentation of evidence, the BOE may continue 
the hearing to a later date upon its own motion or at the request of either party, provided 
that: 

1) If the request is made by a party, that party provides good cause, as determined by the 
BOE based on the record, why a continuance should be granted; 

2) If the request is made by the Applicant, a 1604(c) Waiver Agreement is on file or filed by 
the Applicant; 

3) If the request is made by the Assessor and within 120 days from the expiration of the 
two-year deadline, the Applicant has a 1604(c) Waiver Agreement on file or waives the 
two-year statute on the record before the BOE; 

4) If the continuance is based upon the BOE’s own motion and no 1604(c) Waiver 
Agreement is on file or filed by the Applicant, the hearing can be continued to specific 
designated date that is at least 60 days prior to the two-year statutory deadline for 
hearing appeals under Section 1604(c); and 

5) The evidentiary portion of the hearing to be continued has not been concluded. 

The Clerk shall inform the Applicant or the Applicant's agent and the Assessor in writing of 
the time and place of the continued hearing, not less than 10 days prior to the new hearing 
date, unless the parties agree in writing or on the record to waive written notice.  

D. Presumptions and Burden of Proof     Property tax assessments, and some of the factual 
circumstances on which property tax assessments are based, carry certain legal 
presumptions determining the manner in which evidence is presented as well as the 
amount of evidence a party is required to present. The following presumptions are 
applicable to assessment appeals: 

1) Presumption of Correctness: Subject to exceptions set by law, it is presumed that the 
Assessor and all governmental employees have properly performed their duties. The 
effect of this presumption is to impose upon the Applicant the burden of proving that 
the value on the assessment roll is not correct, or where applicable, that the property in 
question has not been otherwise correctly assessed. The law requires that the Applicant 
present independent evidence relevant to the full value of the property or other issue 
presented by the application.  

a) Exceptions: There is a rebuttable presumption in favor of the taxpayer or Applicant, 
such that the Assessor bears the burden of proof when the hearing involves: 



21 
 

(i)    A penalty portion of an assessment. 
(ii) The assessment of an owner-occupied single-family dwelling, defined by 

Revenue and Tax 167(c), or the appeal of an escape assessment, and the 
Applicant has filed an application that provides all of the information required in 
State Board Rule 305(c) and has supplied all information as required by law to 
the Assessor. With respect to escape assessments, the presumption in favor of 
the Applicant, does not apply to appeals resulting from situations where an 
Applicant failed to file a change in ownership statement, a business property 
statement, or to obtain a permit for new construction. 

(iii) The Assessor proposes to introduce evidence to support a higher assessed value 
than the value on the roll, unless the Applicant has failed to supply all the 
information required by law to the Assessor. 

 
b) Presumption Is Not Evidence: If the Applicant has presented evidence, and the 

Assessor has also presented evidence, then the BOE must weigh all of the evidence 
to determine whether it has been established by a preponderance of the evidence 
that the Assessor's determination is incorrect. The presumption that the Assessor 
has properly performed his or her duties is not evidence and shall not be considered 
by the BOE in its deliberations.  

2) Purchase Price Presumption: In hearings involving change in ownership, except as 
provided in section 110 of the Revenue and Taxation Code, the purchase price is 
rebuttably presumed to be the full cash value. The party seeking to rebut the 
presumption bears the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence. 

3) Base Year Value Presumptions: There are a number of presumptions regarding the base 
year value of an assessed property. For a detailed explanation of these presumptions, 
please refer to Property Tax Rule 305.5. 

4) Enforceable Restrictions Presumption: Pursuant to Section 402.1 of the Revenue and 
Taxation Code, the BOE shall presume that zoning or other legal restrictions on the use 
of either the property sold or the property being valued will not be removed or 
substantially modified in the predictable future unless sufficient grounds as set forth in 
that section are presented to the BOE to overcome that presumption. 

5) Presumptions Affecting Property Title: Fee simple title is presumed to be intended to 
pass by a grant of real property, unless it appears from the grant that a lesser estate was 
intended. The owner of the legal title to property is presumed to be the owner of the 
full beneficial title and this presumption may be rebutted only by clear and convincing 
proof. 

6) Burden of Proof Standards: Generally, the required standard of proof in hearings is 
proof by a preponderance of the evidence, meaning that on balance the evidence 
presented has more convincing force and a greater probability of truth than the 
evidence offered in opposition to it. However, there are certain property tax situations 



22 
 

in which the higher standard of clear and convincing evidence is required, meaning that 
the evidence so clear as to leave no substantial doubt. 

E. Open Hearings     Hearings shall be open, accessible, and audible to the public except that: 

1) Upon conclusion of the hearing, the BOE may take the matter under submission and 
deliberate in private in reaching a decision, and 

2) The BOE may grant a request by either party to close to the public a portion of the 
hearing relating to trade secrets. For purposes of this regulation, a “trade secret” is that 
information defined by section 3426.1 of the Civil Code. Such a request may be made by 
filing with the Clerk a declaration under penalty of perjury that evidence is to be 
presented by the party that relates to trade secrets whose disclosure to the public will 
be detrimental to the business interests of the owner of the trade secrets. The 
declaration shall state the estimated time it will take to present the evidence. Only 
evidence relating to the trade secrets may be presented during the time the hearing is 
closed, and such evidence shall be confidential unless otherwise agreed by the party to 
whom it relates. 

F. Bifurcated Hearings     An application may involve a legal issue(s) and a valuation issue(s). In 
those instances, the BOE will hear any controlling legal issue(s) first. If a decision can be 
rendered at the end of the hearing on the legal issue(s) and if time permits, the BOE may 
then hear the valuation issue(s) immediately after rendering its decision on the legal 
issue(s).  

The parties can request that the hearing on the valuation issue be scheduled for hearing on 
another day if that request is received at least 20 days before the scheduled hearing on the 
legal issue. If neither party has requested that the valuation issue be scheduled for another 
date, the decision to proceed with the hearing will be at the sole discretion of the BOE. 

G. Order of Proceedings     A full and fair hearing shall be accorded the application. There shall 
be reasonable opportunity for the presentation of evidence, for cross-examination of all 
witnesses and materials proffered as evidence, for argument, and for rebuttal.  However, 
the BOE has the authority and discretion to determine points of law, admissibility of 
evidence and other issues relative to the hearing. Hearings on applications shall proceed as 
follows: 

1) Calling of Cases: The Chair shall announce the number of the Application and the name 
of the Applicant and invite the Applicant forward to begin the hearing.  

2) Failure to Appear: If the Applicant or Authorized Agent is not present, the Chair shall 
ascertain whether the Clerk has notified the Applicant of the time and place of hearing. 
If the notice has been given, the application shall be denied for lack of appearance. If 
the notice has not been given, the hearing shall be postponed to a later date and the 
Clerk directed to give proper notice of the new hearing date to the Applicant. A denial 



23 
 

for lack of appearance by the Applicant is not a decision on the merits of the application 
and reconsideration of the denial may occur as provided in Local Rule V.B, below. 

3) Introduction to the Proceeding: If the Applicant is present, the Chair shall announce the 
nature of the application, the assessed value as it appears on the local roll, and the 
Applicant’s opinion of the value of the property. The Chair shall then state the issues the 
BOE has been requested to determine, inquire as to whether any agreements or 
stipulations have been agreed to by the parties, and briefly explain the hearing 
procedure to the parties. The parties will then be given the opportunity to ask any 
procedural questions. 

4) Swearing of Witnesses: The Clerk shall administer the oath to the parties and any other 
persons assembled to be called as witnesses. Where a witness objects to taking the 
oath, that witness may affirm that he or she will tell the truth, the whole truth, and 
nothing but the truth under the penalty of perjury. 

5) Burden of Proof: If there is any disagreement as to: 1) the issues before the BOE, 2) 
which party has the burden of proof, or 3) any other legal issue that would affect the 
order or nature of the hearing, the BOE shall give both parties the opportunity to 
present legal argument and factual evidence solely in regard to that legal or procedural 
issue, which it shall decide based on the record before moving forward with the hearing 
to opening statements.  

6) Opening Statements: Both parties shall have the opportunity to make an optional 
opening statement, the duration of which may be reasonably limited by the BOE.  Either 
party may waive this opportunity, but the Chair shall first offer the opportunity to the 
party with the burden of proof. The opening statement should briefly describe the 
property or properties that are the subject of the appeal and outline the facts that the 
party will demonstrate during its presentation of evidence. The opening statement is 
not evidence and should not include argument, but should merely be a brief preview of 
the party’s presentation. 

7) Presentation of Evidence:  

a) Order of Presentation- For appeals where the Applicant has the burden of proof, the 
BOE shall require the Applicant to present his or her evidence first. The Assessor and 
the BOE may conduct a cross-examination after each piece of evidence or witness 
presented by the Applicant. When the Applicant is finished presenting evidence and 
all cross-examination has been conducted, the BOE shall then determine whether 
the Applicant has presented sufficient evidence supporting his or her position. If the 
Applicant fails to present evidence sufficient to rebut the correctness of the 
assessed value, the BOE will, at the request of the Assessor, dismiss the appeal 
without requiring the Assessor to provide evidence substantiating the assessed 
value. In the event the Applicant has presented sufficient evidence, the BOE shall 
then require the Assessor to present his or her evidence and the Applicant and the 



24 
 

BOE may conduct a cross-examination after each piece of evidence or witness 
presented by Assessor. For appeals where the Assessor has the burden of proof, the 
order of presentation is reversed and if the Assessor fails to present evidence 
sufficient to rebut the presumption, the BOE should rule in favor of the Applicant if 
there is substantial evidence in the record to support the Applicant’s value. 

b) Admissibility of Evidence- Assessment appeal hearings are not conducted according 
to technical rules relating to evidence and witnesses. Any relevant evidence may be 
admitted if it is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed 
to rely in the conduct of serious affairs. However it is in the best interests of the 
parties to be as concise as possible when presenting their evidence. Failure to enter 
a timely objection to evidence constitutes a waiver of that objection. 

c) Presentation of Documentary Evidence- The parties should introduce documents as 
evidence at the outset of their respective presentations by verbally identifying them 
for the record and then providing the Clerk with seven sets of all documents to be 
introduced. 

(i)   The Clerk shall distribute one copy of each document or set of documents to 
each of the BOE members, one copy to the BOE’s counsel, and two copies to the 
opposing party and shall keep one copy for the record.  

(ii) If a party fails to bring the required number of copies, the Chair may, on his or 
her own motion, postpone or continue the hearing or direct the Clerk to make 
additional copies at that party’s expense. If the Chair chooses to postpone the 
hearing, said postponement shall constitute, for purposes of Rule III.C above, a 
request for postponement by the party failing to supply the required number of 
copies.  If the Clerk is instead directed to make copies, she or he will collect the 
appropriate photocopying charges as set forth by applicable law prior to the 
admission of said documents as evidence. 

(iii) Each party will be given a reasonable opportunity to review and object to any 
document introduced as evidence prior to the BOE’s admission of the document 
into evidence. 

(iv) Once documentary evidence has been admitted, the opposing party and the BOE 
shall have the opportunity to conduct a cross-examination in regard to that 
evidence. 

d) Testimonial Evidence- All testimony shall be taken under oath or affirmation. Once 
the party presenting evidence has directly examined a witness, the opposing party 
and the BOE shall have the opportunity to cross-examine that witness before the 
presenting party calls another witness to testify. At the discretion of the BOE, the 
presenting party may then conduct a redirect examination of the witness. 



25 
 

e) Evidence of Comparable Sales- If the evidence includes data on sales of comparable 
properties, the data will be rejected unless the sales closed no more than 90 days 
after the valuation date.   Applicants and Authorized Agents should be prepared to 
answer questions about the comparable properties. 

f) Written Opinions of Value- If any party intends to offer in evidence at the hearing a 
written opinion of value, including, but not limited to an appraisal report, that party 
shall cause the author of the written opinion of value or appraisal report, to be 
present at the hearing and to be available for cross examination by the other party 
and by members of the BOE. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties may 
stipulate to the admissibility of the written opinion of value or appraisal report or 
portion thereof without the presence of the author.   

g) Greater Than Roll Value- When the Assessor requests the BOE find a higher assessed 
value than he or she placed on the roll and offers evidence to support the higher 
value, the Chair shall determine whether or not the Assessor gave notice in writing 
to the Applicant by personal delivery or by deposit in the United States mail directed 
to the address given on the application. If notice and a copy of the evidence offered 
have been supplied at least 10 days prior to the hearing the Assessor may introduce 
such evidence at the hearing. The foregoing notice requirement shall not prohibit 
the BOE from a finding of a higher assessed value when it has not been requested by 
the Assessor.  

h) Qualifications of Assessor’s Appraisers Presumed- The BOE hereby finds and 
declares that the Assessor’s presentation of evidence to qualify the Assessor’s 
appraisers as experts constitutes a waste of administrative resources. There shall be 
a rebuttable presumption that the Assessor’s appraisers are qualified to render 
expert testimony concerning valuation issues. 

i)     Receipt of Evidence Outside of Hearing- No member of the BOE shall, after an 
Application for equalization has been filed with the county, solicit or receive 
evidence outside of the public hearing relating to said application or knowingly view 
the property that is the subject of the appeal. If a BOE member has personal 
knowledge of a matter before the BOE, other than the type which could lead to 
potential recusal or disqualification, then at the appropriate time during the hearing, 
the BOE member shall publicly report such fact (e.g., knowledge of neighboring 
properties). 

8) Closing and Rebuttal Arguments: After both parties have had an opportunity to present 
their cases and cross-examine each other’s evidence, the evidentiary portion of the 
hearing is closed. The BOE shall then allow both parties to present optional closing 
arguments, the duration of which may be reasonably limited by the BOE. Either party 
may waive this opportunity, but the party with the burden of proof shall have the right 
to make a closing argument first. The opposing party shall then have the right to make a 
closing argument, to which the party with the burden of proof may make a rebuttal 



26 
 

argument, not to exceed one minute unless otherwise allowed by the BOE.  

H. Decision Process     The BOE must render a decision on each application over which it has 
jurisdiction after a properly conducted hearing on the matters in issue. Unless the hearing is 
bifurcated, the decision must dispose of all issues raised in the application that are within 
the jurisdiction of the BOE. The BOE shall provide to the Clerk such details as are necessary 
for the implementation of the BOE’s decision. 

1) Quorum and Vote Required: No hearing before the BOE shall be held unless two 
members of the BOE are present. A hearing must be held before the full BOE if either 
the Applicant or the Assessor so demands. In any case wherein the hearing takes place 
before less than the full BOE, the parties may stipulate that the absent member may 
read or otherwise familiarize himself or herself with the record and participate in the 
vote on the decision. No decision, determination, or order shall be made by the BOE by 
an affirmative vote of less than two members of the BOE. Except as otherwise provided 
herein, only those members who have been in attendance throughout the hearing may 
rule on the decision. 

2) Appropriate Use of Valuation Methods: The goal of the BOE is to make a determination 
of the full value of the property under appeal, or any other issue that is properly before 
the BOE, or that is necessary to determine the full value of the property. Any valuation 
of property involves the following three fundamental considerations and must be 
supported by a preponderance of the evidence presented at the hearing:  

a) Identification of the Appraisal Unit- The BOE shall determine the classification, 
amount, and description of the property that is the subject of the hearing. An 
appraisal unit of property is a collection of assets that function together, and that 
persons in the marketplace commonly buy and sell as a single unit or that is 
normally valued in the marketplace separately from other property, or that is 
specifically designated as such by law. When an application for review includes only 
a portion of an appraisal unit, whether real property, personal property, or both, the 
BOE may nevertheless determine the full value, classification, or other facts relating 
to other portions that have undergone a change in ownership, new construction or a 
change in value. Additionally, the BOE shall determine the full value of the entire 
appraisal unit whenever that is necessary to the determination of the full value of 
any portion thereof.  

b) Defining Full Value- Generally, the full value is equivalent to the fair market value, 
however there are some circumstances in which the BOE is required to find a full 
value that is different from the fair market value. 

c) Determination of the Proper Appraisal Method- The BOE shall consider evidence of 
value derived by the use of any of the valuation methods described in the State 
Board Rules, but must determine the full value by using the appraisal method or 
methods most appropriate for the type of property in dispute. In addition, the BOE 
must determine whether the method(s) used was (were) properly applied, 



27 
 

considering the type of property assessed, governmentally imposed land use 
restrictions, and any recorded conservation easements as described in Civil Code 
section 815.1 et seq., by examining the factual data, the presumptions, and the 
estimates relied upon. The BOE, the Applicant and appraisal witnesses shall be 
bound by the same principles of valuation that are legally applicable to the Assessor.  

(i)    Comparative Sales Approach- When valuing a property by comparison with sales 
of other properties, the BOE shall consider only those sales that, in its judgment, 
involve properties similar in size, quality, age, condition, utility, amenities, site 
location, legally permitted use or other physical attributes to the property being 
valued. When valuing property for purposes of either the regular roll or the 
supplemental roll, the BOE shall not consider a sale if it occurred more than 
ninety (90) days after the date for which the value is being estimated. The 
provisions for exclusion of any sale occurring more than 90 days after the 
valuation date do not apply to the sale of the subject property. 

3) Independent Valuation: The BOE is not required to choose between the opinions of 
value promoted by the parties to the appeal, but shall make its own determination of 
value based upon the evidence properly admitted at the hearing. The BOE’s authority to 
determine the full value of property or other issues is not predicated on the filing of an 
application nor limited by the Applicant's request for relief.  

4) Decision Based on Evidence: The BOE may act only upon the basis of proper evidence 
admitted into the record. BOE members may not act or decide an application based 
upon consideration of prior knowledge of the subject property, information presented 
outside of the hearing, or personal research. In weighing evidence, the BOE shall apply 
the same evidentiary standard to the testimony and documentary evidence presented 
by the Applicant and the Assessor. No greater relief may be granted than is justified by 
the evidence produced during the hearing. 

5)  Impact of Application Denial:  A motion and order to deny an application for reduction 
in an assessment or any portion thereof, because of the nonappearance of the Applicant 
or Authorized Agent at the pre-hearing or at the hearing or because of the Applicant's 
failure to carry his burden of proof, shall be deemed to be a determination or finding 
that the full value of the property which is the subject of the application or part thereof 
is as determined by the Assessor and further that the assessed value of said property 
shall remain as set forth on the assessment roll of the County.  

 

V. AFTER THE APPEAL HEARING 

A. Notice of Decision     The BOE may announce its decision to the parties at the conclusion of 
the hearing, or it may take the matter under submission. The decision becomes final when:  



28 
 

1) The vote is entered into the record at the conclusion of the hearing provided no findings 
of fact are requested by either party, and all parties are present at the hearing or the 
hearing is subject to stipulation by both parties. The BOE may provide a written notice 
of the decision.  

2) A written notice of the decision is issued provided no findings of fact are requested by 
either party, and the decision is taken under submission by the BOE at the conclusion of 
the hearing. The BOE shall issue a written notice of the decision no later than 120 days 
after the conclusion of the hearing. The Clerk shall notify the Applicant in writing of the 
decision of the BOE by United States mail addressed to the Applicant or Authorized 
Agent at the address given in the application.  

3) A written notice of the decision is issued or the findings of fact are issued, whichever is 
earlier, provided findings of fact are requested. The BOE shall issue a written notice of 
the decision no later than 120 days after the conclusion of the hearing. If so requested 
by an Applicant or an Applicant's agent, the determination shall become final upon 
issuance of the findings of fact which the BOE shall issue no later than 180 days after the 
conclusion of the hearing. Such a request must be made by the Applicant or the 
Applicant's agent prior to or at the conclusion of the hearing. If the conclusion of the 
hearing is within 180 days of the expiration of the two-year period specified in section 
1604 of the Revenue and Taxation Code, the Applicant shall agree in writing to extend 
the two-year period. The extension shall be for a period equal to 180 days from the date 
of the conclusion of the hearing. 

B. Reconsideration & Rehearing     The decision of the BOE upon an application is final. The 
BOE shall not rehear or reconsider an application or modify a decision, except as hereinafter 
provided: 

1) Clerical Error- The BOE may modify a decision which contains a ministerial clerical error. 
In these instances, the Clerk shall provide a summary of the error and a 
recommendation for correction to the BOE who originally decided the application in 
question.  

2) Lack of Appearance Reconsideration- In addition, the BOE may reconsider an application 
denied solely because of the nonappearance of the Applicant at the scheduled hearing, 
if the Applicant:  

a) files a completed “Request for Reconsideration of Assessment Appeal” form, 
available on the Clerk’s website, with the Clerk within thirty (30) days from the date 
of mailing of notification of denial due to nonappearance; and  

b)  furnishes evidence establishing, to the satisfaction of the BOE, excusable good 
cause for the failure to appear or to make a timely request for postponement.  

Upon the filing of a complete and timely “Request for Reconsideration of Assessment 



29 
 

Appeal” form, the Clerk shall set the matter for Hearing solely on the question of excuse 
for lack of appearance. If the lack of appearance is found to be the result of unforeseen 
and compelling circumstances arising in such a manner as to make a timely request for 
postponement impossible or impracticable, the request for reinstatement will be 
granted and the application will be rescheduled for a hearing on the merits. 
 
Applicants who fail to request reconsideration within the period set, or whose requests 
for reconsideration are denied, may refile an assessment appeal of the base year value 
during the next regular filing period in accordance with Revenue and Taxation Code 
section 80.  

C. Judicial Review     Judicial review of the decisions of the BOE may be sought by means of a 
suit for refund of property taxes erroneously or illegally collected brought under Revenue 
and Taxation Code Sections 5141-5142.  

1) In order to seek review of a BOE decision, it is necessary to obtain findings of fact from 
the BOE (as provided in Rule 3K) and to make a request in writing for a copy of the tape 
recorded transcript of proceedings within sixty (60) days of the date of decision 
(Revenue and Taxation Section 1610). Upon the deposit of reasonable costs, the Clerk 
will arrange for a transcript to be created and certify typed transcripts made from the 
tape recorded record.  

2) If the Applicant has not filed a claim for refund of taxes as part of the assessment 
appeal, the Applicant is required to file a claim for property tax refund with the BOE of 
Supervisors of the County of Inyo under the provisions of Revenue and Taxation Code 
section 5097. This section requires that a person seeking a tax refund submit a claim, 
verified under oath, the facts of the dispute with the County and the amount of taxes 
sought to be refunded.  

3) Upon rejection of the claim by action of the Board of Supervisors or upon denial of the 
assessment appeal (if the refund claim is filed as part of the assessment appeal), the 
Applicant has a period of six (6) months to file a suit for refund of taxes in the Inyo 
County Superior Court.  

4) Because of the legal requirements that must be satisfied in order to successfully pursue 
a property tax refund suit, Applicants contemplating suit should promptly seek 
competent professional legal advice. 

D. Retention of Records     Assessment appeals records, including applications and related 
documents, will be retained for no less than five years after final decision by the BOE.  



30 
 

APPENDIX A 

See Clerk for Samples of Moving Papers 
 

 

 



County of Inyo

Board of Supervisors
 

TIMED ITEMS - NO ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  June 28, 2022
 
FROM:  Supervisor Jeff Griffiths
 
SUBJECT:  Update on Frontier Fiber Optic Project
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Supervisor Griffiths - Request Board receive a presentation from Doug McAllister, Vice President of External 
Affairs for Frontier Communications, on the company's infrastructure upgrade project in the Bishop area.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
Frontier Communications, one of two Internet providers in Inyo County, will be embarking on a project to upgrade 
its infrastructure in the City of Bishop from copper to fiber optic cable. The goal of the project, which will also 
cover unincorporated areas surrounding the City of Bishop, is to provide faster, more reliable Internet service.

The local project is part of a larger, multi-state fiber build and expansion of Frontier's fiber customer base in order 
to deliver fiber to 10 million locations by 2025.

Although Frontier's services are currently only available in the Bishop and Big Pine areas, the project has 
potential implications for the entire county.

Doug McAllister, Vice President of External Affairs for Frontier Communications, has requested the opportunity to 
present more information about the project to our Board.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
N/A
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
Our Board may choose not to hear the presentation, which is not recommended.
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
N/A
 
FINANCING:
There are no fiscal impacts associated with this agenda item.
 



Agenda Request 
Page 2

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Inyo County Presentation
 
APPROVALS:
Darcy Ellis Created/Initiated - 6/20/2022
John Vallejo Approved - 6/21/2022
Leslie Chapman Final Approval - 6/22/2022



?



…

…



*A Fiber Broadband Association study shows 
home values increase with access to fiber. 



•

•



•

•



•









…



…
…



…




	 Call to Order
	1. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	2. PUBLIC COMMENT (Comments may be time-limited)
	3. COUNTY DEPARTMENT REPORTS

	 Consent Agenda
	4. Request Board authorize payment of Inyo County Fre
	Agenda Request Form
	San Bernardino County Employees' Retirement Association letter
	Inyo Board of Supervisors Resolution No. 1977-63 
	Inland Library System Joint Powers Agreement - 1977
	Inland Library System Retirement Resolution - 1978
	San Bernardino County Employees' Retirement Association Resolution No. 2021-3

	5. Request Board ratify and approve Amended Grant Agr
	Agenda Request Form
	Amended Local Assistance Grant
	Local Assistance Grant
	Scope of Work

	6. Request Board approve the contract between the Cou
	Agenda Request Form
	Anne Sippi Clinic Contract 
	HIPAA Business Associate Agreement 

	7. Request Board approve the agreement between the Co
	Agenda Request Form
	Bakersfield Behavioral Healthcare Hospital Contract
	HIPAA Business Associate Agreement 

	8. Request Board: A) declare The SmithWaters Group of
	Agenda Request Form
	SmithWaters Group Contract
	HIPAA Business Associate Agreement

	9. Request Board: A) declare I.D.E.A. Consulting of D
	Agenda Request Form
	IDEA Consulting Contract 
	HIPAA Business Associate Agreement

	10. Request Board approve Amendment No. 4 to the Agree
	Agenda Request Form
	Tuolumne County Agreement Amendment No. 4 
	Tuolumne County Memorandum of Understanding
	Tuolumne County Agreement Amendment No. 1
	Tuolumne County Agreement  Amendment No. 2
	Tuolumne County Agreement Amendment No. 3

	11. Request Board:A)    Declare Flight Tech, Inc. of E
	Agenda Request Form
	Master Service Agreement Scope of Work
	MLT-Inyo MOU for FT approach procedure

	12. Request Board authorize the Chairperson to sign th
	Agenda Request Form
	Inyo Medi-Cal Certificate of Compliance
	Inyo Subvention Certificate of Compliance


	 Departmental
	13. Request Board receive Inyo County Film Commissione
	Agenda Request Form
	Film Commissioner Annual Written Report

	14. Request Board approve and authorize the Chairperso
	Agenda Request Form
	Inyo County ESSRP Application Support 

	15. Request Board adopt the 2022-2023 Fiscal Year Lowe
	Agenda Request Form
	2022-2023 LORP Work Plan and Budget 
	LORP Work Plan Table 1

	16. Request Board approve the minutes of the regular B
	Agenda Request Form


	 Timed Items
	17. Request Board: A) hold public hearing regarding pr
	Agenda Request Form
	Resolution Adopting BOE Rules
	Exhibit 1 - Proposed Rules 6.22.22

	18. Supervisor Griffiths - Request Board receive a pre
	Agenda Request Form
	Inyo County Presentation


	 Comment
	19. PUBLIC COMMENT (Comments may be time-limited)

	 Board Members and Staff Reports

		2022-06-13T15:06:43-0600
	Richard T. Scott


		2022-06-13T15:07:20-0600
	Richard T. Scott


	untitled1:           Inyo
	untitled2:  06/28/2022
	untitled11:             Inyo
	untitled21:  06/28/2022


